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NDS end-to-end expertise, simplifying
and delivering convergence.

NDS successfully delivers the security, enabling, and interactive products and solutions for lead-
ing platform operators.

Our expertise lies in the integration of complex multi-platferm, multi-network systems enabling
operators and Telcos to securely deliver content anytime, anywhere, on any device.

NDS brings together the right combination of our own open technologies with third party prod-
ucts in order to create the right solution for every customer.

Understanding the security and delivery needs of multiple networks, integrating new devices, as
well as enabting content to generate new revenues is no simple task. It requires experience,
resources, and a significant investment in R&D.

Wwith more than 75% of our team dedicated to ongoing R&D, NDS continues to create the next
generation solutions that keep our customers market leaders.
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Dear Shareholders Waohungten, BC

FY 2008, which ended on June 30th, was another successful year for NDS,
Revenues and profits continued to grow. We added new customers and our
existing customers continued to expand their operations and extend their
relationship with NDS-implementing NDS VideoGuard® Conditional Access
(CA) and Digitat Rights Management (DRM), NDS Unified Headend™,
MediaHighway® middleware, XTV™ DVR technology, NDS Electronic
Program Guides (EPGs), technology for hybrid broadcast/IP (satellite/cable
and broadband IP) set-top boxes, as well as interactive applications.

We've signed long-term multi-year contracts with some of our
fargest customers, including DIRECTV, DIRECTV Latin America,
BSkyB and SKY ltalia.

Major wins this year included Premiere, Kabel Baden-
Wirttemberg (KBW) and Tele Columbus in Germany; Bharti
Airtel and BEN in India; BSI, CJ HelloVision and TBroad in
Korea; and Astro in Malaysia.

Important developments

In August 2008, we announced that we had signed an imple-
mentation agreement with News Corporation and two newly
incorporated companies formed by funds advised by Permira
Advisers LLP (the Permira Newcos) which would result in NDS
becoming a privately-owned company, with the Permira
Newcos and News Corporation owning approximately 51% and
49% of NDS, respectively. If the transaction is consummated,
all of cur outstanding Series A Ordinary Shares {including
ADSs traded on NASDAQ) will be cancelled for cash consider-
ation of $63 per share.

The transaction's consummation is subject to a number of
conditions, including approval by holders of our Series A
Ordinary Shares, approval by the High Court of Justice of
England and Wales, receipt of certain requlatory approvals,
receipt of funding, consummation by February 25, 2009 or a
later date approved by the parties and the court and certain
other customary closing conditions. :

You will be receiving materials separately regarding this trans-
action for your consideration.

%O

Changing markets

There are 1.75 billion TV households worldwide, but fewer than
250 million have digital TV and only 31 million householids in the
world have DVRs, offering the potential for worldwide growth.
NDS is focusing its efforts in three markets:

(i) Current and new customers in developed broadcasting
markets where new technologies are a key driver to
success,

(ii) New customers in emerging markets where low-cost
solutions and attractive functionality are the keys to
rapid penetration;

(iii) New convergence markets made possible by the ubiquity
of broadband which enables the delivery of content to
hybrid broadcast/IP set-top boxes as well as PCs,
Portable Media Players (PMPs) and other mobile devices.

The market landscape is changing and NDS continues to develop
tailor made solutions for the largest platform operators, such
as Premiere, Astro and KBW. We are also designing simpler,
pre-integrated NDS solutions, such as VideoGuard® Express™
or Cable Express™, to meet the price challenges posed by new
or smaller operators in emerging markets

Focus on convergence

What is convergence? Content anytime, anywhere, on any
device, Today's viewers want to watch content from broadcast
TV, Video On Demand (VOD) or Internet video at home or on
the go using TVs, PCs, PMPs and other mobile devices.
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There are 1.75 billion TV households worldwide. Fewer thani
250 million have digital TV and only 31 million have DVRs.
There is significant potential for worldwide growth.
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As the market searches for real convergence solutions,
many service providers are turning to NDS. Convergence is
very complex and operators want a technology partner who
understands their business needs and can simplify the process.

NDS is already delivering proven solutions for convergence. We
enable content protection for an ever-expanding range of
devices; deliver technology that leverages the capabilities of
hybrid broadcast/IP set-top boxes; offer advanced middleware
and solutions like the NDS Unified Headend™, multi-room DVR
functionality and multi-device EPGs.

NDS technologies—Changing the way people are
entertained and informed

NDS products and solutions can be grouped into three main
cateqgories; Secure, Enable and Interact. We create end-to-end
solutions using products from each of these areas.

NDS VideoGuard® CA and DRM continues to set the standard
for content protection. It can be found in more than 90 million
active devices worldwide, VideoGuard® safeguards an operator's
service, its branded look and feel and the actual valuable
digital content.

New versions of VideoGuard® for PCs, PMPs, removable storage,
home networks, mobile phones and other devices help operators
securely deliver content anytime, anywhere, an any device.

NDS middieware has been deployed in more than 92.5 million
devices. MediaHighway® middleware allows operators to save
money. How? By lowering the cost of set-top boxes, providing a
standard interface to manufacturers and creating competition.
It also prolongs the life of set-top boxes, presenting a consistent
branded service as well as a standardized look and feel on
all devices, driving interactive applications and EPGs, and
simplifying secure content transfer between devices.

Revenue Operating Income Subscriber Growth Middleware DVRs
in millions in millions active conditional access cumulative deployments cumulative deployments
devices in millians in milfions in millions
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Jungo OpenRG™ middleware offers many similar features for
residential gateways.

New middleware applications wilt enable the largest high defini-
tion (HD) files to be downicaded over even the slowest Internet
tines without interruption or dropouts. Sideloading will allow
users to download content from DVRs to portabte devices, like
mobile handsets, PMPs and music players.

NDS development teams in France, Israel, the UK and India are
now focusing on c¢reating standardized middleware versions
that can be delivered more quickly and cost-effectively with
regular upgrades.

PC solutions—Consumers want to take advantage of their PCs
as additional entertainment and media centers. This will enahle
subscribers to enjoy standard definition (SD) and HD TV channels
and YOD content on their PCs as well as sharing centent with
devices that already exist in their homes. NDS PC solutions
allow broadcasters to deliver their content over any network:
PC Show™ lets subscribers open a branded PC hrowser and
watch VOD material while PC Plex™ allows them to enjoy a full
TV/DVR experience on their PC.

XTV™=Changing the way people watch TV. NDS XTV™ DVR
technology, known as Sky+, DIRECTV+ and a dozen other
names, lets viewers create their own channels, watch what
they want, when they want, without being tied to schedules.
XTV™ also drives new advertising and "push YOD" opportunities
which use the DVR's hard drive to deliver pre-downloaded or
targeted content.

With more than 13.1 million devices already delivered, XTV™ is
the world's leading DVR technology. In August 2008, NDS
published the results of its own consumer survey examining
attitudes to DVRs. Of the 1,000 DVR owners surveyed in the UK,
the US, Australia and italy, more than 70% said their DVR was
the third most important consumer appliance they own.

HD DVRs are being introduced on many platforms, including
BSkyB, SKY ltalia and DIRECTV, Multi-room DVRs, ancther new

feature, will allow subscribers to begin watching a program in
one room and continue in another, without needing an extra
DVR box.

The NDS Unified Headend™ allows operators to manage
muitiple content platforms, centralize customer operations
and reduce operational costs. It won the "2008 Best Content
Protection Technology Product of the Year Award"” from Cable
& Satellite International magazine and shows the power and
potential of convergence.

NDS Dynamic™-Advanced advertising information and
solutions. These new ad measurement, personalization and ad
replacement tools will help operators better understand who
is watching what, on which channels—whether it's from a live
broadcast, recorded on a DVR or on other devices. It permits
operators to make better programming and advertising rate
card decisions while driving ad replacement with targeted ads
stored on the subscriber's DVR or PC disk.

Hybrid broadcast/IP technology—Subscribers can now
watch broadcast TV, VOD and Internet video using a single
hybrid set-top box equipped with satellite or cable receivers and
IP connections, as well as NDS hybrid technology. As the number
of IPTV subscribers using NDS technology exceeds cne million,
we continue to develop new types of security, middleware
components and interactive solutions for this market.

ITV 2.0-Next generation interactive TV (iTV). NDS is the
leading supplier of iTV applications like games and quizzes, as
well as UI/EPG, information mosaics, customer information
services and T-commerce. But the future of iTV is changing
and NDS is now developing iTV 2.0-the next generation of
applications that are more powerful, compelling and fun.

LocateTV™-Locate TV™ is a web-based search engine that
helps subscribers find their faveorite TV shows, movies and
actors on local broadcast TV, online or on DVDs. It is currently
available with listings in the US and the UK..
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NDS MediaHighway® middleware simplifies ithe secure
transfer of content from DVRs to a variety of devices,
fulfitling the promise of convergence.’




secure export orders in excess of $2 billion. Our existing and
new Korean customers, including SkyLife, CJ HelloVision,
TBroad, Mega TV and BSI, continue to grow, while the
solutions we develop for this market are being used in other
markets worldwide.

China

This year, China was the scene of impressive growth. Qur existing
customers expanded their operations from about 3 million to
5.4 million subscribers with operators in Chongging, Shanghai,
Shenzhen and Guangzhou surpassing a million subscribers each.
CCTV continues to expand its activities, reaching more operators
than ever with a digital service using NDS technology. China
AGWL and Tianjing Cable Network are new NDS customers
that selected VideoGuard® for their content protection.

Chinese operators are currently using set-top boxes with very
basic software but once they begin to offer advanced services,
including interactive and DVRs, they will need to invest in maore
sophisticated middleware and smart cards for these legacy
boxes. To address this need, NDS is developing cost-effective
solutions for this market, while encouraging local Chinese
developers to create new applications to run on open ND$S
middleware in their native language.

India

NDS has made great progress in India, winning four major
customers in this significant market with almost 80 million
middle-class homes.

TataSky, which uses a full range of NDS solutions, reached
more than 2 million Indian subscribers while Hathway, DEN
{Digital Entertainment Network) and Bharti Airtel, all chose
NDS technologies to support their platforms.

NDS currently employs more than 1,000 people at our R&D
center in Bangalore and our sales offices in Mumbai and Delhi.
We are proudly exporting Indian-developed technology to
major operators worldwide. Qur Bangalore R&D center also
hosts one of our primary global customer support centers.
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It is estimated that there are several hundred medium-sized
Indian analog cable TV operators who want to go digital and
can benefit from NDS solutions. To meet this need, NDS has
created an all-in-one cable solution using simple set-top boxes
or DVR capability at a cost that meets market requirements.

Russia and Eastern Europe

Russia and Eastern Europe continue to be markets of focus for
NDS. We have increased our footprint in the region with new
customer wins during the year, while established customers
like Sistema Mass Media and Akado Stolitza have requested
expanded services.

Orbis

It has been a year of growth for Orbis, our wholly-owned online
gaming software subsidiary. Orbis supplies its OpenBet™ solution
to qualified customers by observing the strict laws concerning
online gaming in diverse territories worldwide. OpenBet™ has
maodules for sportsbook, casino, retail, fixed odds and poker,
and it gives operators greater control as all transactions, on
all games, go through a single customer account.

Witliam Hill, one of the world’'s most successful bookmakers,
as well as Zed Bet, Balkan Bet (sportsbook and casino)} and
R69 (casino) signed contracts to use OpenBet™ while new
retail solutions were rolled out in Spain and Haly.

The Orbis OpenBet™ Casino has been enhanced-resulting in
contract wins with Betfair and BSkyB. Fixed Odds Game con-
tent and OpenBet™ Poker continue to generate regular reve-
nue streams.

Jungo

Jungo develops and supplies Open RG™ and OpenSMB™ mid-
dleware for residential gateways, as well as USB solutions. In
2008, Jungo won several new contracts including: Adept
Telecom, Japan’s Alexon and ltaly's Pirelli Broadband while
Siemens Home and Office Communication and Jungo
announced a joint venture. Jungo's OpenRG™ will power the
Siemens advanced Gigaset Gateways. Jungo also announced




a new patent-pending software solution to enable fast channel
changing in IPTV networks which will eliminate a common
problem for IPTV operators.

CastUp

Acquired in August 2007, CastUp brings important video over
IP expertise and technology to NDS and is the largest israeli
company delivering streaming video to PCs around the world.

Enhancing Operations, R&D and Delivery

NDS continues its commitment to ongoing research and
development, dedicating significant resources to creating next
generation products to help our customers remain market
leaders. Our R&D groups are looking at ways to expand secure
storage capacity through the use of existing hardware. They
are also examining the emerging world of electronic books
and newspapers, exploring new ad technologies and designing
new ways to store and enhance digital content. NDS teams
are examining how interactive advertising can be used better
to reach smaller, more granular groups of consumers and how
it can increase the value of programming and the power of
recommendation through advanced guides and advertising
substitution at the DVR level.

This year, NDS smart card production centers in the US and UK
shipped 37.3 million new cards, surpassing the previous annual
record of 30.8 million by 24%. Many NDS customers enjoyed
more reliable software performance, leading to fewer service
calls and enhanced subscriber satisfaction.

Improved purchasing and manufacturing facilities helped
control the costs of smart cards, enabling us to maintain target
revenue levels despite the demands resulting from new
contracts.

Focus on the environment

NDS is dedicated to environmental responsibility by pledging to
reduce carbon emissions by 10% by the year 2012, In addition to

creating ways to reduce the power consumption of set-top boxes,
we are introducing energy-saving devices in all of our offices and
significantly reducing emissions wherever possible, such as using
recycled paper from fully sustainable sources, purchasing
hybrid corporate vehicles, educating employees and working
with customers and suppliers to implement environmentally-
friendly innovations.

Maintaining our strategy

As we move ahead, we continue to focus on our three primary
markets: established customers, opportunities in developing
markets, and convergence customers. We also continue to
concentrate on our five strategic goals, which have helped NDS
create sustained growth and achieve the leadership position
we occupy today:

1. Support current customers to increase subscribers.
2. Sell new applications and services to current customers,
3. Win new pay-TV customers.

4. Capitalize on convergence of digital broadcasting and the
Internet,

5. Execute strategic alliances and acquisitions to gain market
share and expand reach.

Once again, this year, | have had the opportunity to visit all of our
offices around the world, and have been honored to meet
many of the men and women who continue to make NDS
successful. As always, | am impressed with their dedication,
enthusiasm and talent. As we move forward into a new era,
we will face many challenges. But the best solutions to these
challenges will come from NDS people around the globe. On
behalf of the Board and management, | thank them all.

Dr. Abe Peled .
Chairman and CEQ
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PART1

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Background

NDS Group plc is domiciled in the United Kingdom, incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and Wales. As
used in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, references to “NDS”, the “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our” are to NDS Group plc
and its subsidiaries. We are engaged in the business of supplying open end-to-end digital technclogy and services to digital
pay-television platform operators and content providers. We have customers throughout the world and we have research and
development facilities, customer support operations and administrative offices in the United Kingdom, Israel, France,
Denmark, Germany, India, China, Hong Kong, South Korea, Australia and the United States. As of June 30, 2008, we had

© 3,961 employees. There is a common management structure across the Company, which ensures that our various subsidiary
entities operate in a coordinated and complementary manner, We manage our business as a single segment.

We are a majority owned subsidiary of News Corporation, a Delaware corporation (“News Corporation™), which is a
diversified entertainment company, and we conduct business transactions with a number of affiliates and subsidiaries of
News Corporation.

On June 27, 2008, our Board of Directors (the “Board™) announced the receipt of a proposal from News Corporation and
two subsidiaries (the “Permira Newcos™) of funds advised by Permira Advisers LLP (“Permira”) for a transaction that, if
consummated, would result in NDS ceasing to be a public company and the Permira Newcos and News Corporation owning
approximately 51% and 49% of NDS8’s outstanding equity, respectively. The Board appointed a committee of independent
directors (the “Independent Commiltee™) to review the proposed transaction and the Independent Committee appointed its
own legal and financial advisers.

On August 5, 2008, we announced that the Independent Committee reached an agreement in principle with News
Corporation and the Permira Newcos on a price at which they would acquire all of our issued and outstanding Series A
ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share (“Series A Ordinary Shares™}, including those represented by American
Depositary Shares (“ADSs™) traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ"). The price announced was $63 per
share in cash. The transaction is subject to negotiation and execution of final legal documentation. The consummation of
the transaction is also conditioned upon the approval of the transaction by holders of our Series A Ordinary Shares, the’
approval of the High Court of Justice of England and Wales, the receipt of certain regulatory approvals and certain other
customary closing conditions. There can be no assurance that the parties will enter into final legal documentation or that
any transaction will be consurnmated.

Our principal executive offices are located at One Heathrow Boulevard, 286 Bath Road, West Drayton, Middlesex,

UB7 0DQ, England and our telephone number is +44 20 8476 8000. Our website is www.nds.com. We make available, free
of charge through our website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on
Form 8-K and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act™), as soon as reasonably practicable after such material is electronically filed
with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC"™). Such documents may also be read by the public at
the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549. The public may obtain information on
the operation of the Public Reference Room by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC also maintains a website
(http://www.sec.gov) that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers,
including the Company, that file electronically with the SEC.

The Company maintains a 52-53 week fiscal year, ending on the Sunday nearest to June 30 of each year. In this Annual
Report on Form 10-K, financial and statistical information is, unless otherwise indicated, stated on the basis of such fiscal
year.

NDS, VideoGuard, VideoGuard Mobile, Value@TV, MediaHighway, MediaHighway Core, MediaHighway Advanced,
XTV, Synamedia, NDS Metro, OpenBet, OpenRG, Visionik Games, Orbis and Secure Video Processor (SVP) are either
trademarks or registered trademarks of NDS in one or more countries worldwide. This Annual Report on Form 10-K also
includes trade names and trademarks of companies other than NDS. For the convenience of the reader, our customers
sometimes are referred to by their common trading names and not the names of the specific legal entities with which we
contract or the legal name of the parent entity of such party.

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

This document and the documents incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including “Item 7:
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,” contain statements that
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constitute “forward-looking statements™ within the meaning of Section 21E of the Exchange Act and Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The words “expect,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “predict,” “believe” and similar
expressions and variations thereof are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These statements appear in a number
of places in this document and include statements regarding the intent, belief or current expectations of the Company, our
directors or executive officers with respect to, among other things, trends affecting our financial condition or results of
operations. The readers of this document are cautioned that any such forward-looking statements are not guarantees of
future performance and involve risks and uncertainties. More information regarding these risks, uncertainties and other
factors is set forth below in Item LA; “Risk Factors,” We do not ordinarily make projections of our future operating results
and undertake no obligation (and expressly disclaim any obligation) to publicly update or revise any forward-looking
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by law. Readers should
carefully review this document and the other documents filed by us with the SEC. This section should be read in
conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and related notes set forth elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form
10-K.

LI

Business Overview

We supply open end-to-end digital technology and services to digital pay-television platform operators, and content
providers. Our technologies include conditional access and microprocessor security, broadcast and broadband stream
management, set-top box and residential gateway middleware, electronic program guides (“EPGs"), digital video recording
(“DVR") technologies and interactive infrastructure and applications. Middleware and DVR technologies are deployed on
third-party hardware devices, such as set-top boxes, residential gateway devices and PCs; we refer to these deployments as
middleware clients and DVR clients, respectively. We provide technologies and services supporting standard definition and
high definition television and a variety of industry, Internet and Internet protocol (“IP”) standards, as well as technology for
mobile devices. Qur software systems, consultancy and systems integration services are focused on providing platform
operators and content providers with technology to help them profit from the secure distribution of digital information and
entertainment to consumer devices that incorporate various technologies supplied by us.

We consider that we operate as a single segment and our business is managed as such. We have no separate divisions or
profit centers. We assess the financial performance of our business by reviewing specific revenue streams in the aggregate
and by customer. We assess our costs by considering individual cost centers and their aggregation into general cost
categories. An analysis and discussion of our various revenue streams and cost categories is provided in Item 7:
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” An analysis and discussion of
our profits and losses and our total assets is provided in Item 8: “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.” A
geographic analysis of the sources of our revenues for each of the last three fiscal years is given in Note 16 to our
consolidated financial statements, as is information about the location of our long-lived assets.

Our business has grown by a combination of new customer contracts and, to a lesser extent, by acquisitions. Our customer
contracts typically have terms of several years and are frequently structured such that our revenues are related to the success
of our customers in attracting and retaining subscribers and the use made of our software and services by our customers and
their subscribers.

Customers

Our main customers are the digital pay-television platform operators that utilize a broadcast and/or broadband distribution
infrastructure to deliver video and data to multiple subscribers. A broadcast distribution infrastructure consists of three main
elements:

1) abroadcast head-end, which includes technologies that encrypt and package the video and other data into a broadcast
stream,

2) adistribution system, which transmits the broadcast stream (e.g., via satellite, broadband, cable or terrestrial) to an end
user. The distribution infrastructure may contain a “return path,” which is a means for communications to be sent from
the subscriber back to the broadcaster; and

3) aset-top box, which converts the broadcast signal into television video. Conditional access technologies (which may
include a smart card inserted into the set-top box) ensure that subscribers can only decrypt content that they have been
authorized by the platform operator to receive. The set-top bex also contains the technologies, including middleware,
that enable the consumer to use features such as EPGs, DVRs and interactive applications.

Viewers of a digital pay-television service, who are subscribers of the platform operator or the content provider, are users of
our technology but are not our customers because we have no direct commercial relationship with them.
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We supply technologies that are components within either the broadcast head-end or in the set-top box. We supply smart
cards and chip security technologies for set-top boxes and provide security services to help monitor and maintain the
security of the broadcast platform. Our technologies have been implemented for use on a variety of distribution systems.

A platform operator can broadcast to an increasing number of subscribers by adding additional set-top boxes and the
associated smart cards, without the need to add additional components to the head-end until operating limits are reached and
head-end upgrades required. Therefore, a broadcast platform is scalable subject to its operating limits, The fees we charge
relate primarily to the number of subscribers and/or smart cards related to that platform operator. A part of our revenue
growth is derived from platform operators’ subscribers increasing the number of set-top boxes in their homes and upgrading
their sel-top boxes to newer models that contain additional functionality.

Recently, certain of our customers have begun recycling set-top boxes and smart cards when a subscriber terminates its
subscription by re-issuing the set-top box and smart card to a new subscriber. Such activity by our customers reduces
demand for new smart cards and also reduces our incremental set-top box royalties. Should this activity become more
widespread, it could materially adversely affect our revenues.

We have also created solutions to enable platform operators to securely deliver content to other platforms and devices,
including personal computers, mobile telephones, portable media players and external storage devices. These solutions often
include a security element, as well as middleware, EPGs and interactivity.

In addition to selling to platform operators, we may sell interactive applications to content providers. Such customers
usually do not operate a broadcast platform, but provide content for transmission over a platform operator’s network. The
applications we sell to content providers make use of the functions and capabilities of the broadcast infrastructure.

We work with suppliers of other components of a broadcast and broadband platform, such as broadcast equipment, network
equipment, set-top box, and residential gateway device manufacturers. We integrate our technologies with the products
manufactured by these suppliers to provide a platform operator with the required functionality. A particular platform
operator may purchase some components from our competitors.

We are committed to developing industry co-operation by actively participating in many key standards organizations. We
use these forums proactively to promote standards that maximize interoperability and enable broadcasters and platform
operators to meet the challenge of integrating broadcast, information and telecommunications technologies. -

Qur technology is integrated into set-top boxes manufactured by most of the major consumer electronics manufacturers. In
order to provide platform operators and subscribers with greater choice and security of supply, it is important that our
technologies be integrated into as many different types of set-top boxes, computer chips (which are incorporated into the
set-top boxes) and other broadcast equipment as possible. This also aids price competition to the benefit of our customers.

Our sales teams operate in the United Kingdom, Europe and the Middle East, the United States, Latin America and the
Asia-Pacific region. They are supported by regional marketing activity designed to promote awareness of our company and
our technologies and services in each region. We may bid jointly with broadcast equipment manufacturers, system
integrators and consumer electronics manufacturers for projects to implement a new platform.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, three customers each accounted directly and indirectly for more than 10% of
our revenues. These customers and the percentage of our fiscal 2008 revenues that they contributed were: The DIRECTV
Group, Inc. (“DIRECTV") in the United States (26.5%); British Sky Broadcasting Group plc (“BSkyB™) in the United
Kingdom and Ireland (20.9%); and Sky Italia S.r.l. (“SKY Italia”) in Italy (10.8%). BSkyB and SKY ltalia, as well as some
other customers of ours, are businesses in which News Corporation has an interest. Information about our business
transactions with related parties is provided in Note 11 to our consolidated financial statements.

Competition

We compete primarily with technologies such as NagraVision (developed by Kudelski SA), DigiCipher (developed by
Motorola, Inc.), Power Key (developed by Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.), OpenTV (developed by OpenTV Corp.) and Microsoft
Mediarcom (developed by Microsoft Corporation) both to attract new customers and to retain our existing customers. In
addition, some of the companies that currently operate in the set-top box and/or software business, but which have not
historically been active competitors of ours, may, through acquisitions or the development of their own resources, seek to
enter and obtain significant market share in our current or planned business areas.

Competition is intense and, in addition to price and commercial terms, we consider our key differentiators to be:
» the level of security that our technologies offer to a platform operator and our ability to maintain that security;

e the quality and ease of use of our systems;

Page 3



& the availability of our other software elements, such as middleware, interactive software, EPG and DVR, which allow a
platform operator to provide additional services;

¢ the availability of set-top boxes and residential gateway devices offered by manufacturers with whom our technology is
integrated; and

¢ the ability of our conditional access technology to work alongside that of a competitor’s in a process known as
“simulcrypt,” which allows a platform operator to replace one conditional access system with another in a controlled
manner without disabling a legacy population of set-top boxes.

Technologies and Services
We offer technologies and services in the following main areas:

* conditional access systems and services;

¢ middleware;

* DVR technologies;

¢ broadband and IPTV,;

* interactive television infrastructure and applications; and
¢ design, integration and support services.

The technologies deployed at the platform operator’s head-end and in the consumer device are tightly integrated and are an
essential component of a digital pay-television network and the channels and other content carried. Our customers may
purchase technologies and services from us in one or more of these main areas. The technologies and services we provide
comprise a single business segment from which we derive a number of different revenue streams. A discussion of these
revenue streams and a quantitative commentary on our business is given under Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.” Qur main technology solutions and services are discussed in
more detail below.

Conditional Access Systems and Services

Conditional access systems are an essential component of a pay-television platform. Conditional access systems enable our
customers to manage and control the secure distribution of entertainment and information, whether distributed by broadcast
or broadband media (including cable, satellite, terrestrial, telephone network, the Internet, etc.). Conditional access systems
provide two primary functions; first, they protect content from unauthorized viewing, redistribution and piracy, and second,
they enable our customers to charge subscribers for a selected content package or event.

Our conditional access systems are marketed under the name “VideoGuard.” Our VideoGuard family of systems is
compatible with all internationally accepted digital television transmission standards. VideoGuard conditional access
systems include:

*  software components that are installed on dedicated server systems at the platform operator’s head-end and which are
responsible for interfacing with the platform operator’s subscriber management system, back-office and billing systems
and play-out and transmission management systems;

* technologies that are integrated in the set-top box and which, if authorized, permit the decryption of content and which
also support various functions essential to the EPG, DVR functionality, return path communication and interactive
applications; and

# aremovable smart card that is inserted into each set-top box and contains an embedded computer chip that, if
authorized, generates code words used by the set-top box to decrypt and display the relevant content. The smart card is
manufactured under strict security conditions by third-party manufacturers, based on proprietary designs provided by
us.

All of our smart cards are tested, programmed and dispatched from one of our two facilities, which are located in the United
Kingdom and in the United States, and together are capable of embedding computer chips in up to 60 million smart cards
per year. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, we distributed 37.3 million smart cards.

We maintain a proactive security policy by use of in-house security designs, careful selection of a variety of chip platforms
for deployment by customers and by implementing, when necessary, electronic over-the-air countermeasures altering
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authorized smart cards in a manner which then renders counterfeit smart cards obsolete. We may also provide our customers
with a new generation of smart cards from time to time, which enable new features and up-to-date technology to be
introduced. Certain of ocur customers may proactively replace all their smart cards with the new generation of smart cards
(“changeover cards™). Our smart cards are customized to meet each of our customers’ requirements. The security of our
smart cards has not been compromised in recent years. Accordingly, certain customers have delayed or restricted plans to
complete card changeovers. This change in approach has been reflected in recently amended contract terms with certain of
our customers and we expect this to result in lower conditional access revenues in future years.

As of June 30, 2008, 90.3 million set-top boxes with VideoGuard conditional access technotogy were in use, an increase of
14.9 million since June 30, 2007. Qur largest conditional access customers and their region of operation include DIRECTV
(United States), BSkyB (United Kingdom), SKY Italia (Italy), DIRECTV PanAmericana (Latin America), Sky Mexico
(Mexico), Sky Brasil (Brazil), FOXTEL (Australia), SkyLife (South Korea), TataSky (India), YES (Israel), HOT (Israel),
Cablevision (U.S.), Shenzhen Media Group (China), Chonging Cable (China), and Viasat (Scandinavia).

Middleware

In distributed computing systems, “middleware” is the software layer that lies between the operating system and the
applications. In the context of digital television set-top boxes, middleware provides a means for a single application to run
on set-top boxes developed by different manufacturers, It therefore provides the pay-television platform operator with the
ability to offer subscribers the same application and user experience irrespective of the mode! of set-top box used by that
subscriber. The combination of our conditional access technologies and set-top box middleware enables applications to be
run on the set-top box in a standard, controlled and secure manner. This allows our customers to enhance their subscribers’
experience by providing a user friendly, always on, fast audio and video environment capable of supplying various
interactive services, such as EPGs, shopping, e-mail, games, banking, advertising and other services.

We provide a full range of middleware solutions, which include:

» MediaHighway Core - an easily upgradeable middleware solution that allows platform operators to deploy a wide
range of services, including EPGs, interactive applications and DVRs, quickly and cost effectively on low cost set-top
boxes;

*  MediaHighway Advanced — a multi-tasking middleware solution that runs on fully featured set-top boxes. The
architecture and features of MediaHighway Advanced support complex systems such as home networking with
broadband access. MediaHighway Advanced complies with the major television and Internet open standards, including
DVB-MHP, HTML 4.0, OCAP and JavaScript; and

Jungo, our wholly owned subsidiary, is an Israeli-based developer and supplier of software for residential gateway devices
under the product name OpenRG. Our ownership of Jungo allows us to provide the underlying software for both the
residential gateway device, as well as the set-top box, and allows us to develop integrated solutions for enhanced IPTV and
broadband services. In addition, we expect that the collaboration between these two devices in the home network will allow
platform operators to introduce new services, such as enabling the set-top box to access music, video and pictures stored on
personal computers in the home network, archiving of digital content stored on a DVR and video conferencing via VoIP.

Approximately 30.7 million middleware clients, which include both MediaHighway middleware solutions and OpenRG
residential gateway devices, were deployed during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, bringing the cumulative total
number of middleware clients deployed as of June 30, 2008 to 92.5 million. Our largest middleware customers and their
regions of operation include: DIRECTV (United States); Canal Satellite (France); Digital Plus (Spain); Canal Digital
(Scandinavia); Sky Mexico (Mexico); Sky Brasil (Brazil); DIRECTV Latin America (Latin America); Premiere (Germany);
Astro/Measat (Malaysia); TataSky (India); and YES (Israel). We are working on projects for deployment of our middleware
and residential gateway devices to other customers in fiscal 2009,

DVR Technologies

We have developed a DVR technology called “XTV" which extends the television viewing experience by integrating mass-
storage devices, such as hard drives, in set-top boxes. The XTV-enabled set-top boxes and head-end systems are tightly
integrated with our conditional access technologies, ensuring that the content in the subscriber’s set-top box is stored in
encrypted form so that viewing, copying or distribution can be controlled by the platform operator or content owner.

XTV uses “meta-data™ (data about data) embedded in the broadcast stream to provide services and functionality that are not
readily available in other products that focus only on managing the hard disk that is integrated in the set-top box or digital
television. We do not manufacture or market the set-top box which forms the basis of the DVR, but we license our
technology to platform operators and consumer electronics manufacturers who supply the markets in which our platform
operator customers operate.
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Our XTV technology is being deployed by the following customers: DIRECTV (United States), BSkyB (United Kingdom),
FOXTEL (Australia), Sky Brasil (Brazil), Sky Mexico (Mexico). SKY Television (New Zealand), SKY Italia (Italy), Viasat
(Scandinavia), DIRECTV Latin America (Latin America), YES (Israel) and HOT (Israel). We are working on projects for
deployment of our XTV technologies to other customers in fiscal 2009.

We also have a DVR technology that is an extension of our MediaHighway middleware but which is sold independently of
our conditional access technologies. This technology is used by Canal Satellite in France and Sogecable in Spain.

As of June 30, 2008, we estimate that a cumulative 13.1 million DVR clients have been deployed, an increase of 5.8 million
since June 30, 2007.

Broadband and IPTV

Our technologies and systems for broadband and IPTV are marketed under the “Synamedia” and “NDS Metro” names,
Synamedia incorporates our technologies for IPTV middleware, user interfaces, personalization, content protection and
rights management. It provides a broadband platform operator with the ability to offer television services, such as video-on-
demand (“VOD”), multi-cast television, video streaming, content guides, interactive applications, secure commerce and
DVR-type functionality.

In conjunction with our broadband and IPTV technologies, our VideoGuard security system protects content at all stages of
delivery, from the broadband access point to the set-top box in the home. Once content is received inside the home,
VideoGuard protects the valuable digital content from piracy, whether it is stored locally or routed through a home network.
VideoGuard uses content encryption and a secure key management system that allows IPTV set-top boxes to be used for
viewing content on a television screen.

Our broadband and IPTV technologies provide content protection for: telecommunications companies wanting to introduce
new video and television services; content providers and broadband broadcasters considering IPTV broadcasting and VOD
services; cable television companies considering phone networks or Fiber To The Home as an alternative to digital cable;
and satellite or terrestrial broadcasters considering VOD over IPTV to complement their traditional broadcast business.

In August 2007, we acquired CastUp, Inc. (“CastUp”), an Israeli provider for the hosting, management and distribution of
video over the Internet, We believe that the acquisition of CastUp will provide us with substantial know-how and
experience in online video delivery and will afford us access to technologies that will help our current pay-TV customers
expand their broadband video distribution services as well as potentially attracting new customers. We believe that
CastUp’s rich media technology will also help us to develop new enhanced services and applications for broadband enabled
set-top boxes.

Among our broadband and IPTV customers are Sebia Broadband (Serbia), CYTA (Cyprus), Sistema (Russia), Viasat
(Scandinavia), RomTelecom (Romania), Korea Telecom (Korea), Telekom Austria (Austria) and SES-Americom (United
States). Some of these systems are being trialed and there is no assurance that they will be widely deployed.

Numerous companies offer competing technologies in the area of broadband and IPTV, including telecommunications
companies and businesses which supply software to the personal computer market.

Interactive Television Infrastructure and Applications

Our “Value@TV?” set of solutions provide a suite of tools supporting the creation, packaging, delivery and management of
interactive content and applications for broadcast content. We also offer a suite of standardized applications that can be
licensed by, or customized for, a particular application. These applications include EPG, games and gaming (which we sell
under the “Visionik Games” and “Orbis” brand names), voting, sports applications, news, commerce, interactive advertising
and other enhanced television applications. Our Value@TV solutions are integrated with our VideoGuard technologies to
enable secure communication from the set-top box to the head-end via the return path where security is essential to the
application, for example where purchase transactions are initiated.

Most of our major broadcast platform operator customers use aspects of our Value@TV solution. We also supply
technology and applications to numerous channel and content providers operating on these platforms.

Our “OpenBet” software is used by licensed bookmakers and gaming organizations as a platform for Internet and television-
based bookmaking and gaming operations. Although such bookmaking and gaming operations are generally prohibited in
the United States, their use is permitted in several other jurisdictions, including the United Kingdom. OpenBet allows a
single operator to create multiple betting sites {(e.g., retail locations, Internet and television) all powered by the same
OpenBet server. It has two main elements: the OpenBet database engine and the OpenBet game framework. The OpenBet
database engine is the core of the system. It contains all the central features required by any gambling site, including
customer accounts, registration and identity validation, electronic payment, event management, liability management and
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monitoring, muiti-currency and multi-lingual functions, regulatory compliance, administration and reports. The OpenBet
game framework allows operators o offer games, which may be developed by us or by third parties. Different types of
games can be offered, such as sports betting, casino games, lottery games and fantasy competitions.

OpenBet is used by many of the major bookmakers in the United Kingdom and some companies in the Asia-Pacific region.
OpenBet is also used by several bookmakers and gaming companies that operate specialist channels or applications on the
BSkyB platform. We do not sell OpenBet to companies that to our knowledge offer bookmaking and gaming operations in
the United States or accept bets from the United States, and only sell OpenBet to companies that operate in tightly regulated
markets. We include in each of our licensing arrangements appropriate measures and undertakings to protect against bets
being accepted from persons in the United States or any other jurisdiction where such activities are or may be prohibited by
law. This policy limits the potential market for OpenBet.

Design, Integration and Support Services

We complement our technologies with a wide range of services, including consulting, broadcast system design and
integration, support and maintenance and, in some cases, on-site operation and management of systems we have supplied to
our customers. Our experience in implementing large and complex systems has enabled us to provide services to assist
companies in planning and designing new platforms. System integration involves both the selection of appropriate vendors
and the integration of various components, including those of third-party manufacturers, into a single operational broadcast
system. In some cases, we may act as prime integrator and subcontract aspects of the work to third parties. In other cases,
we may be a subcontractor to a third-party prime integrator. Once our customers’ systems are operational, we offer them
after-sale services, including ongoing support and maintenance.

Intellectual Property

Our technology and intellectual property are critical to our success. We need to protect our intellectual property rights, both
in our proprietary technology and in technology which is licensed to us. We rely on a combination of patent, copyright and
trademark laws, trade secrets, licenses, confidentiality agreements and contractual provisions to protect our proprietary
rights. We generally enter into confidentiality and non-disclosure agreements with our employees, customers and suppliers.

We have a worldwide non-exclusive license to use certain patents owned by Thomson SA which support cur
MediaHighway middleware technologies. We are also a non-exclusive licensee of intellectual property rights owned by
various third parties. These rights have been acquired by the payment of a fixed sum or ongoing royalty.

We work on the development of high security encryption algorithms. These are mathematical procedures implemented in
hardware or software that are used to accomplish a specific function, such as encrypting or decrypting data, messages or
video signals by means of secret keys and code words. Our security research team has developed a number of proprietary
high-security encryption algorithms used in our conditional access systems.

Our computer chip design team has developed a number of proprietary improvements to the security and functionality of
computer chips that we integrate into our smart cards and which are located in set-top boxes. Such improvements include,
for example, functions that hinder the unauthorized duplication of our smart cards or hinder the use of counterfeit smart
cards in a set-top box.

We have developed a number of techniques that allow us to send specially disguised and encoded messages that disable or
alter the operating characteristics of our smart cards. These technologies allow our customers to disable the smart cards of
delinquent subscribers. In addition, they allow our customers to combat signal theft more effectively by altering the
operating characteristics of all valid smart cards in a way which makes counterfeit smart cards incompatible with the signals
transmitted by our customers. We have developed sophisticated protocols for transmitting authorization, entitlement and
other control messages to smart cards. These protocols allow control messages to be compressed in a way which consumes
only a small fraction of the broadcaster’s bandwidth, allowing the broadcaster to transmit more programs and channels to its
subscribers without having to compromise its ability to control each individual subscriber’s viewing entitlements.

We actively consider how to best protect our technology, which may include patents. We then analyze the particular
technology and consider a number of criteria, including the business case and feasibility, in determining whether to apply

for a patent for the technology. If we deem it appropriate, we proceed with the patent application process. In addition, we
implement policies and procedures to safeguard our intellectual property. We continually review our patent decisions, as
well as our security policies and procedures, in order to ensure that our intellectual property is protected appropriately. As of
June 30, 2008, we had 309 patents issued and 444 patent applications pending throughout the world.
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Research and Development

Our total expenditure on research and development in the three fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006 was
$198.9 million, $174.4 million, and $145.5 million, respectively. This includes the cost of research into new technologies
that may be of future benefit to us and our customers and the cost of developing prototype applications for demonstration to
customers and potential customers,

The largest research and development projects have been on set-top box software, particularly the development of advanced
middleware, EPG and DVR technologies and the adaptation of these technologies for high definition services.

We are also investigating how aspects of our technology may be applied to content protection more generally. Consumers
are increasingly expecting more flexibility as to the place and time they view digital content. A key issue for content owners
and distributors is that onice the digital content is moved to an unprotected environment outside their control, it can be
copied, redistributed and viewed in its original quality, illegally or without the content owners’ ability to generate revenues
from such use.

Our Secure Video Processor (“SVP”) technology addresses this issue by providing a rights management standard scheme
using hardware based security such that content may be transferred to an authorized device which has an SVP chip in it. The
SVP chip is created by incorporating SVP technologies into an existing video processor chip which can then be integrated
into a consumer electronics device, such as a digital television, set-top box, personal video recorder, DVD or MP3 player,
mobile phone and other portable or storage devices. An SVP-enabled chip controls both the content and the license to use
that content.

Our technologies and systems for mobile digital rights” management (“DRM”) solutions are marketed under the
“VideoGuard Mobile” name. VideoGuard Mobile is a head-end to handset secure content selution for mobile phones, aimed
at assisting companies who wish to distribute valuable content to mobile phones in protecting the content revenues from
threats of piracy and providing flexible business models that raise revenues and increase network traffic. Qur solutions are
compliant with the main technology standards and support multiple delivery mechanisms, including downloading,
streaming, unicasting, multicasting, broadcasting, secure billing and payments.

The market for technologies which extend the use of digital content in a secure way beyond broadcast television is in the
early stages of development and we may be unsuccessfil in earning significant revenues from our content protection
technologies.

Regulation

Our technology is used by broadcasters and our customers may therefore be subject to reguiation in the jurisdictions in
which they offer their services. Applicable regulations, which differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and future changes or
additions to such regulations, may affect our ability to sell technologies and services.

In certain jurisdictions, applicable regulations may require cable television operators to accommodate CableCARD
technology. NDS technology supports CableCARD and we have already deployed such solutions in Korea. We do not
believe these regulations will have a material impact on our business.

We do not operate as a bookmaker. However, our OpenBet software is a betting and gaming application supplied to
bookmakers. Our customers are therefore subject to regulation in the jurisdictions in which they offer their services, This
may involve the independent certification of our software. In many jurisdictions, betting and gaming regulations are being
reviewed, specifically to address betting and gaming on the Internet and television. It is possible that our customers will
become subject to new regulations in this area. The current regulations, which differ from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, and
any future changes in such regulations, may affect our ability to sell our technologies and services related to betting and
gaming,. Internet betting and gaming operations are generally prohibited in the United States, and we do not offer our
OpenBet software to customers that to our knowledge offer bookmaking or gaming operations in the United States or accept
bets from the United States.

Raw Materials

We do not manufacture smart cards, but our engineers design the computer chips which are embedded in our smart cards.
We arrange for the computer chips to be manufactured and assembled by third-party suppliers. Smart card costs are
dependent upon the costs of raw materials, including the cost of computer chips, plastic and assembly, and the quantity of
smart cards purchased and processed in any period.
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We purchase the computer chips which are contained within our smart cards from third-party manufacturers. There are very
few companies with the manufacturing skills and capacity to supply our requirements for smart card chips, especially given
the sophistication of our designs. Additionally, we often use a single manufacturer for a particular generation of smart card
for a particular customer. Accordingly, any disruption to supply or lack of availability of manufacturing capacity at our
computer chip suppliers could harm our ability to deliver smart cards to our customers or could negatively affect our
operating margins.

Order Backlog

Our customer contracts are typically long-term arrangements for the supply of smart cards, security and other services,
initial systems, subsequent system enhancements and other aspects of our technologies. Therefore, we do not consider it
material to an understanding of our business to quantify order backlog.

Seasonality

Our business is not seasonal. However, demand for smart cards can be influenced by the consumer marketing activities of
our broadcast platform customers and the timing of delivery of technology enhancements can also be influenced by such
activities.

Working Capital

We hold inventory of smart cards and their components in anticipation of demand from our customers. Because smart cards
supplied to different platform operators are unique or contain unique features, particular types of smart cards held in
inventory may not be useable for any customer other than the one for which they were purchased. The lead times for smart
card procurement are frequently much longer than the period covered by firm order commitments from our customers.
Accordingly, we may have to make inventory purchases in anticipation of customer orders that may never be received and
we may purchase inventory some months in advance of smart cards being supplied to our customers.

N

Certain of our security maintenance contracts include an obligation for us to provide additional smart cards in the future.
Revenue received but deferred in respect of this security maintenance obligation amounted to $135.2 million as of June 30,
2008. We will make inventory purchases in future periods in order to satisfy our smart card supply obligations in respect of
these cards. As of June 30, 2008 we had received other payments in advance of meeting other customer contract obligations
of approximately $72.2 million.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Prospective investors should consider carefully the risk factors set out below before making an investment in our securities.

Qur business will suffer if we do not respond to commercial and technological changes affecting the broadcasting
industry.

Our business and the market in which we operate are characterized by rapid commercial and technological change, evolving
industry standards and frequent product enhancements. Many digital broadcasters are seeking more sophisticated software
that will afford them greater flexibility in delivering content such as news, films and sports. They are also seeking to offer
additional services, such as middleware, EPGs, games, gaming and other interactive applications, DVR functionality, home
networking and other services.

Our continued success will depend, in part, upon our ability to develop and market products and services that respond to
technological changes and evolving industry standards in a timely and cost-effective manner. If the market in which we
operate develops more slowly than we anticipate, or if we should fail to develop and introduce products and services that are
compatible with industry standards, satisfy customer requirements and compete effectively with products and services
offered by our competitors, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.
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Our business may suffer if we and our customers do not respond to commercial and technological changes affecting
the business of delivering information and entertainment, especially the threat of the Internet and broadband and
IPTYV technologies.

Our customers are mainly pay-television platform operators. As technologies develap, other means of delivering
information and entertainment to consumers’ televisions are evolving. In particular, telecommunication companies and
Internet service providers are competing with traditional television companies. Cable television and mobile telephone
companies are now also marketing packages that combine television, telephone and high-speed Internet access to
consumers. As a result, our largest customers are facing increased competition that could affect their ability to attract and
retain subscribers. If we and our customers do not address these commerciat and technological changes, our business,
operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Our operating results and growth could decline if our customers’ subscriber bases do not continue to increase or if
our customers otherwise purchase fewer smart cards or purchase smart cards on less favorable terms to us.

A significant portion of our revenue is derived from the sale of smart cards to our customers and ongoing fees paid by our
customers on a monthty basis based on the number of active subscribers or authorized smart cards. We may also receive
royalties based on each set-top box manufactured or deployed that incorporates our technologies. Therefore, a significant
portion of our revenue is dependent upon our customers’ subscriber numbers, the growth in subscriber and set-top box
numbers, the degree to which set-top boxes are replaced with enhanced models and the number of set-top boxes in each
subscriber’s home. If our customers’ subscriber numbers do not continue to increase, we may be unable to generate
substantial revenue growth or sustain our current revenue levels and, as a consequence, our business, operating results and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

Recently, certain of our customers have begun recycling set-top boxes and smart cards when a subscriber terminates its
subscription by re-issuing the set-top box and smart card to a new subscriber, Such activity by our customers reduces
demand for new smart cards and also reduces our incremental set-top box royalties. Should this activity become more
widespread, it could materially adversely affect our revenues. In addition, the security of our smart cards has not been
compromised in recent years, Accordingly, certain customers have delayed or restricted plans to complete card
changeovers. This change in approach has been reflected in recently amended contract terms with certain of our customers
and we expect this to result in lower conditional access revenues in future years.

Our business could be harmed if the security provided by our conditional access systems and products is
compromised.

We face risks relating to the failure of our conditional access systems to protect platform operators and content providers
from signal theft. An important component of our conditional access systems is the smart cards we provide for the platform
operators’ individual subscribers. Unauthorized viewing and use of content may be accomplished by counterfeiting the
smart card or otherwise thwarting the security features of the conditional access system. Any significant increase in the
incidence of signal theft could require us to replace a population of a platform operator’s smart cards or take other remedial
action. In those cases where we have accepted specific responsibilities for maintaining the security of a platform operator’s
conditional access systemn, significant costs could be imposed on us if a security breach requires us to replace a population
of smart cards or take other action to rectify the problem. To the extent that signal theft may result in the cessation of all, or
some portion of, the per-subscriber fees paid to us by a broadcaster while the security breach is being remedied or, in the
event of termination by the broadcaster of our agreement if the breach is not satisfactorily remedied, the resultant loss of
revenue could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition. A significant
increase in the level of signal theft, whether or not resulting from a failure of our conditional access systems, could also
injure the reputation of our conditional access systems among our customers and potential customers and, as a consequence,
our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

A substantial part of our expected future revenue and income growth is based on our aim to sell advanced
technologies and services to our existing customers and to sell end-to-end systems to new customers.

We expect over the next several years to sell advanced technology solutions for the television market, including DVR
functionality, games, gaming and other interactive applications, home networks services and other services. The market for
advanced television technology solutions is still new and evolving. Historically, we have derived only a relatively small
percentage of our total revenue from these offerings. We cannot be certain that the demand for or the market acceptance of
these technologies will develop as we anticipate, and even if they do, we cannot be certain that we will be able to market
these solutions effectively and successfully respond to changes in consumer preferences. In addition, our ability to market
those solutions will be affected to a large degree by platform operators. If platform operators determine that our solutions do
not meet their business or operational expectations, they may choose not to offer our applications to their customers, To the
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extent that platform operators and content providers fail to renew or enter into new or expanded contracts with us for
provision of advanced technologies, we will be unable to maintain or increase the associated revenue from those offerings.
Moreover, due 1o global economic conditions, platform operators may slow the pace of their deployment of these advanced
services and such action would negatively impact our revenue. Accordingly, our ability to generate substantial revenue from
our advanced technology solutions offerings is uncertain.

Our business could be harmed if a defect in our software or technology interferes with, or causes any failure in, our
customers’ systems.

Our software and technology are integrated into the broadcast infrastructure of our customers. As a result, any defect, error
or performance problem with our software or technology could interfere with a critical component of one or more of our
customers’ systems, or potentially cause a critical component of one or more of our customers’ systems to fail for a period
of time. This could result in claims for substantial damages against us, regardless of whether we are responsible for such
failure. Any claim brought against us could be expensive to defend and require the expenditure of a significant amount of
resources, regardless of whether we prevail. Although we have not experienced any such material interference or failure in
the past, any future problem could cause severe customer service and public relations problems for our customers and as a
consequence, our business, operating results and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

We depend upon key personnel, including our senior executives and technical and engineering staff, to operate our
business effectively, and we may be unable to attract or retain such personnel.

Our future success depends largely upon the continued service of our senior executive officers and other key management
and technical personnel. If certain of our senior executives were to leave the Company, we may be placed at a competitive
disadvantage. In addition, we may also need to increase the number of our technical, consulting and support employees to
support new customers and the expanding needs of our existing customers. We have, in the past, experienced difficulty in
recruiting sufficient numbers of qualified personnel. If we are not successful in these recruiting efforts, our business may be
adversely affected.

Intense competition could reduce our market share and harm our financial performance,

We compete with numerous companies both to attract new customers and to retain our existing customers. Such
competition may cause us to lose market share and may result in reduced profit margins. It may also hinder our ability to
develop our business in areas such as DVRs, middleware, interactive television services and broadband and IPTV. In
addition, some of the companies that currently operate in the software business, but that have not historically been active
competitors of ours may, in the future, through acquisitions or the development of their own resources, seek to enter and
obtain significant market share in our current or planned business areas. Increased competition from existing or new
competitors could result in price reductions, reduced margins or loss of market share, any of which could materially and
adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

We derive a significant portion of our revenues from a limited number of large customers. Our revenues could
decline significantly if any of these customers significantly reduces its purchases of our technology or services or
terminates its relationship with us.

Our growth has depended historically on large digital satellite broadcasters introducing, marketing and promoting products
and services that utilize our technology. We currently derive, and we expect to continue to derive, a significant portion of
our revenue from a limited number of large customers. Our three largest customers are BSkyB, DIRECTV and SKY ltalia.
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, these three customers accounted directly and indirectly for approximately
58.2% of our total revenue. News Corporation, which holds approximately 72% of our total and issued outstanding share
capital, currently owns approximately 39% and 100% of BSkyB and SKY ltalia, respectively. News Corporation previously
owned a 41% interest in DIRECTV, but divested of its entire interest in February 2008. We have a number of contracts with
DIRECTYV, its subsidiaries and affiliates, covering the supply of conditional access, middleware and DVR technologies,
which expire at various dates through 2013 and which contain various terms covering renewal and termination. We expect
to continue to be dependent upon a limited number of customers for a significant portion of our revenue, although the
particular customers may vary from period to period. If a large customer purchases significantly less of our products or
services, defers or cancels orders, or fails to renew or terminates its relationship with us or renews with us on less favorable
terms, our revenue could decline significantly and as a result, our business, operating results and financial condition could
be materially adversely affected.
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The nature of our business is such that our operating results may fluctuate from period to period.

Our operating results have varied in the past from quarter to quarter and from year to year and are likely to vary from period
to period in the future. Historically, our revenue has reflected a small number of relatively large orders for our technology
and services, which generally have long sales and order cycles. Additionally, our accounting policies may require us to
defer revenue until all elements of an arrangement have been delivered to and accepted by our customers. As a result, we
believe that period-to-period comparisons of our operating results may not be a good indication of our future performance.
Our actual results may differ from expectations, which could adversely affect the price of our securities.

Changes to current accounting policies or in how such policies are interpreted or applied to our business could have
a significant effect on our financial resuits.

New accounting pronouncements or a change in how U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP™) are
interpreted or applied to our business could have a significant effect on our financial results. Qur accounting policies that
recently have been or may in the future be affected by changes in the accounting rules include revenue recognition,
accounting for income taxes and accounting for goodwill and other intangible assets.

Our revenue recognition policy, in particular, is a key component of our results of operations and is based on complex rules
that require us to make judgments and estimates. In applying our revenue recognition policy, we must determine what
portions of our revenue are recognized currently and which portions must be deferred. Because different contracts may
require different accounting treatment, it may be difficult for investors to properly assess our financial condition or
operating results unless they carefully review all of our financial information, including our consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

Failure to protect the intellectual property rights upon which we depend could harm our business.

We rely primarily on a combination of patent, trademark and copyright laws, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures and
contractual provisions to protect our intellectual property rights and the obligations we have to third parties from whom we
license intellectual property rights. However, we may not be able to detect unauthorized use of, or take appropriate steps to
enforce, our intellectual property rights and this could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition.

Defending against intellectual property infringement claims could harm our business.

We may be subject to an increased risk of infringement claims as the number of products and competitors grows and the
functionality of products in different industry segments overlaps. It may be alleged that products that we have developed or
technology that we have licensed from third parties infringes the rights of others. Intellectual property claims could be time
consuming to defend, result in costly litigation, divert management’s attention and resources and cause product shipment
delays. Such claims could also require us to seek to enter into royalty or license agreements, redesign our products or
potentially cease using aspects of technology, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results
and financial condition.

We grant certain indemnification rights to our customers when we license our software technologies. We may, therefore,
become subject to third-party infringement claims through those commercial arrangements. In addition, the damages to
which we are subject may be increased by the use of our technologies in our customers’ products.

Many of our agreements with customers contain an indemnification obligation, which could be triggered in the event that a
customer is named in an infringement suit involving their products or involving the customer’s products or services that
incorporate or use our products. If it is determined that our products infringe as alleged in any of the asserted claims in such
a suit, we may be prevented from distributing certain of our products and we may incur significant indemnification
liabilities, which may adversely affect our business, operating results and financial condition.

In addition, while damage claims in respect of an alleged infringement may, in many cases, be based upon a presumed
royalty rate to which the patent holder would have otherwise been entitled, it is possible that our liability may increase as a
result of the incorporation of our technology with our customer’s products. In some cases, potential damages payable by us
could be based on the profits derived by our customers from a product that infringes through the use of our software even
though we receive a relatively moderate economic benefit from the licensing arrangement.

Any significant disruption in our processing of smart cards could adversely affect our business.

We process all of our smart cards at two facilities, one located in the United Kingdom and the other in the United States. A
significant disruption in the processing of smart cards at either facility could result in delays in the delivery of smart cards to
our customers. The sale of smart cards that we have processed is a material portion of our business. Although our smart card
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processing facilities are designed to provide sufficient capacity to meet expected demand if one facility becomes inoperable
for a limited period of time, any significant disruption to our smart card processing facilities could result in the loss of
revenue, customers and future sales.

We may be unable to process sufficient quantities of smart cards because we obtain certain components from, and
depend upon, a limited number of suppliers.

We currently obtain the computer chips used in our smart cards from a limited number of suppliers. In the event of a
disruption of supply, including a shortage of manufacturing capacity, we may be unable to develop an alternative source in a
timely manner or at favorable prices. Such failure could harm our ability to deliver smart cards to our customers or could
negatively affect our operating margins. This could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and
financial condition.

Political, regulatory and economic risks associated with our international customers could harm our business.

Our customers are located throughout the world. Inherent risks of doing business in international markets include changes in
legal and regulatory requirements, export restrictions, exchange controls, tariffs and other trade barriers, longer payment
cycles, political disruption, wars, acts of terrorism and civil unrest. We may incur substantial expense as a result of the
imposition of new restrictions or changes in the existing legal and regulatory environments in the territories where we
conduct our business or due to political and economic instability in these territories.

The telecommunications, media, broadcast, cable television and gaming and gambling industries are subject to extensive
regulation by governmental agencies. These governmental agencies continue to oversee and adopt legislation and regulation
over these industries, particularly in the areas of user privacy, consumer protection, online content distribution and the
characteristics and quality of online products and services, which may affect our business, the development of our products,
the decisions by market participants to adopt our products and services or the acceptance of interactive television by the
marketplace in general. In particular, governmental laws or regulations restricting or burdening the exchange of personally
identifiable information could delay the implementation of interactive services or create liability for us or any other
manufacturer of software that facilitates information exchange. These governmental agencies may also seek to regulate
interactive television directly. Future developments relating to any of these regulatory matters may adversely affect our
business.

A portion of our business involves the licensing of software used to conduct betting and gaming applications. The regulation
of the gambling industry is complex, intensive and constantly changing. The adoption or modification of laws or regulations
relating to Internet gambling in various jurisdictions could adversely affect the manner in which we currently conduct this
portion of our business.

Fluctuations in foreign exchange rates could harm our financial condition.

A risk inherent in our international operations is the exposure to fluctuations in currency exchange rates. In the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2008, approximately 46% of our revenues and approximately 75% of our total expenses were denominated
in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. Additionally, as of June 30, 2008, approximately 38% of our cash balances were
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar. As a result, we are exposed to fluctuations in foreign exchange rates
that may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results and financial condition.

Additionally, although most of our contracts with customers in Latin America, India and the Asija-Pacific region are
denominated in U.S. dollars, those customers are affected by fluctuations in their local currencies and by exchange control
regulations that may restrict their ability to remit payments to us.

We are subject to certain risks relating to our operations in Israel.

We have research and development facilities in Israel and we have customers in Isracl. Therefore, we are directly influenced
by the political, economic and security conditions affecting Israel. Any major hostilities involving Israel, or the interruption
or curtailment of trade or the movement of people within Israel or between Israel and other countries, could significantly
harm our business, operating results and financial condition. Additionally, certain of our employees are currently required to
perform annual reserve duty in the Israeli Defense Force, and are subject to being called for active military duty at any time.
We have, in the past, operated effectively under these requirements. We cannot predict the effect of these obligations on us
in the future.
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We are controlled by, and are dependent upon our relationship with, News Corporation.

We are controlled by News Corporation. As of June 30, 2008, News Corporation beneficially owned approximately 72.1%
of our total issued and outstanding share capital. Because News Corporation beneficially owns 100% of our Series B
ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share (“Series B Ordinary Shares™), which have ten votes per share (as opposed to our
Series A Ordinary Shares, which have one vote per share), it controls approximately 96.3% of our voting power. By reason
of such ownership, unless it is excluded or recuses itself from the vote, News Corporation is able to control the composition
of our entire Board of Directors, to influence our decisions to take or refrain from taking certain actions and to control the
votes on matters submitted to a vote of our shareholders. Four of our seven current Directors have been appointed by News
Corporation, including Dr. Abe Peled, our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, who from time to time advises News
Corporation with respect to various technology matters.

Businesses in which News Corporation has an interest currently account for, and are expected to continue to account for, a
significant portion of our revenue, although the proportion of such revenue has declined following News Corporation’s
divestiture of its interest in DIRECTYV in February 2008. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, approximately 37% of
our total revenues were derived from businesses in which News Corporation has a continuing interest. Those businesses
include two of our three largest customers. Although we believe the terms of our contracts with such related parties are no
less favorable to us than those that we could obtain from unrelated third parties, we cannot assure you that this is the case.

In addition, because a number of major broadcasters around the world are owned or controlled by entities that compete with
News Corporation or entities in which News Corporation has an interest, our ability to attract customers in which News
Corporation does not have an interest may be affected by their perception of our relationship with News Corporation.

Because we are controlled by News Corporation, we are exempt from certain listing requirements of NASDAQ
relating to corporate governance matters.

Over the past several years, the National Association of Securities Dealers has adopted certain listing requirements for
compantes listed on NASDAQ. As a result of News Corporation’s beneficial ownership of our Series B Ordinary Shares,
we are deemed to be a “controlled company” and accordingly are not subject 10 some of these requirements, including the
requirement that a majority of our Board of Directors be “independent” under the guidelines established by the National
Association of Securities Dealers and certain requirements regarding the determination of our Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer’s compensation and our director nominees. While we do not believe that our exemption from those
requirements affects the manner and method by which we manage and operate the Company, investors should be aware that
we are not subject to those provisions and may have no obligation to comply with those requirements in the future unless
our ownesship profile changes,

Since we are a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales, your rights as a shareholder
differ from the rights of shareholders under U.S. law.

NDS Group plc is a public limited company organized under the laws of England and Wales. The rights of holders of our
ordinary shares and, indirectly, many of the rights of holders of our ADSs are governed by English law and by our
Memorandum and Articles of Association. These rights differ from the rights of shareholders in U.S. companies. In
particular, English law significantly limits the circomstances under which shareholders of English companies may bring
derivative actions. Under English law generally, only the Company can be the proper plaintiff in proceedings in respect of
wrongful acts committed against us. In addition, it may be difficult for you to enforce liabilities predicated upon U.S.
securities laws.

Our share price could be affected by our ordinary shares becoring available for sale in the future or by the dilutive
effect of the issue of new shares.

If investors or News Corporation sell substantial amounts of our ADSs or ordinary shares in the public market, the market
price of our ADSs could fall. The negative effect of such sales on the market price of our ADSs could be more pronounced
given the relatively small number of our ordinary shares in ADS form relative to the total number of shares outstanding. In
addition, such sales could create the public perception of difficulties or problems with our technologies and services. These
sales may also make it more difficult for us to sell equity or equity-related securities in the future at a time and price that we
deem appropriate if we require additional financing.

Interests of existing shareholders may also be diluted due to the existence of stock options granted to certain employees and
any equity awards that we may grant to our Directors, executive officers and employees in the future.
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The proposed transaction with News Corporation and Permira may have an adverse impact on, or cause significant
fluctuations in, the market price or liquidity of our ADSs.

On June 27, 2008, our Board announced the receipt of a proposal from News Corporation and the Permira Newcos for a
transaction that, if consummated, would result in NDS ceasing to be a public company and the Permira Newcos and News
Corporation owning approximately 51% and 49% of NDS’s outstanding equity, respectively. The Board appointed the
Independent Committee to review the proposed transaction. On August 5, 2008, we announced that the Independent
Committee reached an agreement in principle with News Corporation and the Permira Newcos on a price at which they
would acquire all of our issued and outstanding Series A Ordinary Shares, including those represented by ADSs traded on
NASDAQ. The price announced was $63 per share in cash. The transaction is subject to negotiation and execution of final
legal documentation and is also conditioned upon the approval by holders of our Series A Ordinary Shares, approval by the
High Court of Justice of England and Wales, the receipt of certain regulatory approvals and certain other customary closing
conditions, There can be no assurance that the parties will enter into final legal documentation or that any transaction will
be consummated. The proposed transaction, or the consummation or abandonment thereof, may have an adverse impact on,
or cause significant fluctuations in, the market price or liquidity of our ADSs.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

We operate from a number of facilities, principally located in the United Kingdom, Israel, France, India and the United
States.

All of our facilities are leased. Qur main facilities are as follows:
¢  Heathrow, England — Executive and administrative offices;
*  Staines, England — Set-top box software development and system integration;
¢ Maidenhead, England — Smart card processing and distribution;
®  Chandlers’ Ford, England — Set-top box software development and system integration;
* Chiswick, England — Development of betting applications;
¢ Jerusalem, Israel — Research and development, conditional access system support;

*  Costa Mesa, California — Principal offices for our U.S. operations, including smart card processing and
distribution;

*  Issy-les-Moulineaux, France — Software development; and
* Bangalore, India — Software development.

In addition, we have leased premises in Hong Kong; Beijing, China; Copenhagen, Denmark; Seoul, South Korea; Netanya,
Israel; Sydney, Australia and Unterfohring, Germany.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Echostar Litigation

On June 6, 2003, Echostar Communications Corporation, Echostar Satellite Corporation, Echostar Technologies
Corporation and Nagrastar L.L.C. (collectively, “Echostar”} filed an action against us in the United States District Court for
the Central District of California. That complaint purported to allege claims for violation of the Digital Millennium
Copyright Act (“DMCA™), the Communications Act of 1934 (“Communications Act”), the Electronic Communications
Privacy Act, the Computer Fraud and Abuse Act, California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL") and the federal Racketeer
Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (“RICO”) statute. The complaint also purported to allege claims for civil conspiracy,
misappropriation of trade secrets and interference with prospective business advantage. The complaint sought injunctive
relief, unspecified compensatory and exemplary damages and restitution. Extensive motion practice ensued regarding this
complaint, regarding subsequent complaints filed by Echostar and regarding counterclaims asserted by us.

The trial of this case began April 9, 2008. Echostar’s claims under the DMCA, the Communications Act, the California
Penal Code, and RICO were tried to the jury, Echostar’s UCL claim was tried to the court and our counterclaim under the
California Uniform Trade Secrets Act was tried to the jury. All other claims were either dismissed by the court or
abandoned by the parties.

On May 15, 2008, the jury returned its verdict. The jury found us not liable on three counts and awarded minimal damages
on the remaining three counts. On those latter three counts, the jury awarded Echostar actual damages of $45.69 or, in the
alternative, statutory damages of $1,000. We believe that these awards relate to a single incident involving a test of a card
during the course of our anti-piracy efforts. The jury found Echostar not liable on our counterclaim.

One claim, Echostar’s UCL claim, has not yet been decided. By law, this claim must be decided by the judge rather than
the jury. Any ruling on that claim must be consistent with the jury’s verdict, however, and the court has not yet provided a
decision on the UCL claim. A hearing on the UCL claim has been set for August 19, 2008.

Echostar has expressed publicly an intention to seek an award of attorneys’ fees and costs. We believe that any such claim
by Echostar would be without merit and intend to vigorously defend against any such claim.

Sogecable Litigation

On July 25, 2003, Sogecable, S.A. and its subsidiary Canalsatellite Digital, S.L.., Spanish satellite broadcasters and
customers of Canal+ Technologies SA (together, “Sogecable™), filed an action against us in the United States District Court
for the Central District of California. Sogecable filed an amended complaint on October 9, 2003, which purported to allege
claims for violation of the DMCA and the RICO statute. The amended complaint also purported to allege claims for
interference with contract and prospective business advantage. The complaint sought injunctive relief, unspecified
compensatory and exemplary damages and restitution. On December 22, 2003, all of the claims were dismissed by the
court. Sogecable filed a second amended complaint. We filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on
March 31, 2004. On August 4, 2004, the court issued an order dismissing the second amended complaint in its entirety.
Sogecable had until October 4, 2004 to file a third amended complaint. On October 1, 2004, Sogecable notified the court
that it would not be filing a third amended complaint, but would appeal the court’s entry of final judgment dismissing the
suit to the United States Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. On December 14, 2006, the appellate court issued a memorandum
decision reversing the district court’s dismissal. On January 26, 2007, we filed our petition for rehearing by an en banc
panel of the United States Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. On February 21, 2007, the petition was denied. On June 11,
2007, we filed a petition for a Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme Court seeking reversal of the Ninth Circuit
Court of Appeals’ decision. On August 27, 2007, we renewed our motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on
grounds not previously decided. On October 1, 2007, the petition for Writ of Certiorari was denied. On January 25, 2008,
the court issued an order granting-in-part and denying-in-part our renewed motion to dismiss Sogecable’s second amended
complaint. The court dismissed Sogecable’s claim for tortuous interference with prospective economic advantage, but
allowed Sogecable to proceed on its RICO and DMCA claims, as well as its claim for tortuous interference with contract.
The court has set February 16, 2010 as the trial date. We believe that Sogecable’s claims are without merit and we will
continue to vigerously defend ourselves in this matter,

Barry Thomas Litigation

On November 28, 2005, Barry W. Thomas filed a complaint alleging infringement of United States Patent No. 4,777,354 by
DIRECTY, Inc., its parent The DIRECTV Group, Inc., and the National Rural Telecommunications Cooperative in the
United States Distinct Court for the Western District of North Carolina, Charlotte Division, captioned Barry W. Thomas v.
DIRECTV, Inc., et al., No. 3:05CV496-K (W.D.N.C.). Although not a party to this case, we have assumed a share in the
cost of DIRECTYV, Inc.’s defense. The asserted patent expired on January 27, 2006.
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On February 24, 2006, Mr. Thomas voluntarily dismissed his complaint against The DIRECTV Group, Inc., but not his
complaint against DIRECTYV, Inc. On February 27, 2006, DIRECTYV, Inc. filed an Answer and Counterclaims where,
among other things, DIRECTV, Inc. denied Mr. Thomas’s allegations of infringement and alleged that the patent is invalid,
unenforceable, and that Mr. Thomas’s cause of action is barred by the equitable doctrine of laches.

DIRECTYV, Inc. filed a motion for summary judgment barring pre-suit damages based on its laches defense on
September 12, 2006. The court granted DIRECTV, Inc.’s motion on December 19, 2006, limiting DIRECTV, Inc.'s
potential liability to the two-month period between the filing of the complaint and the expiration of the patent. The court
held a patent claim construction hearing on November 17, 2006. On February 28, 2008, the Court issued its Order and
Memorandum on Claim Construction, which adopted the constructions proposed by DIRECTYV, Inc. and the other
defendants sued by Mr. Thomas for the claim terms in dispute.

On June 26, 2008, all of the parties to the Barry Thomas Litigation entered into a settlement agreement and mutual release,
pursuant to which Mr, Thomas agreed to a voluntary dismissal of his various complaints, with prejudice. As a result, the
action against DIRECTYV, Inc. was dismissed with prejudice as contemplated in the settlement agreement and mutual
release, without any admission of liability or payment to Mr. Thomas.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SHAREHOLDERS
Not applicable.
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PART I
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS
AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

ADSs, each representing one Series A Ordinary Share are traded on NASDAQ. The ADSs are evidenced by American
Depositary Receipts (“ADRs”) issued by The Bank of New York as depositary, under a Deposit Agreement, dated
November 26, 1999, by and among us, The Bank of New York and the owners and beneficial owners of the ADRs.

The high and low closing prices for our ADSs for each quarterly period within the two most recent fiscal years are as
follows:

High Price per ADS Low Price per ADS
Fiscal year ended June 30, 2008
FALSE QUARLEE .vvvvveereeeeies e remsai i bbb enss s snasssssene $50.00 $41.71
SECONA QUATLET ...vvvveeeerereerreemceecc bbb ea st $62.04 $51.78
Third QUATET. ..o $57.44 $ 44.01
FOUITN QUATTET oottt $59.20 $46.51
Fiscal year ended June 30, 2007
FAISE UATTET «..c.cocvrerereeeeeisnsisinssiesen s snsse s sesnssssis s seaess $48.15 $41.64
SeCONd QUATTET .....crvvreeeeiiie e $49.77 $4233
Third QUAIET........ceeesreeerereercecesiiisbsasaresn e sss s asesecsssisiess $51.29 $ 44.86
FOUTth QUAMET ..c.c.ccereeecec ittt vmsnsss e $53.70 $ 46.95

As of August 6, 2008, there were 25 holders of record of our ADSs.

Dividends

It has been our policy to retain profits for the future development of the business and, accordingly, no dividends have been
paid since our initial public offering in November 1999. Except in extraordinary circumstances, there are no plans to pay
any dividends to shareholders. We intend to keep this policy under review and will consider whether it is appropriate to pay
dividends in the future.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following table shows the number of stock options outstanding as of June 30, 2008, and the weighted-average exercise
price of those stock options granted under our equity schemes:

Number of securities Number of securities

to be issued upon Weighted-average remaining available

exercise of exercise price of for future issuance

outstanding options, outstanding options, under equity

Plan Category warrants and rights warrants and rights compensation plans®

Equity compensation plans approved by

SharehOIdErs ......vevveeeceervisenssesssinnsiinniirnes 2,287,773 $30.72 9,938,484%
Equity compensation plans not approved by

shareholders ........ooeeveeemeciinnnieienins - - -

TOWME..veeceveressnsesnsssn s irssassssssesessssesisissserness 2,287,773 $30.72 9,938,484

' Excludes securities reflected in column titled “Number of securities to be issued upon exercise of outstanding options,
warrants and rights.”

@  Relates to Series A Ordinary Shares available for issuance under the NDS Group plc 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan.
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Purchase of Equity Securities by the Issuer and Affiliated Purchaser

Neither we, nor any purchaser affiliated with us, purchased any of our ADSs during the fourth quarter of the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2008.
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ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

These selected consolidated financial data have been derived from our consolidated financial statements and should be read
in conjunction with Item 7: “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and
Item 8: “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” and the other financial information included elsewhere in this

Annual Report.

Statement of operations data
(in thousands, except per share amounts)

ReVenue ......ccominiimrcce ettt
Cost of goods and services sold.................

Gross Margin.......occevvimeseeecerniiinessme
Operating eXPenses ... o verevarsinsisseisarnens

Operating iRCOME. ....coveieiinisirisisreniiririenseses
Oher iNCOME ..ocooeerisscie s
Other expenses

Income tax EXpense. . ......ccovmsararnninssarennas
Minority interests in subsidiaries, net of

INEL INCOME ...coevveeirieirerererrsrnemeeeeeemssssssssnens

Basic net income per share .........ccccoeviinaeens
Diluted net income per share ..o

Balance sheet data
(in thousands)

Cash, cash equivalents and short-term
INVESLMENTS .oeiveeeiireereeneesiiresreecsrnisanass

Other CUITENt ASSEtS...uureerueeererreenreesrerrasseess

INON-CUITENE ASSELS....ivieeeeirrrrrreeercemerssiirennes

TOAl ASSELS 1evveerernreeiecrerriesieenssesersiesserrrevaas

Current [0ans.....cceeervececreerinrrrne v eecenssais
Other current liabilities ....ccoveeeeiccinveiiiinnen.
Non-current 10ans .........ccccvvrnveeernsssininnena
Other non-current liabilities ......c...vceeeerenen.
Shareholders’ equity .......cccoiiiniininninen.

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity ....

1y

o3y
ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006.

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 @ 2007 ¥ 2006 @ 2005 2004 C4)

$ 850,148 $§ 709,492 $ 600,123 $ 556330 $ 356,663
(318,540) (268,484) (242,622) (218,938) (84,387)
531,608 441,008 357,501 337,392 272,276
(336,224) (280,652) (226,772) (245,201) (223,851)
195,384 160,356 130,729 92,191 48 425
27,103 25,296 15,446 9,160 6,848
(2,498) - — - -
(59,894) (49,925) (45,225) (27,353) (19,061)
- - - - 843

$ 160,095 $ 135727 $ 100,950 73998 $ 37,055
$2.76 $2.37 $ 1.80 $1.35 $0.69
$2.72 $2.33 $1.74 $1.29 $0.67

As of June 30,

2008 ¥ 2007 @ 2006 2005 2004 %

$ 734992 $ 592,750 $ 505,037 339,791 $ 228,620
281,845 252,703 196,198 159,877 164,791
359,312 299,400 195,886 172,230 183,748

$ 1,376,149  $ 1,144,853 § 897,121 671,898 $ 577,159
$ - 3 - 3 - - 3 —
204,230 202,526 161,151 129,245 176,138
151,514 204,054 168,276 115,900 67,677
930,405 738,273 567,694 426,753 333,344

$ 1,376,149 $ 1,144853 § 897,121 671,898 $ 577,159
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All income, expenses, assets and liabilities are derived from continuing operations.

See Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements for information with respect to acquisitions during the fiscal years



@ The results of the MediaHighway business have been consolidated from the date of acquisition on December 16, 2003,

@ Effective November 12, 2004, News Corporation changed its corporate domicile from Australia to the United States

and as a result, we ceased to qualify as a foreign private issuer under U.S. securities laws. Accordingly, the financial
information presented in this Annual Report on Form 10-K is stated in U.S. dollars, and has been prepared in
accordance with GAAP. Prior to November 12, 2004, we published our financial information in accordance with UK,
generally accepted accounting practice (“UK GAAP”) in pounds sterling. Financial information for periods ending on,
and as of, dates prior to the beginning of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2005, has been derived from previously audited
UK GAAP financial information by adjusting for differences between UK GAAP and GAAP and then translating that
information into U.S. dollars. The foreign exchange rates used for translation were as follows:

s  Statement of operations data for fiscal year ended June 30, 2004: £1=$1.7449
* Balance sheet data as of June 30, 2004: £1 = $1.8277

® QOperating expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2004 include a goodwill impairment charge of $11.4 million.
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ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS
OF OPERATIONS

Introduction

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to help provide an
understanding of our financial condition, changes in financiat condition and results of operations, and is organized as
follows:

e Overview of our business — This section provides a general description of our business and developments that occurred
during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 that we believe are important in understanding our results of operations and
financial condition or to disclose known future trends.

e  Critical accounting policies and estimates — This section discusses our revenue and other accounting policies that we
consider important to an understanding of our results of operations, and that require significant judgment and estimates
on the part of management in application. Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements summarizes
our significant accounting policies.

»  Results of operations — This section provides an analysis of our results of operations for the three fiscal years ended
June 30, 2008. In addition, a brief description is provided of significant transactions and events that impact the
comparability of the results being analyzed.

*  Liguidity and capital resources — This section provides an analysis of our cash flows for the three fiscal years ended
June 30, 2008. It includes a discussion of the financial capacity available to fund our future commitments and
obligations, as well as a discussion of other financing arrangements.

Overview of our Business

We supply open end-to-end digital technology and services to digital pay-television piatform operators and content
providers. Our technologies include conditional access and microprocessor security, broadcast and broadband stream
management, set-top box and residential gateway middleware, EPGs, DVR technologies and interactive infrastructure and
applications. We provide technologies and services supporting standard definition and high definition television and a
variety of industry, Internet and IP standards, as well as technology for mobile devices. Our software systems, consultancy
and systems integration services are focused on providing platform operators and content providers with technology to help
them profit from the secure distribution of digital information and entertainment to consumer devices that incorporate
various technologies supplied by us.

Our main customers are the digital pay-television platform operators that utilize a broadcast and/or a broadband
infrastructure to deliver video and data to multiple subscribers. In addition, we may sell interactive applications to content
providers, who do not usually operate a pay-TV platform, but instead provide content for transmission over a platform
operator’s network, The applications we sell to content providers make use of the functions and capabilities of the broadcast
infrastructure.

We work with suppliers of other components of a broadcast and broadband platform, such as broadcast equipment, network
equipment, set-top box and residential gateway manufacturers. We integrate our technologies with the products
raanufactured by these suppliers to provide a platform operator with the required functionality. A particular platform
operator may purchase some components of their platform from our competitors.

Qur customers consist of a limited number of large digital pay-television platform operators that are introducing, marketing
and promoting products and services that utilize our technology. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, our three
largest customers were DIRECTYV in the United States, BSkyB in the United Kingdom and SKY Italia in Italy. Together,
these three customers contributed, directly and indirectly, approximately 58% of our revenue during the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2008. We expect that a limited number of customers will continue to contribute a significant portion of our
revenue. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, we extended our contracts to supply conditional access services to
DIRECTYV and its Latin American subsidiaries through June 30, 2013,

We compete primarily with technologies such as NagraVision (developed by Kudelski SA), DigiCipher (developed by
Motorola, Inc.), Power Key (developed by Scientific-Atlanta, Inc.), OpenTV (developed by OpenTV Corp., a company
controlled by Kudelski SA) and Microsoft Mediaroom (developed by Microsoft Corporation) both to attract new customers
and to retain our existing customers. In addition, some of the companies that currently operate in the set-top box and/or
software business, but that have not historically been active competitors of ours, may, through acquisitions or the
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development of their own resources, seek to enter and obtain significant market share in our current or planned business
areas.

A significant portion of our revenue is dependent upon our customers’ subscriber bases, the growth in their subscriber bases
and the related quantities of set-top boxes deployed to their subscribers. Revenue can vary from period to period as our
revenue reflects a small number of relatively large orders for our technology and services. These generally have long sales
and order cycles, and delivery and acceptance of our products and services fluctuate over the course of these cycles. Qur
accounting policies often require us to defer revenue until after our technologies have been deployed by our customers or to
recognize contract revenue over the term of any post-contract support period.

Recently, certain of our customers have begun recycling set-top boxes and smart cards when a subscriber terminates its
subscription by re-issuing the set-top box and smart card to a new subscriber. Such activity by our customers reduces
demand for new smart cards and also reduces our incremental set-top box royalties. Should this activity become more
widespread, it could materially adversely affect our revenues. In addition, security of our smart cards has not been
compromised in recent years. Accordingly, certain customers have delayed or restricted plans to complete card
changeovers. This change in approach has been reflected in recently amended contract terms with certain of our customers
and we expect this to result in lower conditional access revenues in future years.

We consider that we operate and manage our business as a single segment. There are no separate divisions or profit centers.
We assess the financial performance of our business by reviewing specific revenue streams in the aggregate and by
customer. We assess our costs by considering individual cost centers and their aggregation into the general cost categories
as described below.

Recent Business Developments

On June 27, 2008, our Board announced the receipt of a proposal from News Corporation and the Permira Newcos for a
transaction that, if consummated, would result in NDS ceasing to be a public company and the Permira Newcos and News
Corporation owning approximately 51% and 49% of NDS’s outstanding equity, respectively.

On August 5, 2008, we announced that the Independent Committee reached an agreement in principle with News
Corporation and the Permira Newcos on a price at which they would acquire all of our issued and outstanding Series A
Crdinary Shares, including those represented by ADSs traded on NASDAQ. The price announced was $63 per share in
cash. The transaction is subject to negotiation and execution of final legal documentation. The consummation of the
transaction is also conditioned upon the approval of the transaction by holders of our Series A Ordinary Shares, the approval
of the High Court of Justice of England and Wales, the receipt of certain regulatory approvals and certain other customary
closing conditions. There can be no assurance that the parties will enter into final legal documentation or that any
transaction will be consummated.

Revenue

We derive revenue from:

1) Fees from the sale of smart cards and the provision of security maintenance services. These fees are typically based on
the number of smart cards supplied and the number of subscribers and/or smart cards authorized for a particular
platform. Our fees may be reduced if the security of the system is compromised. We refer to fees from the sales of !
smart cards and the provision of security maintenance services as “conditional access revenues.”

2) Fees for the supply of an initial system and subsequent additional functionality and maintenance services. These fees
are typically based on the amount of manpower required to customize, integrate and install the system components and
subsequently to maintain those components. We refer to such fees as “integration, development and support revenues.”

3) Fees linked to the deployment and use of our technologies. These fees are typically based on the number of set-top '
boxes or residential gateway devices manufactured or deployed that contain the relevant technologies. Other fees may
be based on the extent to which the technologies are used by our customers’ subscribers. For example, we may receive
a share of incremental revenues generated by a platform operator or content provider from an application that
incorporates our technologies. We refer to such fees as “license fees and royalties.”

These different types of fees are presented as three separate revenue streams in “Results of Operations™ because they are
influenced by different external factors.

We distinguish between revenues from “established technologies” and revenues from *“new technologies.” We categorize as
revenues from established technologies our revenue from conditional access, middleware and EPG technologies and fees
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from the customization and integration of those technologies into head-end systems and set-top boxes, together with
associated support. Revenues from these technologies are allocated between the three different revenue streams identified
above. We aggregate under our separate new technologies revenue stream all revenues that we derive from DVR
technologies, advanced middleware technologies, technologies involving broadband and IPTV, interactive infrastructure
and applications, and games and gaming. As our business develops, we will consider whether these groupings of revenue
remain appropriate.

Costs and expenses

Our costs and expenses consist of physical and processing costs of smart cards; personnel, travel and facilities costs;
royalties paid for the right to use and sub-license certain intellectual property rights owned by third parties; and the
amortization of intangible assets, such as intellectual property rights that we have acquired for incorporation within our
technologies.

The physical costs of smart cards include the costs of the integrated circuits manufactured by third-party suppliers, the
micro-module that houses the computer chips and the plastic body of the smart cards. We do not manufacture smart cards,
but our engineers design computer chips that are embedded into the smart cards. We arrange for the computer chips to be
manufactured and assembled by third-party suppliers. Smart card costs are dependent upon the costs of raw materials,
including the cost of computer chips, plastic and assembly, and the quantity of smart cards purchased and processed in any
period.

Personnel and facilities costs are allocated into four categories: operations; research and development; sales and marketing;
and general and administration. We have employees and facilities in the United Kingdom, the United States, Israel, India,
France, Denmark, Germany, Hong Kong, South Korea, China and Australia.

We classify operations costs as part of cost of goods and services sold. Operations costs include the costs of personnel and
related costs, including an allocation of facilities costs, associated with our customer support and with the integration and
development activities undertaken under a customer contract. Operations costs include the costs of operating our two smart
card processing plants, including the depreciation of our smart card processing equipment.

Research and development costs consist mainly of personnel and refated costs, including an allocation of facilities costs,
attributable to our technical employees who are developing our technology and adapting it for specific customer
requirements. These costs also include consumables and the depreciation of equipment used in development and test
activities and are stated net of the benefit of grants and other incentives.

Sales and marketing costs mainly consist of personnel and related costs, including an allocation of facilities costs, of our
sales and marketing employees in the United Kingdom, Europe and the Middle East, the United States and the Asia-Pacific
region. Marketing costs also include advertising, exhibitions, marketing communications and demonstration activities.

General and administration costs consist primarily of personnel, facilities and legal and administration costs.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations is based upon our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. The arrangements under which we supply technologies
and services to our customers are complex and require us to make an assessment as to the most appropriate way to
recognize revenue in accordance with GAAP.

An accounting policy is considered to be critical if it is important to our financial condition and results, and if it requires
significant judgment and estimates on the part of management in its application. By their nature, these judgments are subject
to an inherent degree of uncertainty. These judgments are based on our historical experience, terms of existing contracts, our
observance of trends in cur industry, information provided by our customers and information from other outside sources, as
appropriate. Actual results may differ from the judgments under different assumptions or conditions. The development and
selection of these critical accounting policies have been determined by our management and the related disclosures have
been reviewed with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors. For a summary of our significant accounting policies,
see Note 2 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Revenue recognition accounting policies

Where an arrangement includes more than incidental software elements, we follow Statement of Position 97-2: “Software
Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97-2"). Where an arrangement does not involve the supply of software and that arrangement
is separate from an arrangement for the supply of software, we follow Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104: “Revenue
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Recognition,” (“SAB 104”) and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. (00-21; “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables” (“EITF 00-217). Many of our arrangements cover the supply of multiple deliverables. We have to make an
assessment of the value of any undelivered elements of an arrangement in the manner required by GAAP and to defer
recognition of revenue unless and until the criteria specified by GAAP have been met. As our business develops, other
accounting guidance may become applicable. A summary of our revenue recognition accounting policies is set out in Note 2
to the accompanying consolidated financial statements. We set out below how we apply the policies to our different types of
comimercial arrangements;

Conditional access revenues

Our conditional access revenue stream comprises revenues from the sale of smart cards and the provision of security
maintenance services to customers using our established technologies. Most of the arrangements for the supply of smart
cards and the provision of security services are separate from arrangements for the supply of the initial broadcast platform
and do not involve the supply of software. Accordingly, they are accounted for under the principles of SAB 104 and
EITF 00-21.

Conditional access — Smart cards

Smart cards are hardware devices which we sell to platform operators for distribution to and use by their subscribers.
Revenue derived from sales of smart cards is recognized upon delivery of the smart cards in accordance with contractual
terms. Appropriate provision is made for the expected cost of warranties for the security of smart cards supplied.

Conditional access — Security services

For some contracts, we receive fees from platform operators for the maintenance of security of conditional access systems
for a specified duration, which is typically the estimated useful life of each card. Such services provide the platform
operator with a greater level of security than would be obtained by simply relying on the security features contained within
the smart card. Fees are received over the duration of the agreed service period and are related to the number of subscribers
or authorized smart cards of the relevant broadcast platformn. These revenues are recognized over the term of the security
contract. In some instances, the maintenance of security includes a requirement to replace a population of smart cards with a
supply of “changeover cards” which is considered a separate unit of accounting. In such instances, an amount of
maintenance income is deferred and recognized when the changeover cards are delivered. The amount of revenue to be
deferred is based on the fair value of the undelivered future changeover cards, The estimate of the amount of revenue to be
deferred requires management to make assessments of the timing of the card changeover, the volume of changeover cards o
be supplied and the fair value per unit for those changeover cards. The amount of revenue deferred under this type of
arrangement has decreased to $135.2 million as of June 30, 2008 from $180.0 million as of June 30}, 2007. The decrease in
the amount of deferred revenue is due to our satisfying some of the obligations to deliver a supply of changeover cards
under certain of our existing security maintenance arrangements. We currently expect further decreases in the amount of our
deferred security maintenance revenues in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 and beyond.

Integration, development and support revenues

The arrangements under which we generate integration, development and support revenues typically involve the supply of
software and are therefore accounted for in accordance with SOP 97-2. Such arrangements may involve muitiple
deliverables. In order to determine when we can recognize revenue under these arrangements, we have to assess whether we
have delivered all the elements contained within the arrangement. If there are undelivered elements, we have to consider
whether we have vendor specific objective evidence of the value of the undelivered elements. Where no such vendor
specific objective evidence is available, we defer recognizing revenue until all items have been delivered. Where the only
undelivered element relates to post-contract support and we do not have vendor-specific evidence of the value of that post-
contract support, we recognize all revenue arising from the arrangement over the period over which post-contract support is
provided. Revenue recognized is allocated to the appropriate revenue stream within our statement of operations. The
assessment of these matters is complex and requires management to assess whether the value attributed to undelivered
elements is supporied by adequate vendor specific objective evidence. As a result of applying GAAP, revenue may be
recognized after the technology has been deployed commercially by the platform operator or content owner.

License fees and royalty revenues

License fee and royalty revenue is earned from the supply of software and accordingly is accounted for in accordance with
SOP 97-2. Royalties are generally a function of the quantity of set-top boxes or residential gateway devices manufactured or
deployed, which in turn is dependent upon the ability of the platform operator or service provider to generate new
subscribers. The arrangements under which we earn royalty income and the application of SOP 97-2 to those arrangements
typically result in revenues being recognized over a period of several years after the underlying software has been delivered.
Subject to the other criteria of SOP 97-2 having been met, revenues are recognized when we have sufficiently reliable
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evidence of the volumes of set-top boxes manufactured or deployed. This is typically one to three months after actual
manufacture or deployment.

Use of estimates

The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates
and assumptions that affect the amounts that are reported in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying
disclosures. Although these estimates are based on management’s best knowledge of current events and actions that the
company may undertake in the future, actual results may differ from the estimates.

Goodwill and other intangible assets

We have significant intangible assets, primarily intellectual property rights and goodwill arising in connection with business
combinations. We account for business combinations under the purchase method of accounting. The total cost of
acquisitions is allocated to the underlying net assets acquired, based on their respective estimated fair market values.
Goodwill is recorded as the difference between the cost of acquiring an entity and the estimated fair market values assigned
10 its tangible and identifiable intangible net assets at the date of acquisition. Determining the fair market value of assets
acquired and liabilities assumed requires management’s judgment and often involves the use of significant estimates and
assumptions, including assumptions with respect to future cash inflows and outflows, discount rates, asset lives and market
multiples. Goodwill is subject to an annual impairment test (or more often if circunstances dictate). Definite-lived
intangible assets are amortized over their expected useful lives and the remaining useful life is re-assessed from time to
time. Definite-lived intangible assets are subject to an impairment test when indicators of impairment exist, If we identify an
impairment in value of goodwill or other intangible assets, we record an impairment charge in the period in which it is
identified. The judgments made in determining the estimated fair market value assigned to each class of intangible assets
acquired, as well as their useful lives and any potential impairment, can significantly impact our operating income.

Litigation, indemnity and intellectual property claims

Certain of our customers and other third parties have from time to time made allegations and/or filed claims against us or
made claims under indemnities which we have provided in our contracts with customers. The existence of these matters
reguire us to make estimates of the likely outcome of the actions or potential claims and to make a cost accrual for any
liabilities where it is probable that we will make a settlement or be subject to an adverse court ruling. The judgments made
in assessing the amount, if any, of cost accruals required can significantly impact our operating income.

Income taxes

Our operations are subject to tax in various domestic and international jurisdictions. Estimating income tax liabilities and
the recoverability of deferred tax assets requires us to make estimates of the outcome of pending tax matters as well as the
positions to be taken in the tax returns to be filed in respect of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, which have not yet been
prepared. We believe that we have appropriately accrued for the expected outcome of all pending tax matters and we do not
currently anticipate that the ultimate resolution of pending tax matters will have a material adverse effect on our
consolidated financial condition, future results of operations or liquidity.

Inventory

We hold inventory of smart cards and their components in anticipation of demand from our customers. Because smart cards
supplied to different platform operators are unique or contain unique features, particular types of smart cards held in
inventory may not be useable for any customer other than the one for whom they were purchased. The lead times for smart
card procurement are frequently much longer than the period covered by firm order commitments from our customers.
Accordingly, we may have to make inventory purchases in anticipation of customer orders that may never be received and
we may purchase inventory some months in advance of smart cards being supplied to our customers. We assess the need for
inventory reserves as of each balance sheet date based on anticipated customer demand. A shortfall in future demand
compared with our expectations could materially affect our future results of operations.

Recent accounting pronouncements
For a summary of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 2(p) to our consolidated financial statements.
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Results of Operations

Commentary on the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 versus the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007
Revenue

Revenue for the periods under review was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 Change % Change
Conditional access .. N e $ 463,409 $ 396,420 $ 66,989 17%
Integration, development & suppon ........ 56,062 56,201 (139 -
License fees & royalties.........oovvveeeeivrnnns 119,803 107,349 12,454 12%
New technologies...........cccvevviveninnnnines 201,580 143,495 58,085 40%
Oher ... 9,204 6,027 3,267 54%
Total CEVENUE ....ceeeeeeiiieecerernin et eiareens b 850,148 $ 709,492 $ 140,656 20%

Revenue comparisons for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 were affected by the
relative weakness of the U.S. dollar over the periods. Approximately 46% of our revenue was denominated in currencies
other than the U.S. dollar, principally pounds sterling and euros, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. We estimate
that the weaker U.S. dollar favorably impacted our total revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 by approximately
$27 million, or 3%, compared to what would have been achieved had foreign exchange rates been consistent with those
prevailing during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Revenue from conditional access increased by 17% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2007. The increase was principally due to recognition of a portion of security services revenue
previously deferred as certain remaining revenue recognition criteria were satisfied during the fiscal year ended June 30,
2008. Additionally, conditional access revenue rose due to increased security fees arising from the growth of the subscriber
base of our customers, offset in part by certain price reductions, as well as an increase in customers and a higher volume of
smiart cards delivered to customers.

Authorized smart card activity in each period was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

{in millions) 2008 2007
Number of devices protected by NDS conditional

access technology, begmmng of period.....ccooevecencen. 75.4 65.0
Net additions... 14.9 10.4

Number of devices protected by NDS conditional
access technology, end of period.......ccceeviiinennnnnnn. 90.3 754

The quantity of smart cards delivered in each period was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in millions) 2008 2007
Number of smart cards delivered for which revenue

was recognized in the period..........cccoveeeee . 324 25.9
Number of smart cards delivered for Wthh no revenue

was recognized in the period .........oocoeviiiincennnnnne, 4.9 0.4
Total number of smart cards delivered ............ccceeeneee 37.3 26.3
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The increase in the number of smart cards delivered in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007, principally reflects higher deliveries to existing customers and to new customers. The volume of smart
cards supplied exceeded the increase in authorized smart cards in use due to a mixture of churn and by the build-up of
inventory by platform operators.

The number of smart cards shipped during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 for which revenue was recognized includes
0.8 million smart cards supplied as an integral part of a security maintenance contract and for which revenue is recognized
over the term of the security maintenance contract. The equivalent number of smart cards supplied during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007 was 0.4 million. The number of authorized cards covered by this type of arrangement was 1.5 million
as of June 30, 2008 and !.2 million as of June 30, 2007. We currently expect a higher number of shipped and authorized
cards to be covered by this type of arrangement in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009 and beyond.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 we delivered 4.9 million smart cards to customers for which we have not
recognized any revenue, as compared to 0.4 million during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. These deliveries relate to
new customers, primarily in Europe and Asia-Pacific, where our contractual arrangements include elements that were
undelivered as of the balance sheet date and for which we do not have vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value. In
accordance with our accounting policies, we are precluded from recognizing any revenue under such arrangements until all
elements have been delivered, or until we have vendor-specific objective evidence of the fair value of any undelivered
elements. We expect to begin recognizing revenue from these contracts within 12 months. The cost of smart cards delivered
for which no revenue has been recognized is included as a separate element of inventory in our consolidated balance sheets.

Integration, development and support revenues in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 was consistent with that recognized in
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. The recognition of revenues from new customers and from the delivery of
enhancements to several of our major customers is dependent on the timing of satisfaction of all our revenue recognition
criteria and, therefore, this component of our revenues tends to fluctuate from period to period; however, during the periods
under review there was little change.

License fee and royalty revenues increased by 12% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, as compared to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2007, principally as a result of higher middleware royalty revenues as well as higher conditional access
and EPG royalties. The increases in royalties were due to an increase in the number of platform operators and service
providers that deploy our technology and by the growth in the number of new set-top boxes deployed or manufactured.
Middleware royalties are driven by the number of middleware clients deployed. The table below shows the number of
middleware clients deployed by our customers during each period:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in millions) 2008 2007
Number of middleware clients deployed, beginning of

PEIIOA. ..ot 61.8 41.6
ACQUISIHONS ....ocemeiririee st it s raesreraer e sren - 2.00
AdAItONS ......ovreererirnreerererri et bbb 30.7 18.2
Number of middleware clients deployed, end of period . 92.5 61.8

) Represents 2.0 million OpenRG™ residential gateway middleware devices developed and

deployed by Jungo Limited (“Tungo™) that were recognized at the time of the acquisition of
Jungo on December 31, 2006.
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The increase in revenues from new technologies of 40% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007, was principally due to higher revenues from our DVR technologies, advanced middleware, IPTV,
gaming applications and residential gateway devices. Revenue from our DVR technologies and advanced middleware is
driven by the number of DVR clients deployed and the level of integration and development revenue recognized. The table
below shows the cumulative number of DVR clients deployed during each period:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in millions) 2008 2007

Number of DVR clients deployed begmmng of penod 7.3 3.5
Additions .. . 58 3.8
Number of DVR clients deployed, end of period............ 13.1 7.3

Cost of goods and services sold and gross margin
Cost of goods and services sold and gross margin for the periods under review were as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 Change % Change
Cost of goods and services sold............... $ 318,540 3 268,484 $ 50,056 19%

L€ (1138 (171 4 | U $ 531,608 $ 441,008 $ 90,600 21%
Gross margin as a percentage of

TEVEIIUES ..covevevrvrvesvesersssesesessssensssesssnaoes 62.5% 62.2% **

** Not meaningful.

Cost of goods and services sold increased by 19% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the fiscal year
ended Fune 30, 2007, principally due to an increase in the number of our employees working on development, integration
and support activities, as well as increased royalties paid to third parties for the use of their technologies and higher
deliveries of smart cards during the periods. The increases were partially offset by lower smart card unit costs.

Gross margin, defined as revenue less costs and expenses associated with that revenue {i.e., cost of goods and services sold),
is a non-GAAP financial measure. We believe that gross margin is an important measure for our management and investors.
We consider that it gives a measure of profitability that distinguishes between those costs that are broadly a function of
direct revenue-earning activities and costs that are of a general nature or that are incurred in the expectation of being able to
earn future revenue. Cost of goods and services sold excludes charges in respect of amortization of intellectual property
rights and other finite-lived intangibles that we have acquired.

Gross margin as a percentage of revenue was 62.5% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to 62.2% for the
prior fiscal year. The effect of an increase in the total amount of employee costs altocated to cost of goods and services sold
substantially offset the revenue growth and in particular the impact of those elements of higher conditional access revenue
and royalty revenue which had no associated direct costs.

Operating expenses
Operating expenses for the periods under review may be analyzed as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

{in thousands) 2008 2007 Change % Change
Rescarch & development..............cvueneen. $ 198,898 $ 174,400 $ 24,498 14%
Sales & marketing......cvevvvrvvveeerererrrrnnnencns 48,850 41,354 7,496 18%
General & administration........eeeervinvrennens 75,183 53,551 21,632 40%
Amortization of intangibles .........c.cvevveers 13,293 11,347 1,946 17%
Total operating eXpenses ....coeeeiierverencans $ 336,224 b 280,652 $ 55,572 20%

Page 30




Expense comparisons for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 were affected by the
relative weakness of the U.S. dollar over the periads. Approximately 75% of our total expenses were denominated in
currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally pounds sterling, Israeli shekels, euros and Indian rupees, during the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2008. We estimate that the weaker U.S. dollar increased our total expenses in the fiscal year ended June
30, 2008 by approximately $32 million, or 5%, compared to what would have been achieved had foreign exchange rates
been consistent with those prevailing during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, The increase in operating expenses was
offset in part by foreign exchange gains of $17 miilion recognized during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 in the
consolidated statement of operations as a result of holding cash in currencies other than the U.S. dollar as compared to $2
million recognized in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Our main operating expenses are employee costs (including the cost of equity-based awards), facilities costs, depreciation,
travel costs and legal expenses. Qur main operating expenses have increased, primarily due to a higher number of
employees, facilities expenses and legal costs. Employee costs were approximately 23% higher in U.S. dollar terms during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the prior fiscal year. The total cost of technical resources was
approximately 16% higher in U.S. dollar terms during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007.

Our employee numbers (which include contractors) have increased over the period under review, as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007
Number of employees, beginning of period............ccc.... 3,572 2,989
Net additions .........cccceeeeviiinineeniniecicescnnsse s 389 583"
Number of employees, end of period........c.correvnecreceas. 3,961 3,572
Average number of employees during period ................. 3,778 3,298

M Includes 136 employees of Jungo, acquired on December 31, 2006.

Research and development costs increased by 14% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007, principally as a result of a higher number of employees working on an increased number of projects.
The increase in the employee costs in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 was partially offset by a $6.7 million grant from
the French government as a consequence of our being engaged in certain eligible research projects. In the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007, we received a similar grant of $5.5 million.

Sales and marketing expenses increased by 18% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, as compared to the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007, primarily as a result of higher employee headcount and travel costs, increased attendance at trade shows and
a higher level of corporate communications activities.

General and administrative expenses increased by 40% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007, primarily due to increased legal expenses, as well as equity compensation costs and facilities and
infrastructure costs.

Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets increased by 17% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, as compared to the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, principally due to the acquisition of Jungo in December 2006.

Operating income and other items

As a result of the factors outlined above, and, in particular, the increase in conditional access and new technologies revenue
and the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements, operating income was $195.4 million, or 23.0% of revenue,
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, compared to $160.4 million, or 22.6% of revenue, for the fiscal year ended June 30,
2007.
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The principal foreign currency exchange rates that affected our consolidated results of operations and balance sheets were:

Average exchange rate for the  Period-end exchange rate as of

fiscal year ended June 30, June 30,
2008 2007 2008 2007
U.S dollar / U.K. pound sterling ........cccocovrereneee 0.4992 05178 0.5016 0.4984
U.S. dollar / Buro......ccoooveeveecennereneeinenecnennene 0.6816 0.7664 0.6350 0.7396
U.S. dollar / Israeli shekel.........coconvmeevnenninnas 3.7962 41572 3.3719 42511
U.S. dollar / Indian rupee......covcrmmnieramninnsveneas 40.2190 44.0530 42.7800 40.5800

We estimate that the weaker U.S. dollar increased our operating income in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 by
approximately $12 million, or 6%, compared to what would have been achieved had foreign exchange rates been consistent
with those prevailing during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Interest income earned on cash deposits was $27.1 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 as compared to
$25.3 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. These increases were principally due to higher cash balances, offset in
part by lower average interest rates.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, we incurred other expenses of $2.5 million in legal and professional fees
associated with the proposed transaction submitted by News Corporation and Permira. Further costs associated with this
transaction may be incurred in the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009.

Our effective tax rate was 27.2% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 compared to 26.9% for the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2007. The increase in the effective tax rate was principally due to a higher proportion of disallowable expenses
offset in part by lower statutory tax rates. In July 2007, the U.K. government enacted legislation that reduced the standard
U.K. corporate tax rate to 28%, effective April 1, 2008. The statutory tax rate on the Company’s U.K. taxable profits is
29.5% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 and 28% thereafter.

As a consequence of all the factors described above, net income for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 was $160.1 million,
or $2.76 per share ($2.72 per share on a diluted basis), compared to $135.7 million, or $2.37 per share ($2.33 per share on a
diluted basis), for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Commentary on the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 versus the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006
Revenue
Revenue for the periods under review was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2007 2006 Change % Change
Conditional access ........cccoeevverrereccnrenen. 3 396,420 $ 350,667 $ 45,753 13%
Integration, development & support ........ 56,201 46,903 9,298 20%
License fees & royalties............ccecevuruenne. 107,349 88.686 18,663 21%
New technologies.........ooceeevininevncnciinenn. 143,495 106,193 37,302 35%
OUNET oo s eeeeest s seseene 6,027 7,674 (1,647) (22%)
Total TEVENUE ..ot veee s eraeeeveres b 709,492 $ 600,123 $ 109,369 18%

The 13% increase in conditional access revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2006, was principally due to higher security fees and a higher volume of smart cards delivered to customers.
Higher security fees arise from increases in the number of authorized smart cards in use at our broadcast platform
customers. In some instances, a portion of the security fee includes a requirement to replace a population of smart cards
with a supply of “changeover cards,” which is considered a separate unit of accounting. In such instances, an amount of the
security fee is deferred and recognized when the changeover cards are delivered. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007,
the proportion of gross security fee revenue deferred for changeover cards was lower than in the fiscal year ended June 30,

Page 32



2006, as a majority of customers to whom we had such obligations postponed the timing of changeover from what we had
originally estimated.

Authorized smart card activity in each period was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in millions) 2007 2006
Number of devices protected by NDS conditional

access technology, beginning of period.................... 65.0 56.7
Net additions.......cooeeeiciiciniinirieesi s e seeasees 104 8.3

Number of devices protected by NDS conditional
access technology, end of period......ccoooivecrnnnnis 75.4 65.0

The quantity of smart cards delivered in each period was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,
(in millions) 2007 2006

Number of smart cards delivered..............ococeiiiinveeeriiins 263 244

The increase in the number of smart cards delivered in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2006, principally reflected deliveries to new customers in Europe, China and India. The volume of smart
cards supplied exceeded the increase in authorized smart cards in use due to a mixture of churn and by the build-up of
inventory by platform operators.

Integration, development and support revenues increased by 20% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, compared to the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, due principally to the recognition of revenue from the delivery of conditional access, EPG
and middleware to TataSky, which commenced broadcasting in India in August 2006.

License fee and royalty revenues increased by 21% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2006, principally as a result of higher conditional access and EPG royalties due to an increase in the
number of platform operators and service providers that deploy our technology. This increase was partially offset by a
decrease in the number of middleware clients deployed during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 as compared to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2006. The table below sets forth the number of middleware clients deployed by our customers during
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in millions) 2007 2006
Number of middleware clients deployed, beginning of

PETIOW ottt rsassae e s sa e s sas e 41.6 20.4
ACQUEISTHONS .ot ssss s sssssrsiee 2.0 -
AQITIONS ...coomii s s 18.2 21.2
Number of middleware clients deployed, end of period . 61.8 41.6

(' Represents 2.0 million OpenRG™ residential gateway middleware devices developed and

deployed by Jungo that were recognized at the time of the acquisition of Jungo on December
31, 2006.

The decrease in additions during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared with the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006,
was due to the fact that the volume of MediaHighway set-top boxes enabled during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 was
unusually high because DIRECTV commenced the initial download of our MediaHighway middleware and other related
technologies in certain new models of set-top boxes in use by their subscribers during that period.
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The increase in revenues from new technologies of 35% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2006, was principally due to higher revenues from our DVR technologies and advanced middleware,
gaming applications and residential gateway devices. The higher revenues from our DVR technologies was a result of an
increase in the cumulative number of DVR clients deployed during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

The increase in the cumulative number of DVR clients deployed in each period was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in millions) 2007 2006

Number of DVR clients deployed begmnmg of penod 35 1.4
Additions .. S . 38 2.1
Number of DVR clients deployed, end of period............ 7.3 35

In addition to the matters referred to above, comparisons of revenues for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2006 were also affected by the relative weakness of the U.S. dollar over the periods. Approximately
50% of our revenues during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 were denominated in currencies other than the U.S, dollar
(principally pounds sterling and euros). We estimate that the weaker U.S. dollar has favorably impacted our total revenues
for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 by approximately $26 million, or 4%, compared to the fiscal year ended June 30,
2006.

Cost of goods and services sold and gross margin
Cost of goods and services sold and gross margin for the periods under review were as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

{(in thousands) 2007 2006 Change % Change
Cost of goods and services sold............... 3 268,484 $ 242,622 % 25,862 11%
GrOSS MATGIM.cvevevevererereersernresieecerermnens 3 441,008 $ 357,501 $ 83,507 23.4%
Gross margin as a percentage of

TEVEIUES ....eeeveenreascrneesrerssarsssrsssssarsranss 62.2% 59.6% 2.6% *k

** Not meaningful,

Cost of goods and services sold increased by 11% during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2006, principally due to an increase in the number of our employees working on development, integration
and support activities, as well as increased royalties paid to third parties for the use of their technologies and higher
deliveries of smart cards during the periods. The increases were partially offset by lower smart card unit costs.

Because revenues increased by more than cost of goods and services sold, gross margin as a percentage of revenues was
62.2% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, compared to 59.6% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.
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Operating expenses
Operating expenses for the periods under review may be analyzed as foilows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

{(in thousands) 2007 2006 Change % Change
Research & development ..........c..oeerevneens $ 174,400 $ 145,523 $ 28,877 20%
Sales & marketing..........ooovereenrermrrenneeene. 41,354 30,713 10,641 35%
General & administration.........covvvevireeens 53,551 41,083 12,468 30%
Amortization of intangibles ............orvene 11,347 9,453 1,894 20%
Total operating exXpenses ... 9 280,652 $ 226,772 $ 53,880 24%

Our main operating expenses have increased in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, primarily due to a higher number of
employees and the related increase in payroll, employee travel and facilities costs. Employee costs were approximately 24%
higher during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006. The increase in
operating expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 also reflects the full-year impact of investments made in new
facilities and infrastructure during the latter part of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.

Our employee numbers (including contractors) increased over the periods under review, as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2007 2006
Number of employees, beginning of period.................... 2,989 2,508
Net additIONS ....veeeereeeereecssne s isssasessssssssssessssssaes 583 481
Number of employees, end of period...........ccooveiiiinns 3,572 2,989
Average number of employees during period ................. 3,298 2,765

" Includes 136 employees of Jungo, acquired on December 31, 2006.

Research and development costs increased by 20% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2006, principally as a result of higher employee headcount due to more research and development being
performed, which was partially offset by a $5.5 million grant from the French government as a consequence of our being
engaged in certain eligible research projects. In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, we received an equivalent grant of
$5.3 million. ‘

Sales and marketing expenses increased by 35% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the fiscal year ended
June 30, 2006, as a result of higher employee headcount and travel costs, increased attendance at trade shows and a higher
level of corporate communications activities.

General and administrative expenses increased by 30% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2006, primarily due to higher equity compensation costs, higher legal expenses and business development
costs, and higher facilities and infrastructure costs.

Amortization of finite-lived intangible assets increased by 20% in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as compared to the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, principally due to the acquisition of Jungo in December 2006.

In addition to the matters referred to above, comparisons of expenses for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 to the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2006 were also affected by the relative weakness of the U.S. dollar. In the fiscal year ended June 30,
2007, approximately 72% of our total expenses were denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar (principally
pounds sterling, Israeli shekels and euros). We estimate that the weaker U.S. dollar has increased our total expenses in the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 by approximately $28 million, or 5%, compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.
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Operating income and other items

As a result of the factors outlined above, operating income was $160.4 million, or 22.6% of revenue, for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007, compared to $130.7 million, or 21.8% of revenue, for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006. We
estimate that the weaker U.S. dollar reduced our operating income in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 by approximately
$2.0 million compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006 and that this reduced our operating margin by approximately
1%.

Interest income earned on cash deposits was $25.3 million in the fiscal ended June 30, 2007, as compared to $15.9 million i
in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006. This was due to higher average cash balances and higher interest rates.

Our effective tax rate was 26.9% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, compared to 30.9% for the fiscal year ended

June 30, 2006. This was due to higher benefits from research and development incentives, the release of deferred tax asset
valuation reserves and a higher portion of earnings being generated in jurisdictions with lower statutory tax rates. During the
fiscal year ended June 20, 2007, we determined that it was more likely than not that cenain net operating loss carryforwards
would be recoverable and, accordingly, reversed the related valuation reserve.

As a consequence of all these factors, net income for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 was $135.7 million, or $2.37 per
share ($2.33 per share on a diluted basis), compared to $101.0 million, or $1.80 per share ($1.74 per share on a diluted
basis), for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Current financial condition .

Our principal source of liquidity is internally generated funds; however we also have access to the worldwide capital

markets. As of June 30, 2008, we had an unused credit facility to borrow up to £30 million (equivalent to approximately !

$60 million) from a subsidiary of News Corporation. No amounts were drawn under this facility during the three fiscal I

years ended June 30, 2008. !
|

As of June 30, 2008, we had cash and cash equivalents of $735.0 million. Our accumulated cash is currently being held with
the intention of using it for the future development of the business. Except in extraordinary circumstances, there are no
plans to pay any dividends to shareholders. We intend to keep this policy under review and will consider whether it is !
appropriate to pay dividends in the future. We believe that we have sufficient working capital resources for our present

requirements. Our internally generated funds are dependent on the continued profitability of our business.

The principal uses of cash that affect the Company’s liquidity position include purchases of smart cards, operational
expenditures, capital expenditures, acquisitions and income tax payments.

We continue to invest in technical equipment for use in research and development and in supporting our customers. We
have received payment from customers in advance of recognizing revenue (deferred income) of $207.4 million as of June
30, 2008 and we expect to utilize cash to meet our obligations under our arrangements with our customers. We have
evaluated, and expect to continue to evaluate, possible acquisitions and dispositions of certain businesses. Such transactions
may be material and may involve cash, our securities and/or the assumption of indebtedness.

Sources and uses of cash - fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 versus fiscal year ended June 30, 2007

We had a net inflow of cash and cash equivalents of $124.7 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, compared to a
net inflow of cash and cash equivalents of $267.9 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Net cash provided by operating activities was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007

Net cash provided by operating activities ..........cc......... ' $ 141,923 b 173,953

The decrease in net cash provided by operating activities in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 reflected higher payments
relating to payroll costs, travel expenses, rent and facilities costs, legal expenses and income taxes, compared to those in the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, as a result of an increase in the number of employees and the legal proceedings described
to in Item 3 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Net cash provided by operating activities includes receipts under security
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maintenance contracts where we have assumed the liability to procure and supply changeover cards in future periods. These
arrangements resulted in higher cash payments for the purchase of smart cards in the fiscal year ended Jun 30, 2008 and we
currently expect to purchase further inventory in future periods in order to satisfy our obligations. These factors were offset
in part by higher receipts from customers. Net cash provided from operations in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 is net of
payments of $33.2 million made to customers at inception of a contract which will be repaid out of future revenues over the
term of the contract. Equivalent payments made in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 were not material.

Net cash provided by / (used in) investing activities was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Capital expenditure (net) ... VTR (16,823) $ (25,149)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquxred .................... (10,466) (83,215)
Decrease in short-term investments (net)......ccccecrveeernnes -_ 184,401
Net cash (used in)/provided by investing activities......... $ (27,289) $ 76,037

Capital expenditure was lower in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 than in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 because of
lower investments in new facilities than in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. We continue to invest in technical
equipment for use in research and development and in supporting our customers.

In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, we acquired CastUp for initial consideration and costs of $10.4 million. In the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2007, we acquired Jungo for initial consideration and costs of $77.6 million, net of cash acquired and
we also acquired Interactive Television Entertainment ApS for total cash consideration of $3.2 million.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, short-term investments (cash deposits with an initial term of more than six
months) of $184.4 million matured and we did not reinvest such funds as longer-term deposits because the differential in
interest rates between longer- and shorter-term deposits was negligible.

Net cash provided by financing activities was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Issuance of shares .. e B 8,664 3 13,889
Excess tax benefits reahzed on shares 1ssued asa rcsult

of equity cOMPENSation AWArdS .............ccocrucerereecscrenns 1,366 4,033
Net cash provided by financing activities ......ccecccevreeeeer. $ 10,030 3 17,922

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, we issued 469,638 Series A Ordinary Shares upon the exercise by employees,
directors and executive officers of stock options with an average exercise price of $20.31 per share. This compares to the
issuance of 845,642 Series A Ordinary Shares upon the exercise of stock options with an average exercise price of $16.68
per share in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Sources and uses of cash — fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 versus fiscal year ended June 30, 2006

We had a net inflow of cash and cash equivalents of $267.9 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, compared to a
net outflow of cash and cash equivalents of $23.4 million in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.

Net cash provided by operating activities was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,
(in thousands) 2007 2006

Net cash provided by operating activities.........o.cecruriinne $ 173,953 $ 163,908




The increase in net cash provided by operating activities in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 reflects higher receipts from
customers. These factors were offset in part by higher payments relating to the purchase of smart cards, payroll costs, travel
expenses, rent and facilities costs and income taxes, compared to fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, as a result of an increase
in the number of employees. Net cash provided by operating activities includes receipts under security maintenance
contracts where we have assumed the liability to procure and supply changeover cards in future periods.

Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2007 2006

Capital expenditure (Rt} ....oovvvvvireeecremreeriieenrerececrierens 9 (25,149) $ (29,416)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acquired .................... (83,215) (3,118)
Decrease/(Increase) in short-term investments (net) ....... 184,401 (184,401)
Net cash provided by/(used in) investing activities......... $ 76,037 $ (216,935)

The decrease in capitat expenditure in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 compared to the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006
reflected the high investment in new facilities in the United Kingdom and the United States in the fiscal year ended June 30,
2006.

In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, we acquired Jungo for initial cash consideration and costs totaling $77.6 million, net
of cash acquired. During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, and Interactive Television Entertainment ApS for total cash
consideratton of $3.2 million.

In the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, we acquired NT Media Limited for initial cash consideration and costs totaling
$3.1 million, net of cash acquired. A further $2.4 million was paid in connection with this acquisition in the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2007..

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006, we invested $184.4 million in short term investments (cash deposits with an
initial term of more than six months}. These cash deposits matured during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007 and we did
not reinvest such funds as longer-term deposits because the differential in interest rates between longer- and shorter-term
deposits was negligible.

Net cash provided by financing activities was as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2007 2006

ISSUANCE Of SHATES ...ttt e ee e s cnenes $ 13,889 5 21,769
Excess tax benefits realized on exercise of stock options 4,033 7,828
Net cash provided by financing activities .........cccceeveveee. 3 17,922 3 29,597

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, we issued 845,642 Series A Ordinary Shares upon the exercise by employees,
directors and executive officers of stock options with an average exercise price of $16.68 per share. This compares to the
issuance of 1,554,716 Series A Ordinary Shares upon the exercise of stock options with an average exercise price of $14.00
per share in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006.

Off-balance sheet arrangements

We have no off-balance sheet arrangements, as defined in Item 303 of Regulation S-K,
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Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations

We have commitments under certain firm contractual arrangements (“firm commitments”) to make future payments. These
firm commitments secure the future rights to various assets and services to be used in the normal course of operations. The
following table summarizes our material firm commitments as of June 30, 2008.

Payments Due by Period

More

Less than than 5§

(in thousands) Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years years
Operating lease Obligations.......c.coovuvereiniennsieressssnnnnns $ 118,249  $125636  §$ 39,091 $26813  § 26709
Smart card purchase obligations ..........ccceemveriiiiennns 25,540 25,540 - - -
Payments to vendors of businesses acquired V'............. 2,401 2,401 - - -

Other long-term cbligations reflected on the balance

sheet under GAAP @ .........ooimevvennsreensssrnnssissessieons 275,131 128,318 67,804 11,296 67,713
TOL.eerereseesesesesseressrsesssssssseesseesscessssossemenne 5 421,321 $ 181,895~ § 106,895 _ § 38,109 _ $ 94,422

M Amount represents accrued consideration payable to the vendors of CastUp, which we acquired during the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2008, and NT Media Limited, which we acquired during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2006. An
additional amount of up to $0.8 million may be payable to the vendors of NT Media Limited, contingent upon the
revenue of the acquired business for periods up to September 1, 2008.

@ Comprising deferred income of $207.4 million (of which $128.3 million is included within current liabilities), and non-
current accrued expenses of severance pay liabilities of $58.7 million and pension liabilities of $9.0 million.

In the normal course of business, we provide, and from time to time make payments in respect of, indemnification
agreements of varying scopes, including warranties concerning the security of our smart cards, limited product warranties
and indemnification of customers against claims of intellectual property infringement made by third parties arising from the
use of our products or services. Also, we may be subject to liquidated damages in the event of late delivery of goods or
services. The nature of these commitments has been considered in determining the revenue and costs recognized in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Costs are accrued for known warranty and indemnification issues if a loss
is probable and can be reasonably estimated. Historically, costs related to these warranties and indemnification agreements
have not been significant, but because potential future costs are highly variable, we are unable to estimate the maximum
potential impact of these guarantees on our future results of operations.

The nature of our business is such that we may be subject to claims by third parties alleging infringements of various
intellectual property rights. We intend to vigorously defend ourselves against any such claims. Where a liability arising
from these claims is probable, an accrual is made based on our management’s best estimate. It is not considered that any
resulting liability in excess of amounts recognized in our consolidated financial statements would materially affect our
financial position.

Amounts payable by us under certain contracts are subject to audit rights held by third parties and the terms of such
contracts may be open to subjective interpretation. We settle our liabilities under such contracts based on our assessment of
the amounts due. However, we may be subject to claims that the amounts paid are incorrect. It is not considered that any
resulting liability in excess of amounts recognized in the accompanying consolidated financial statements would materially
affect our financial position.

We experience routine litigation in the normal course of our business. We believe that none of our pending litigation will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, future results of operations or liquidity.

Our operations are subject to tax in various domestic and international jurisdictions and, as a matter of course, We are
regularly audited by U.K. and overseas tax authorities. We believe that we have appropriately accrued for the expected
outcome of all pending tax matters and do not currently anticipate that the ultimate resolution of pending tax matters will
have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial condition, future results of operations or liquidity.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

We are exposed to changes in foreign exchange rates. We operate in international markets and have an operational presence i
in several countries. Accordingly, our costs and revenue are primarily denominated in a mixture of U.S. dollars, Israeli !
shekels, pounds sterling, euros and Indian rupees. ‘

Approximately 46% of our revenue was denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally pounds sterling
and euros, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, We estimate that the weaker U.S. dollar favorably impacted our total
revenue for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 by approximately $27 million, or 3%, compared to what would have been
achieved had foreign exchange rates been consistent with those prevailing during fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

Approximately 75% of our total expenses were denominated in currencies other than the U.S. dollar, principally pounds
sterling, Israeli shekels, euros and Indian rupees, during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008. We estimate that the weaker
U.S. dollar increased our total expenses in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 by approximately $32 million, or 5%,
compared to what would have been achieved had foreign exchange rates been consistent with those prevailing during the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

As a result of fluctuations in foreign exchange rates, we experienced net gains on cash holdings of $18 million in the fiscal
year ended June 30, 2008, of which a gain of approximately $17 million was recorded within operating expenses, and a gain
of approximately $1 million was recorded within other comprehensive income. This gain arose because we were able to
purchase currencies to fund planned expenditure at exchange rates that proved to be more favorable than the average
exchange rates for the period, and hence offset in part the adverse impact of foreign exchange rates on our expenses.

We estimate that the weaker U.S, dollar increased our operating income in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 by
approximately $12 million, or 6%, compared to what would have been achieved had foreign exchange rates been consistent
with those prevailing during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007.

As of June 30, 2008, approximately 62% of our cash was held in U.S. dollars, 13% in pounds sterling and 3% in Israeli
shekels, with most of the remaining balance held in euros. Our policy is to hold cash in U.S. dollar bank deposits and to
hold cash in other currencies to the extent that our cash flow projections indicate that we have need for those other
currencies. In addition, a portion of our cash holdings is held in currencies other than the U.S. dollar in order to limit the
impact on changes in exchange rates on our forecast operating income and net income, but, as a consequence, such practice
introduces an element of exposure to movements in foreign exchange rates in respect of cash balances. Where we require
other currencies or identify a surplus of non-U.S. dollar cash balances, we may make purchases or sales on the spot market.
Historically, we have not entered into free-standing derivative contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure arising from
operating activities. We expect to review this policy from time to time as circumstances change. We had no derivative
instruments outstanding as of June 30, 2008,

Our cash holdings are in excess of our immediate operating requirements; therefore, we are exposed to changes in market
interest rates on cash deposits. We estimate that a decline in market interest rates available for cash deposits of one
percentage point would decrease our annual interest income by approximately $7 million based on total cash on deposit of
approximately $700 million.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NDS Group plc:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of NDS Group plc as of June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the
related consolidated statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income, and cash flows for
each of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 30, 2008. These financial statements are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Qversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the
amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and
significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe
that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion the consolidated financial staternents referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of NDS Group plc at June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the consolidated results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended June 30, 2008, in conformity with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States.

As described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, on July 1, 2007 the Company adopted the provisions of
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpretation No.48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes (an
interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109),” Also, as described in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, on June
30, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 158, “Employers’
Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Post Retirement Plans, an amendment 1o FAS 87, 88, 106 and 132(R),”
and as described in Note 2 to the consolidated financial statements, on July 1, 2003, the Company adopted the provisions of
Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123(R), “Share-Based Payment.”

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the effectiveness of NDS Group plc’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2008, based on criteria
established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission, and our report dated August 8, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

London, England
August 8, 2008
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NDS Group plc
Consolidated Statements of Operations
For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands, except per-share amounts) 2008 2007 2006
Revenue .. $ 850,148 §$ 709,492 % 600,123
(inclusive of $493 375 $5 18 238 and $458 042 from related partnes)

Cost of goods and services sold.........cvriiencinn e (318,540) (268,484) (242,622)
(inclusive of $3,812, $3,036 and $2,138 to related parties

GrOSS MATZIN.......ooverniirnies e resresina s seses it raes s st sasa s bt eanasassensearees 531,608 441,008 357.501
Operating expenses... (336,224) (280,652) (226,772)
(inclusive of $148, $284 and $173 to related pames)

Operating INCOMe ...t e 195,384 160,356 130,729
INLEIESt INCOIMIE, TIEL 1rnveeeeeeeciiiireersrrneserare e s sesnsassarssssasansssnesssnnesatbanes 27,103 25,296 15,446
OLNET EXPEIMEELS 1.verereeeceemssbiiiinsbatssrsr st ins s s st s s s b ansare s e (2,498) — -
Income before iCOME [AX EXPENSE. ...cruviereermrisiiresrrinirrirmeemnsssssessasasies 219,989 185,652 146,175
INCOME LAX BXPEISE ..ovevrarnrermrsrrennenenstsisasrsssissssssssnresnsaresssntesessiasnsnssasses (59,894) (49,925) (45,225)
INEEIDCOME. ..o seerar e e s s s bsssenes s remne st sinees D 160,095 3§ 135727 % 100,950
Net income per share:

Basic net iNCOME Per SKATE ..o cvcercrririceeiesecienisesnssisssssecnssssissisrees 9 276 $ 237 § 1.80
Diluted net inCOME PET SHATE ....cooveverrierererererecmrec bbb s resnassns $ 272 $ 233 8§ 1.74

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NDS Group plc
Consolidated Balance Sheets
As of June 30,

(in thousands, except share amounts) 2008 2007

ASSETS

Current Assets:
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENES..............cooeeeeeiire et sast st s ee e s snsreneens 3 734,992 $ 592,750
Accounts receivable, net.. 126,131 134,624

(inclusive of $50,339 and $89 711 due from related parl.les)

Accrued income .. ettt itoereneeraantasnreessasessne - 46,948 40,605
TRVETILOTIES, TIET 1eovvveiiieieeeeeeeevsestset s besssommesssneesemeasnressn st st sa bt aeemmmnsssneeannnsennrsnsastes 79,659 54,133
PTepaid @XPENSES. ..o e e vr e sesaresessas e e s reaeressatr s enessasasebasensn 24,904 19,415
OUDET CUITEINL ASSELS . ..o eevrereeiresrssistitieeeemmeeaeeesseasnneassessasaseteeameemeesereasanassessaseerasssnsenn 4,203 3,926

TOLAl CUITENL ASSEIS....ciiiivsreiiieeeeeiiervrrrresstasiiserssres s s basesseeasrrasesssnsessssnsasaress sanasssussares 1,016,837 845,453

Property, plant and equipment, net.. 49,741 54,801
GOOAWILIL....ee vttt it et r e e ta s s ks see e smnresrssas b et s s R b st bmma s s e s anmnesnennsnntss 134,693 124,614
Other intangibles, NEL.... ... .ottt st ses st e ey erasaara e rasrene 55,806 63,080
DEfEITE 1K BESELS - . et eeeeeeereerseresietteeaeemeansserssasaseessessesamsasseeeennssressresnsesesasesnsennssnes 17,370 11,600
OTher TION-CUITEIE ASSEES ..vvvivuveeeereerereeerernreernreirsrsrssaseseeseassarsrrsssssssssasessasesssesaasssessssanes 101,702 45,305

TOtAl ASSELS ... et e e e ranaatns D 1,376,149 5 1,144,853

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Current Liabilities:
Accounts payable............ BETTVRPYPYP OOV 33,61t 3 22,110

(inclusive of $4, 846 and $2 165 due to related panlcs)

Deferred income . et eeetemeeeeaeesesaen s e ssenanns 128,318 75,7711
Accrued expenses .................................................................................................... 87,115 68,659
INCOME taX HABIIILES ......ccoeeiiriceeeivrie e eieies et ceee e s ssae st st e smenmssne s snesasaseenbesesrnn 24,513 17,693
Other CUITENE HADITIEIES ......evieeeesreteseeeeeeerersseassessessrassssesstesaesenssrressesrsestessesssessssons 20,673 18,287

Total current TADIIEES ...t eiseseieistt i e e s e ey srseeat e e ea e sttt me i e e rmr e mn e ranesnerss 294,230 202,526

DD T IIICOIMIE ..o oervierreererereseeesssssseseteeeeeesaeeeeamrrnresaressseasesssaseeneeeeseasnssessesssresrsesasesssrnn 79,100 157,517
Accrued expenses 67,713 42,883
Other non-current habllmes ......................................................................................... 4,701 3,654

Total Habilities ... et 445,744 406,580

Commitments and Contingencies:
Shareholders’ Equity:
Series A ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share ..........coeveniriiinesenrrerrnnennn: 162 157
(48,000,000 shares authorized; 16,250,058 and 15,718,904 shares outstanding
as of June 30, 2008 and 2007, respectively)
Series B ordinary shares, par value $0.01 pershare .........ccconviicininincciennines 420 420
(52,000,000 shares authorized; 42,001,000 shares outstanding as of June 30,
2008 and 2007)
Deferred shares, par value £1 per Share ... vcevcinennvescnncr s 64,103 64,103
(42,000,002 shares authorized and outstanding as of June 30, 2008 and 2007)
Additional paid-in CAPItAl .............ccccveiiiiiiiieeeee ettt 590,663 563,388
Retained Earmings. .......c.couieiiiiieereesneeee sttt et seeea e sae st s reababbs e s s e b emsa e e 216,201 56,106
Other comprehensive INCOME.... ..o ccccoreeerirrire s ree e eeeressesssesrssssteseesaresesnene 58,856 54,099

Total shareholders’ equity.............coccoviiiiinceci e s e 930,405 738,273

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity .............ccccoccovvirverecrmrenrnii e rrresaees $ 1,376,149 $ 1,144,853

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NDS Group plc
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For the fiscal years ended June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006

Operating activities:
NEL INCOMIE +.voeeeeceeeiicrrtrsrsessese et senscsrsrscnsassseecssasasn s s asessnsssats nens $ 160,095  § 135727 § 100,950

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by
operating activities:

Depreciation ... 22,368 19,240 17,058
Amortization of other mtanglbles ................................................ 13,293 11,347 9,453
Equity-based compensation... 17,128 10,175 6,626
(01117~ OO PP TUERR IO 654 795 2,206
Change in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:
INVENEOTIES. ..ot ivvisrneerereeaeeseeesceesesnere e eeemestsin s asns s b aranssases (25,526) (14,785) 2,168
Receivables and Other @SSELS ...vvvvrveeeieeeieceerersirrrraesessesessieises (59,677) (51,407) (48,429)
Deferred income.. . (25,876) 51,504 45,493
Accounts payable and other IIablllthS ..................................... 39,464 11,357 28,383
Net cash provided by operating activities.. 141,923 173,953 163,908
(inclusive of $443,585, $541,256 and $479 648 from related
parties)
Investing activities:
Capital exXpendittire..........cccvvurereirmemmemnieissssisn s seseseissasnnss (16,823) (25,149) (29,416)
Shori-term investments {net) ... - 184,401 (184,401)
Business acquisitions, net of cash acqulred (10,466) (83,215) (3,118)
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities ......ooovovvrniiieene (27,289 76,037 (216,935)
Financing activities:
Issvance of shares............... 10,030 17,922 29,597
(inclusive of reahzed excess tax beneﬁts of $l 366 $4 033 and
$7,828)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents.................... 124,664 267,912 (23,430)
Cash and cash equivalents, beglnmng of penod ................................. 592,750 320,636 339,791
Currency eXChange MOVEIMENES ......ccoviveveucnreimrsrssininsnssessensssmersceseies 17,578 4,202 4,275
Cash and cash equivalents, end of period.............ccocovvvvrecee. $ 734992 § 592,750 % 320,636

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NDS Group plc

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006

(in thousands, except share amounts) Shares Amount Shares Amount Shares Amount
Series A ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per

share:
Balance, beginning of year... - veene 15,718,904 § 157 14,873262 & 148 13318546 § 133
Shares issued as equity- based compensanon 531,154 5 845,642 9 1,554,716 15
Balance, end of year........coceevvcciiicninnvvenrenennn. 16,250,058 162 15,718,904 157 14,873,262 148
Series B ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per

share:
Balance, beginning and end of year..............oeeee.. 42,001,000 420 42,001,000 420 42,001,000 420
Deferred shares, par value £1 per share;
Balance, beginning and end of year...................... 42,000,002 64,103 42,000,002 64,103 42,000,002 64,103
Additional paid-in capital:
Balance, beginning of Year...........cocceciinevnininnninciceneseceees 563,388 534,668 498,363
Shares issued as equity-based compensation......... 8,659 13,880 21,754
Equity-based compensation, inclusive of tax beneﬁt of

$1,488, $4,665 and $7,925 .. crrerrreererssetesnsssnersninrenn 183,016 14,840 14,551
Balance, end of YEar......c...c.oooecvrinici et 590,663 563,388 534,668
Retained earnings (deficit):
Balance, beginning of year............ccccovveeccccireecscvcscccscnenenen. 96,106 (79,621) (180,571)
NELINCOME ....oovevveervcrerrireecenerrer e veeesaeeresneresseenens cermeerreneaes 160,095 135,727 100,950
Balance, end of YEar........ccovvierreiicrnniinerne e 216,201 56,106 (79,621)
Accumulated other comprehensive income:
Balance, beginning of year ... 54,099 47,976 44,305
Other comprehensive income .. 4,757 11,023 3,671
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No 158 ............................... — {(4,900) —
Balance, end Of Year..........ccvvvresiverrnrinnnnreneesse s 98,856 54,099 47,976
Retained earnings (deficit) and accumulated other

comprehensive income, end Of YEaT.........cvvevnrerrsrevecneennen_ 219,057 110,205 (31,645)
Total shareholders’ equity:
Balance, beginning of year.........eimieceeeeccecensnsininn 138,273 567,694 426,753
Balance, end Of Year...c.cooooooeeeecvvreveenicreerrerese e $930,405 $738,273 $567,694

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity and Other Comprehensive Income (continued)

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007 2006
Comprehensive income:
NELINCOME .ovveeoeeeeeveceeesvssss e ssessssassssessessesssiatsesasnssssisssssaresssnss 9 160,095 § 135727  § 100,950
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:
Foreign currency translation adjustments (nil tax effect).... 7,849 8,785 2,832
Pension liability adjustment, net of tax of $1,008, ($936) and ($361) (3,092) 2,238 839
Total other comprehensive income, net of taX ..., 4,757 11,023 3,671
Total comprehensive INCOME.........ovrmemeeiemiieinrsnissesnir bt 3 164852 % 146,750 § 104,621
Elements of accumulated other comprehensive income:
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Balance, beginning of YEar ..ot $ 58,999 3% 50,214 % 47,382
Fiscal year activity (nil tax effect) ..cocooooien s 7,849 8,785 2,832
Balance, end of YEar.......ccoveimimenicmanresen e 66,848 58,999 50,214
Pension liability adjustments:
Balance, beginning of year ... (4,900) (2,238) 3,07
Fiscal year activity, net of tax of $l 008 ($936) and ($361) ............. (3,092) 2,238 839
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158, net of tax of $2,100..... - (4,900) —
Balance, end 0f Year ... (7,992) (4,900) (2,238)
Total accumulated other comprehensive income:
Total other comprehensive income for year, net of tax ... 4,757 11,023 3,671
Adjustment to initially apply SFAS No. 158, net of tax of $2,100..... - (4,900) -
Total accumulated other comprehensive income, net of 1ax,

DEZINNING OF YEAT 1ovvrvvnoevoreeescersenenssssirsossenes e sssssssssssssssssssserssces 54,099 47,976 44,305
Total accumulated other comprehensive income, net of tax,

$ 58,856 § 54,099 $ 47,976

ENA OF YBAL ovvvveecemiiisisiie et rs st e

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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NDS Group plc
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Note 1. Description of business

NDS Group plc (the “Company”) is domiciled in the United Kingdom, incorporated in Great Britain and registered in England and
Wales. The Company is engaged in the business of supplying open end-to-end digital technology and services to digital pay-
television platform operators and content providers. The Company has customers throughout the world and has research and
development facilities, customer support operations and administrative offices in the United Kingdom, Israel, France, Denmark,
Germany, India, China, Hong Kong, South Korea, Australia and the United States. All reported revenue, expenses, assets,
liabilities and cash flows relate to the continuing operations of the Company and its consolidated subsidiaries.

There is a common management structure across the Company, which ensures that the various subsidiary entities operate in a
coordinated and complementary manner. The business is managed as a single operating unit or segment,

The Company is a majority owned subsidiary of News Corporation and conducts business transactions with a number of affiliates
and subsidiaries of News Corporation.

Note 2. Summary of significant accounting policies

These consolidated financial statements of the Company are stated in U.S. dollars, and have been prepared in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles in the United States (“GAAP”). Unless the text indicates otherwise, all financial
information, except share and per share amounts, is stated in thousands of U.S. dollars.

The Company maintains a 52-53 week fiscal year ending on the Sunday nearest to June 30th. Fiscal 2008 ended on June 29, 2008,
fiscal 2007 ended on July 1, 2007 and fiscal 2006 ended on July 2, 2006. Fiscal 2008, fiscal 2007 and fiscal 2006 each comprised
32 weeks. For convenience purposes, the Company continues to date its financial statements as of June 30.

The significant accounting policies adopted by the Company are summarized below.

a) Principles of consolidation

The Company’s consolidated financial statements include the accounts of all majority-owned and controlled subsidiaries. In
addition, the Company evaluates its relationships with other eatities to identify whether they are variable interest entities in
accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. (“FIN™) 46, “Consolidation of Variable
Interest Entities, an Interpretation of ARB No. 51" as revised in December 2003 (“FIN 46R™), and to assess whether it is the
primary beneficiary of such entities. If the determination is made that the Company is the primary beneficiary, then that entity is
consolidated in accordance with FIN 46R.

All intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated on consolidation. Acquisitions of controlled entities are
accounted for using the purchase method of accounting. The results and cash flows of businesses acquired or sold are consolidated
for the periods from or to the date on which control passed to or from the Company.

b) Use of estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires that management make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated
financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Because of the use of
estimates inherent on the financial reporting process, actual results could differ from those estimates.

¢) Foreign currency

The reporting currency of the Company is the U.S. dollar. The functional currency of each of the entities which are consolidated in
these financial statements is the currency of the primary economic environment in which each entity operates.

Normal trading activities denominated in foreign currencies are recorded in the functional currency of the relevant entity at actual
exchange rates as of the date of the transaction, Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are reported at
the rates of exchange prevailing at the balance sheet date, with any resulting gain or loss being recorded in the consolidated
statement of operations.
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The results and cash flows of entities whose functional currency is not the U.S. dollar are converted into U.S. dollars at the average
rates of exchange during the period and their balance sheets at the rates prevailing at the balance sheet date. Resulting foreign
exchange differences are recorded in other comprehensive income.

d) Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand, cash deposits with banks repayable on demand and fixed term cash deposits
with banks with original maturities of three months or less.

e) Short-term investments
Short-term investments consist of deposits with banks with original maturities of greater than three months.

f) Concentration of credit risk

Cash, cash equivalents and term deposits are maintained with several financial institutions. Deposits held with banks may exceed
the amount of insurance provided on such deposits. These deposits may be redeemed upon demand or have original terms of up to
three months. They are maintained with financial institutions of reputable credit and therefore bear minimal credit risk.

g) Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost (calculated on a first in, first out basis) and market value. Cost represents purchase price
and, in respect of manufactured or processed items, includes an appropriate proportion of production overheads. Market value is
based on estimated selling price, less further costs expected to be incurred to completion and disposal. A reserve is established for
obsolete, slow-moving or defective iterns where appropriate.

Contract work-in-progress represents the cost of purchased goods and services and the direct labor cost of work undertaken for
customer contracts, where such costs can be clearly related to development and integration work for which the associated revenue
has not been recognized.

Where the Company has supplied smart cards and other hardware as an integral part of a support and maintenance contract but has
received no initial sale consideration, the cost of the smart cards is deferred and amortized over the term of the support and
maintenance contract.

h) Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is recorded using the straight-line method over estimated useful lives
of three to five years. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the straight-line method over the shorter of their useful lives or
the life of the lease. Costs associated with the repair and maintenance of property are expensed as incurred.

The Company leases premises which it occupies under operating leases with third party landlords. Rentals, net of incentives, are
recorded in the consolidated statement of operations on a straight-line basis over the primary term of the lease. Incentive payments
related to leasehold improvements are deferred and recorded in the consolidated statement of operations on a straight-line basis
over the primary term of the lease. Cash received under such incentive arrangements is included within net cash provided by
operating activities.

Changes in circumstances, such as technological advances, changes to the Company’s business model or capital strategy or
changes to business plans in different locations, could result in the actual useful lives differing from the Company’s estimates. In
those cases where the Company determines that the useful life of buildings and equipment should be shortened, the Company
would depreciate the asset over its revised remaining useful life thereby increasing depreciation expense. An impairment test is
conducted if circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable and any impairment is recorded in the
consolidated statement of operations in the period in which it is identified.

iy  Goodwill and other intangible assets

The Company follows Statement of Financial Accounting Standard (“SFAS”) No. 142: “Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.”
The standard requires that goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets should not be amortized. However, goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually or more frequently if circumstances indicate that the
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carrying value is impaired. Any impairment is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations in the period in which it is
identified.

Intellectual property rights purchased or licensed by the Company are included at cost as other intangible assets and are amortized
on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives. Intellectual property rights and customer relationships acquired by way of
business combination are included within other intangible assets at fair value estimated as of the date of acquisition. The useful
lives of purchased or licensed intellectual property rights and customer relationships are considered on a case-by-case basis. The
estimates of the periods over which benefits will accrue to the Company in respect of other intangible asests have ranged from
three to fourteen years. An impairment test is conducted if circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable
and any impairment is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations in the period in which it is identified.

J)  Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognized when persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists, the fees are fixed or determinable, the product or
service has been delivered and collectability is reasonably assured. Revenue is stated net of value added and similar taxes. The
Company considers the terms of each arrangement to determine the appropriate accounting treatment.

Where an arrangement includes more than incidental sofrware elements, the Company follows Statement of Position 97-2:
“Software Revenue Recognition” (“SOP 97-2"). Where an arrangement does not involve the supply of software and that
arrangement is separate from an arrangement for the supply of software, the Company follows Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 104:
“Revenue Recognition,” (“SAB 104”) and Emerging Issues Task Force Issue No. 00-21: “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple
Deliverables” (“EITF 00-21”). As the Company’s business develops, other accounting guidance may become applicable.

|
Many of the Company’s contracts contain multiple deliverables. Where an arrangement is accounted for under SOP 97-2, revenue '
from delivered elements is deferred until such time as the Company has vendor specific objective evidence of the value of the |
undelivered elements and the revenue amount is fixed or determinable. Where the only undelivered element is post-contract |
support and the Company does not have vendor specific objective evidence of the value of that post-contract support, the revenue |
from the entire arrangement is recognized over the term of the support period. Where an arrangement is accounted for under
SAB 104 and EITF 00-21, the Company considers whether the various deliverables should be considered separate units of
accounting. In such circumstances, revenues from these arrangements are recognized based on the relative fair values of all the
elements. Where fair value of delivered items cannot be determined, but the fair value of the undelivered elements can be i
determined, the fair valee of the undelivered elements is deferred and the residual revenue is allocated to delivered elements. '
Where it is not possible to allocate consideration to separate deliverables in the manner prescribed by the accounting literature,
revenue is deferred until all items have been delivered.

Smart cards and security maintenance revenue

Most of the arrangements under which the Company generates revenue from the sale of smart cards and the provision of security
maintenance services are accounted for under SAB 104 and EITF 00-21. Revenue derived from sales of smart cards is recognized
upon delivery of the smart cards in accordance with contractual terms. Appropriate provision is made for warranty and similar
arrangements agreed with customers. For some contracts, the Company receives fees from platform operators for the maintenance
of security of the conditional access system for a specified duration. These revenues are recognized over the term of the security
contract in the period in which the security maintenance activities are performed. In some instances, the maintenance of security
includes a requirement to replace a population of smart cards with a supply of “changeover cards” which is considered a separate
unit of accounting. In such instances, an amount of the maintenance income is deferred and is recognized when the changeover
cards are delivered. The amount of such maintenance revenue to be deferred is based on the fair value of the undelivered future
changeover cards.

Saftware revenue

Apart from the arrangements for the supply of smart cards and security maintenance services referred to above, most of the other
arrangements under which the Company generates revenue involve the supply of software and are accounted for under SOP 97-2.
Revenue is deferred until all elements have been delivered or until the Company has vendor specific objective evidence of the fair
value of the undelivered elements. Set-top box royalty income may continue to arise after all elements of an arrangement have been
delivered. Such revenue is recognized when it is fixed or determinable, and this is typically when the Company receives reports
from the platform operator or the set-top box manufacturer of the number of units manufactured or deployed.
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Deferred income

Revenue billed but not recognized is recorded in the Company's consolidated balance sheet as deferred income. Where the revenue
is expected to be recognized within one year of the balance sheet date, the deferred income is classified as a current liability;
otherwise it is classified as a non-current liability.

Payments to customers

In certain situations, the Company has made payments to customers at the inception of a contract which will be repaid out of future
revenues over the term of the contract. Such payments are initially recorded within other assets and subsequently reteased to the
consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the term of the contract, as a reduction in revenue.

(in thousands) Payments
made to

customers

Included within other assets as 0f JULY 1, 2007 ..o.ocvvcuririicrsrremseciicscrsiesineteiss s ssasass e st s sussas s sessiss b s sassen s $ -
Payments made in the Year........coeeenneecnmessisiiene. ceverereiaaes . 33,154
Released to income statement 2s 3 TedUCHON 1N TEVEIIIE ...vveevrre e cvesetarnisinrmermtsiiismesranresssasssstrissssnssamersssassssnrnssssses (5,450)
Included within other assets as of JUNE 30, 2008 ...........eevoreerieiusssrsasiaemeresssresssssssssesassesissassssessssessentsssssissresacsisiess 27.704

Equivalent amounts in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2006 were not material.

k) Research and development costs

Research and development costs are charged to expense when incurred. The total research and development cost was
$198.9 million, $174.4 million and $145.5 million in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

1} Income taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordance with SFAS No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes™ (“SFAS 109”).
SFAS 109 requires an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting for income taxes. Under the asset and
liability approach, deferred taxes are provided for the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Valuation allowances are
established where management determines that it is more likely than not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be
realized. Deferred taxes have not been provided on the cumulative undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries to the extent
amounts are expected to be reinvested indefinitely.

On July 1, 2007, the Company adopted the provisions of FIN No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
interpretation of FAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes” (“FIN 48”), which did not have a material impact to the Company’s
liability for unrecognized tax benefits. ' ‘

The following table summarizes the change in the accrual for uncertain tax positions (excluding interest and penalties):

(in thousands} Accrual for
uncertain tax
positions
Balance a5 OF JULY 1, 2007 .....o.uccurrrmuvesrrressssesecsssssssesmssssssisisssessasssssssssmssesssassssssases s sssssssssnssessssssssasssssssossosasssiosss 9 1,675
Addilions fOr Prior Year tax POSILIOIS ....cuiciiiirsrnecress s st s e 535
Additions fOr CUITENL YEAT LAX POSILONS ...c.vecvrvreiriesraiesetntesssass s stssmse s sresens s ressesns s b s st s e b b e ey s nesosntatss 278
Reduction for Prior YEar tax POSIEONS .....wrierecscseisssesniniasas sttt s s 214)
Balance as 0F JUNE 30, 2008 ......oiiiivereerrerireecsii s ssssssrrresasare s st srssasssn s s a s tss 1418 TR TS e b e R e R R SR TS e h S e s 5 2,274

Substantially all of the total unrecognized tax benefits at June 30, 2008 would affect the Company’s effective income tax rate, if
and when recognized in future fiscal years.
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The implementation impact had no impact on the Company’s consolidated balance sheet as of July 1, 2007. |
The Company recognizes interest and penalty charges related to unrecognized tax benefits as income tax expense, which is |
consistent with the recognition in prior reporting periods. The amount of interest and penalties accrued through July 1, 2007 and as |
of June 30, 2008 was not material.

The Company does not presently anticipate such uncertain income tax positions will significantly increase or decrease in the next
12 months; however, actual developments in this area could differ from those currently expected.

Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs in the United Kingdom has completed its review of the Company’s U.K. tax returns for all
fiscal years through fiscal 2006 and has commenced a review of the Company’s U.K. tax returns for fiscal 2007. Additionally, the
Company’s income tax returns for the fiscal years 2003 through 2007 are under examination in various foreign jurisdictions.

m) Comprehensive income

The Company follows SFAS No. 130, “Reporting Comprehensive Income,” for the reporting and display of comprehensive
income. Comprehensive income comprises net income, foreign currency translation adjustments and certain pension adjustments.

n) Equity-based compensation

The Company follows SFAS No. 123 (Revised 2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). SFAS 123R requires that the cost
resulting from all share-based payment transactions be recognized in the consolidated financial statements. SFAS 123R establishes
fair value as the measurement objective in accounting for share-based payment arrangements and requires all companies to apply a
fair-value-based measurement method in accounting for generally all share-based payment transactions with employees. The
Company adopted SFAS 123R in July 2005 using a modified prospective application, as permitted under SFAS 123R.
Accordingly, prior period amounts have not been restated. Under this application, the Company is required to record compensation
expense for all share-based awards granted after the date of adoption and for the unvested portion of previously granted awards that
remain outstanding at the date of adoption.

The compensation cost attributable to share-based awards that were unvested as of July 1, 2005 was recognized in the income
statemnent using the accelerated attribution method and the same estimates of grant date fair value as had previously been disclosed
in the Company’s consolidated financial statements, For share-based awards granted after July 1, 2003, the compensation cost was
recognized ratably over the vesting period using estimates of fair value made as of the grant date.

Prior to the adoption of SFAS 123R, the Company presented all tax benefits resulting from the exercise of stock options as
operating cash flows in the consolidated statement of cash flows. SFAS 123R requires the cash flows resulting from the tax
benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess of the compensation cost recognized from those stock options (“excess tax
benefits™) to be classified as financing cash flows.

0} Government incentives

The Company benefits from various government incentives in certain countries in which it operates. The Company has received
grants from the government of the State of Israel towards the cost of certain plant, property and equipment. Such grants are treated
as a reduction in the cost of the related asset. The Company has received grants from the French Government and the European
Union towards the cost of certain research and development projects. Such grants are treated as a reduction in research and
development costs in the consolidated statement of operations. In certain jurisdictions, the Company benefits from reduced income
tax rates and/or the benefit of certain tax allowances. Such benefits reduce the Company’s income tax expense.

p) New accounting pronouncements

Business acquisitions and disposals

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141(revised 2007), “Business Combinations™ (“SFAS No, 141R”). SFAS No.
141R significantty changes the accounting for business combinations in a number of areas, including the treatment of contingent
consideration, pre-acquisition contingencies, transaction costs, in-process research and development and restructuring costs. In
addition, under SFAS No. 141R, changes in an acquired entity’s deferred tax assets and uncertain tax positions after the
measurement period will impact income tax expense. SFAS No. 141R will become effective for the Company in the first quarter of
fiscal 2010. This standard will change the Company’s accounting treatment for business combinations on a prospective basts.
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In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, “Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements, an
amendment of ARB No. 51” (“SFAS No. 160”). SFAS No. 160 changes the accounting and reporting for minority interests, which
will be recharacterized as noncontrolling interests and classified as a component of equity. This new consolidation method
significantly changes the accounting for transactions involving minority interest holders. SFAS No. 160 will become effective for
the Company in the first quarter of fiscal 2010. This standard will change the Company’s accounting treatment for transactions
involving any minority interest holders.

Other ‘

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157™), which establishes a
framework for measuring fair value and expands the related disclosure requirements. Certain provisions of SFAS 157 related to
financial assets and liabilities as well as other assets and liabilities carried at fair value on a recurring basis will become effective
for the Company beginning in fiscal 2009 and are not expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial statements.
The provisions of SFAS 157 related to other nonfinancial assets and liabilities will be effective for the Company beginning in
fiscal 2010 and will be applied prospectively.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities Including
an amendment of FASB Statement No. 115" (“SFAS No. 159”). SFAS No. 159 allows companies to choose to measure many
financial instruments and certain other items at fair value. SFAS No. 159 will become effective for the Company beginning in
fiscal 2009. The Company is currently evaluating what effects the adoption of SFAS Ne. 159 will have on the Company’s future
consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

In March 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) issued EITF Issue No. 07-3, “Accounting for Nonrefundable Advance
Payment for Goods or Services to Be Used in Future Research and Development Activities” (“EITF 07-3"). EITF 07-3 requires
that nonrefundable advance payments for future research and development activities be deferred and capitalized. EITF 07-3
requires that such amounts be recognized as an expense as the goods are delivered or the related services are performed. If,
subsequently, based on management’s assessment, it is no longer expected that the goods will be delivered or services will be
rendered, then EITF 07-3 requires that the capitalized advance payment be charged to expense. EITF 07-3 will be effective for the
Company beginning in fiscal 2009. The Company does not anticipate that the adoption of EITF 07-3 will have any material impact
on the Company’s future consolidated results of operations and financial condition.

Note 3. Net income per share

Basic net income per share is calculated as net income divided by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue in each
period. The interests of ordinary shareholders may be diluted due to the existence of equity awards granted to employees. The
dilutive effect of potential shares to be issued pursuant to outstanding equity awards has been calculated using the treasury method
and as such, is a function of the average share price in each period. The Company has two classes of ordinary shares: Series A
ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share (“Series A Ordinary Shares”) and Series B ordinary shares, par value $0.01 per share
(“Series B Ordinary Shares”), which have equal rights except in respect of voting and, as such, have equal weighting in the
calculation of net income per share and equal net income per share.

The numerator for the calculations of net income per share is net income. The denominator for the calculations is the weighted
average number of ordinary shares, as follows:
For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue.......ccccevvicien 58,023,358 57,227,347 56,082,819
Effect of dilutive equity awards...........coivivirmimnnnesininesnsnreseens 936,646 938,599 1,917,352
Denominator for dilutive net income per share .........cccvvvceenmiiiinienns 58,960,004 58,162,946 58,000,171
Anti-dilutive equity awards excluded from calculation ...........ceeueee. 20,933 189,593 971,168
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Note 4,  Acquisitions
Fiscal 2008 transaction

In August 2007, the Company acquired CastUp, Inc., a provider of solutions for the hosting, management and distribution of video
over the Internet, for initial cash consideration and costs of $10.4 million. A further payment of approximately $0.9 million is
expected to be paid during the fiscal year ending June 30, 2009. The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired was as follows:

(in thousands) Fair Value

CASD...ooieretie s sebees et e bt ie et e e e et e st se s s b as 4 s b et e e A SR b et e s eAeRea AR saeA et At e At easa st aaa R R et SR s venaeReRaR e sRrane et ananretebetterereans B 24
OLNET CUITEIIT ASSELS 1erseeeereruarieseateirrraertrrrrsrrssssninssanasesssssssterrabersss rsssseiatstasseressnssssssess 144beoseresannarsseresstnsnasesssasessssnsnrn 933
OLher INLANEIDIES ......cocrvrimrireereimirreereiniisesretsiet e nrrasresss e sser st sasesesssusasseseve st sasusns s T sessesnasstnsensasssasstssmusnsasssnsasanerens 4,301
OthEr JONZ-TEITI BSSELS ... vreeeeeuiriieereisrine sttt sras s s e st e s bbb dva st s s d st Sttt E e e ba b et e E s s st st s s e b s bt essarts 88
CUITENT LHADITILES ....cocverieceeiceicesiee v iis st s ssesssatsbeses e vesns s s sassaabasEsbesssis b LA aa sst LA sme Rt b e vesRs e snnt s b e ses b s L e b s abspina s bhs (1,093)
DefErTed tAK LIADILILIES 1vvocvvvrvr s eriiiiiei e iesssess e e s s sr b st hs s ba bbb b bsrnesne e srens sabaE R LTRSS b b 1nba ke bnbsthe st banennereentesne (1,290)
OHNET LADIILIES ......cvioeeveeetirerie et eisire e te e asee e s ee e s b e e et s ae s seansea e b e smssaseese b bsre st s baneanate e e seasanenertesmasabastasnsasss (107

TOA] COMSIABTALION .1eevveeveraesiui i eetee st et s sessasetestbs s ibeseeseeeteeberrssaresbeseabssbssobsbaba sasasbssbessssnsnsnssanssssassentesbsssnssststtasstnnns D 11,273

Other intangible assets acquired comprise intellectual property rights and customer relationships that are being amortized over their
expected useful lives of between five and 14 years.

Fiscal 2007 transactions

In December 2006, the Company completed the acquisition of Jungo Limited (“Jungo™), an Israeli-based developer and supplier of
software for use in residential gateway devices. The initial consideration paid in cash, including acquisition related costs, was
$91.1 million ($77.6 million, net of cash acquired). The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired was as follows:

(in thousands) Fair Value

0T T OO OO SV U TSROSOV OSSOSO URUOROUUUTRS. 13,572
OLNET CUITEIIL ASSELS .vviirevisrereiiiiisiistniiiseieeeeesteseaecresssntrsssstessnsssonsssssstessmmsnssasasssstesseansessnresssbsssssbssstassessmnsiesanesansmeess 3,340
GOOAWINL ...t et ettt e et et e e eeaseassere e ebeebe e s e b b esaetssebeshsarss s msenmenseenteentenretntsRmessabseatssaesasesessreanessnns snes 53,257
Other INIANZIDIES «...eoviitieeiccreeer e s bbb b b e s eSS b bbb asem s ranasonsarerens 28,400
OLher JONZ-LEITN ASSELS ....ceoeurererearearmrirersssesirerasassstssesebasias e saecm et aesase et ssessares s ssase bbb s ban et eere s rasarasasteraenne 1,319
LTI ENE JHADIIIEIES .. v eeeeeceeeeeeere e svst ittt e esrsee s sasab e s e nmee e seeansesssesnesarntrsnssesesnte erssrentsbs b sammeessneeeermssrnneresrenesessaessrans (3,323)
Deferred tax HHABIIIIES ... covr et ciiit b i s e e re e e sres s te e s sbsbasstnrssbabssstaasssosssensntasnsresssasnsnsssnsvrrnssssastiatsbasasass (3,865)
ONET THABIIITIES ........ooivereiieceercietiesrerte i e eseeeeateea s eescesseseeeraassentashesanesssatsssesrnnenessareseante st esnannssreesarsaest s asennestmnstennsonen (1,568)

TOAL CONSIARTALION ...cuveeeereie ettt eess et sresbestee b st b soerreebesebaasssreesasasbarraebesbssabtsababb e bt sabesasraseesssansnssabevabesbsasbasnssbssabssats $ 91,132

The Company acquired Jungo to enable the development an integrated solution for enhanced television and broadband services.
Other intangible assets acquired comprise intellectual property rights and customer relationships that are being amortized over their
expected useful lives of between five and fourteen years.
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The following unaudited pro forma consolidated results of operations for the two fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 assume that the
acquisition of Jungo was completed on July 1, 2005.

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2007 20006

REVETILC ....oooececeieievseseseseeseseseesnssesesasesssstassesessnersstasasaseest s isssasatasasnsasasasassntnsntsssasesnresnsce B 719,000 $ 612,161
INEE IMCOIMIE o.eeeeeeiiirissreesesene s sseasneesesabaassstn s s brasareee e e e mereends e b ad s et et s s bR e eabas s st berarnssvRbnesann 136,455 100,015

Basic NEt iNCOME PEE SHATE ......cvvveereeereeerirereieteireesanrsrsmcsem e sieeestsssstateessassesss s s assssasanns $2.38 $1.78
Diluted net inCome PET SHATE ..........covuvriimiiisiiin s nes $2.35 $1.72

Pro forma data may not be indicative of the results that would have been obtained had these events actually occurred at the
beginning of the periods presented, nor does it intend to be a projection of future results.

In September 2006, the Company acquired Interactive Television Entertainment ApS, a company based in Copenhagen, Denmark,
which specializes in the development of video games published on multiple gaming platforms, for cash consideration, including
costs, of $1.9 million. The Company also assumed debt of $1.3 million, which was repaid in early October 2006 and is regarded as
part of the initial purchase consideration. The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired was as follows:

(in thousands) Fair Value

A5 10t e e e e eeueeeeetesessbesasesat et e saenesnes s e e s et et areem et e R e v e T as AT en em st emre bt iAseR L be b e e e S e R e rR L e AR e e e rt s h R e n et e asa e e E Rt e s $ 5
DUHET CUITENE ASSELES 1.ivuveieeeveiainereiseissssesssssssstetrerssnsissnresrsssyasnseeaooeasiatssssbasssernrssasasresattieshbneosrntsssrassasnsesennasssstrsrsssass 955
GOOAWILL..ee.veeveeervireeeeeeeeeeeeeestssssesssrstsss s b eabesasesasamseabeas b e asrasens s reeseenravs e nseamermmebe s Eheo e s LesR e e me R s s bR s b et et AT TR e rnsa b e e s s eaes 768
Oher INTANEIDLES ..o e sR bbbt 1,973
DIEFEITEA TAX ASSELS...uviervirrseearemietieeeeeseiisesaessseresrtasssnrnssresesenteratessssnnasnasresrnranscnsssassbeisdabbsabeessarensaenrna aastssbaarpransess 1,191
OLher LONZ-TEITI ASSELS .......ooiiiiisrstiiiins et sar e e st a e sa s e e sea s ra e E et L4 baL RS R R LR L LR SRR 4B b PR oA 1T TR g en st 137
CUITEIE LIADAIIEIES . .veeeeecoeeeeeeeeecteeseietassaneessneessssssasnssnsssnerasssasesenesstarssranmesanesas s sedsebbts sorbssssaassnsstbesnsattinbessetessissenssnsnnes (1,836)

T OLA] COMSIACTALION ...ve1eeresasereeeeeeeeemeesetssresseseesseresssensssssssssssasssasasnerestssstsssensasasnsasasassetatatatstessssssssbatasntnsassessseseserereres 9 3,193

The intangible assets acquired comprise intellectual property rights which are being amortized over their expected useful lives of
five years,

Fiscal 2006 transactions

In September 2005, the Company acquired NT Media Limited (“NT Media™), a developer of gaming applications, for initial
consideration of $3.2 million paid in cash. The fair value of assets and liabilities acquired was as follows:

(in thousands) Fair Value

ODET CUITENE BSSEES c.vveevrererieriereerersreearesssersneseerarsnnconnarnssec e essssarsdbssd s edsthssbssasssas b as e s e L e e bR s O T ea 04 PR g amne s e e s eemmt bt bbb 347
GOOAWIIL. ...oootiiiiiesee s iie v e se e e s e erses e sas st eueste e e s asnnatesrsrasane e oot eemebaeab s 1L s 4dsababe SRS h SR b e b e SR d e bR SR TR AR FbRR T 1E e egaet s s nbearis 9216
OHNET INEARZIDIES ......oirvireeeaeerere e ceenm e recersr s e reeresbetssrar et e ar b sa s o s e s s semea st e b s e ba ke bt oEHA ket e R e AR LR s e s T s e ems s emes 3,054
OHNET BONGAELIIL ASSELS ....ueevereerrrereercrermestsreressarttasressaresrsr s sr s e esmasees e o4 abe b b eaba L 44 e L s barhsa e aS e s a s e aR s s e n s o s en s s s s e er bbb s bbb 21
CUITENE HABIIILES .....ivviesiiiiiiierneesssmeseeeseesssrerreesassssessubesrasssnsssasanseesseesse s besebt s 1 s sobassbns s ses she s ba s rr e e i e T s b A s s n e e samennmnsarasas (303)
L0 o o T 13| T OO U O P U RO PP PP 917

T 01l COMSIAETAION o vvvemeeeeeeeeeeeemeeeseves st eerarasessessssesssasesesssnsansnseseasseasssbesasesensetstesrassnsasntesmssasasesatesnssasssnssnssnsessarorases B 3,185

The intangible assets acquired comprise intellectual property rights which are being amortized over their expected useful lives of
five years.

The NT Media purchase agreements provided that additional consideration may be payable in cash, contingent upon the business
achieving certain targets through September 1, 2008. As of June 30, 2007, approximately $2.4 million of contingent consideration
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had been paid and a further $0.8 miltion accrued, all of which has been recorded within the consolidated statement of operations, A
further maximum amount of $1.5 million may be recorded within the consolidated statement of operations in future periods.
During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, goodwill was reduced by $0.2 million upon the favorable resolution of a tax
contingency for which no benefit was recognized as of the date of acquisition.

Note 5. Inventories

As of June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Unprocessed smart cards and their COMPONENLS ... .c.covverrivesrmmmnsrersssiinissessesssesssereres s 61,364 $ 51,630
INVENIOIY FESEIVES ..oouiitiiiiieeee et eiecesamre s e rasarr s e s e s s be e essesssabesnssasnsnsansnreses (4,369) (2,434)

56,995 49,196
Deferred SINATT CATD COBIS ..cvvviminiiirieerreiiesceisissseessesressessrssssessesssossssssenssssassessss sasesnes 16,216 2,476
CONtract WOTK-IN-PIOBTESS .......coceceuuiuiverrrerieieerise st sesasa s e sessssasbe e e atatatabesnsnssans 6,448 2,461
TOtAl INVEIIOTIES . ....eceeererereeeeinrrrieeseesiessesseraessassssetesbasssenbesasssnasbssassmmsamnnresoressesnresnres $ 79,659 $ 54,133

Unprocessed smart cards and their components are considered to be in the state of work-in-progress. Deferred smart card costs
represent the book value of smart cards shipped to customers but for which revenue had not been recognized as of the balance
sheet date.

The computer chips used in smart cards are purchased from a limited number of suppliers, In the event of a disruption of supply,
including a shortage of manufacturing capacity, the Company may be unable to develop an alternative source in a timely manner or
at favorable prices. Such failure could harm the Company’s ability to deliver smart cards to its customers or could negatively affect
operating margins.

Certain computer chips and smart cards have no use other than for the customer for whom they were purchased. On occasions, the
Company purchases inventory in excess of amounts covered by firm customer orders. The Company often bears the risk of surplus
inventory in these circumstances. Provision is made for surplus or obsolete inventory and historically, amounts written off in
excess of reserves have not been significant.

Note 6. Accounts receivable

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
GroSs AMOUNE UE......cocviviiirirereercinrieneeeieesi e seeste e sessesrste s stessrestestesssmsbeseesessenenseresesseses $ 127,621 $ 134,796
Le55 VAIUALION TESEIVES 1iiiitiiiriretrieistenererseessressessessessesesssressssessntesesserevaresesssrssssossosies (1,490} {172)
b 126,131 $ 134,624

Two customers, both of whom are related parties, accounted for an aggregate of 34.2% of gross accounts receivable as of June 30,
2008. A third customer accounied for 10.5% of gross accounts receivable as of June 30, 2008. No other custorner individually
accounted for more than 5% of gross accounts receivable.
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Note 7.  Property, plant and equipment
As of June 30,

(in thousands)} Useful Lives 2008 2007

Leasehold improvements...........covevrerereroerensrerecscnsmisiinsmssissns 3to 7 years $ 28041 $ 26,297
Plant and eqUIPMENt .......ccovrvvisiinimsririri s smen s s bseassases 2 to 5 years 126,341 120,567

154,382 146,864
Less accurnulated depreciation ...........ccoveiuerirevesnroresserrc e siems it isise b ssssbere s ssssnsens (104,641) (92,063)

Total property, plant and €qUIPIENT, NEL........cnirirmeemnnsimicssreisiniessasarserssissssnsenniesssisses 9 49,741 $ 54,801

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006

Depreciation related to property, plant and equipment.........ivieee $ 22368 % 19240 17,058

Operating [ease EXPENSE ....vvveveeerrrericacrennrrcresarisiesesessessasessrsessscacenrs B 22,655 $ 18,500 % 16,118

Estimated future minimum rental payments under operating lease arrangements existing as of June 30, 2008 were as follows:

(in thousands) Minimum
Rental
Payments

FASCAL 200D .. eoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeetetssesesesessemsssessssensmemsssesesseaebebs bk abb s et st st veveve B babanns s s seraseasnsrerasasarssensmresensarnnsatsssaasis P 25,636
FASCAL 2010 1.uoereieiiieieieeciisi i st settseesrees et aessesaesbresastesereemsaasenseentee s e sesabasasabss s EaabEaa s e saresssnRe e b enrnsubssae et R b e b e s rssnessanansres 22,215
| T 1 Bes 1) 1 OO OOV OO 16,876
FISCAL 2002 .ot seterevesesressts s resseternrsssnsnsessamnanns sk besebaaess44abeabbaaeabd st e e be i sas PRt e e as b nesaEsarasare s srmasnsssaseermbbibdsibason 14,768
FASCAL 2003 oo sereereres sttt scvee et asb s saaaea e vamanmesea s e e snenme s ke edaeeaatsaressRE s Haas e s e SRR R e rE R R AAE SRR TSR RR LS Re e T TSRS e nn s e nneeaesat 12,045
B (T8 = (1 = P O VSO 26,709

Total MINiMUM TENLAL PAYINEILS ....ccoviriereersiesaessereesesearsssesesestrsstsissessssssssorsinsmssesssssiesessasssas et st sssasssasresessansrarassssans L 118,249

Certain of the Company’s property leases contain terms that permit upwards-only rent reviews. It is not possible to quantify the
effect, if any, that such reviews may have on future rental payments.

Note 8. Goodwill and other intangible assets

Goodwill
The movement in goodwill during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 was as follows:

(in thousands) Goodwill

BEZIMNING OF YEAT .....u.cvevctesvreeseseisisse e s ssssse s ss e st ce et bbb bR s bR bR nsnt D 124,614
AJItIONS (SEE INOE 4)...eeiuiiieiiieireeeceiarerrrsrarrrrsesrers e s aeaeeeseeaecee et s thssbbsbesa b essE s saaons shn s e aesbss s hb bR Re bR RN e saasaresnsamneam e seeassabes 8417
L0 11 1<) SO OSSO U O OO PO 217)

Foreign eXChange MOVEIMIEIIE . ... vviiiisiiiisrirsisisiistssis o s rsss e s esetsa et s b s s b sd st e b e sasn s a b ns st s an s s e e e ns T rrsanarorssrsacens 1,879

ENA O YEAI c..vuvivuitueiereieeieiessiessessenssss s rssssas ssssontses e sss et aess s bR AR SRRSO st D 134,693
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Other intangibles
Other intangible assets comprise intellectual property rights and customer relationships:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) Useful Lives 2008 2007
Intellectual property fights ..o reenenans 3 to 10 years $ 92,229 § 90,320
Customer relationships ..........o.ovviivivessierincsnmneeiiee e Up to 14 years 22,084 17,500
114,313 107,820

Less accumulated AMOTTZALOML. ... ... ovaecinersssscemiessasesisssssssesssssasssesasssssnsssnssasssassas sessmrns (58,507) (44 740)
Other INANGIBIES, NEl........cocoieuieiiceece ettt ettt sttt st et $ 55,806 % 63,080
(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

: 2008 2007 2006
Amortization of other intangibles.........cccocieeeveriiniccrennninnnsnnen, $ 13,293  § 11,347  § 9,453

Based on the current amount of intangible assets subject to amortization, the estimated amortization expense for each of the next
succeeding five fiscal years is as follows: fiscal 2009 — $13.4 million; fiscal 2010 — $13.4 million; fiscal 2011 — $8.3 million;
fiscal 2012 — $3.5 million; and fiscal 2013 — $2.7 millicn.

Note 9. Deferred income

As of June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007
Deferred SECUIIY fBE5........oceeiirrrrreeececirrseesi et se e e et et v ey vessaser s rasans $ 135175 % 180,009
Advance receipts and other deferred inCOME.......cccoiviiiirceririnii i 72,243 53,285
Total deferTed INCOIMIE .....ovviivicvereeeriiiesrerei e ceee et e cneemeeree st esseeraeebssassbesatssaesnsessaranons $ 207,418 $ 233,294
Included within current Habilities ........coceeveimiienin e s i tms e s s s reee P 128,318 $ 75,777
Included within non-current HabilItes . ...c..oo e s rsss s ans e 79,100 157,517

b 207,418 $ 233,294

Note 10. Sharcholders’ equity

The Company has two classes of ordinary shares: Series A Ordinary Shares and Series B Ordinary Shares. The Series B Ordinary
Shares are all owned by News Corporation. Substantially all of the Series A Ordinary Shares are held by The Bank of New York as
depositary to support American Depositary Shares which are traded on The NASDAQ Stock Market (“NASDAQ”). News
Corporation has no interest in any of the Series A Ordinary Shares.

Holders of the two classes of ordinary shares have the same shareholder rights, except that the Series A Ordinary Shares are
entitled to one vote per share and the Series B Ordinary Shares are entitled to ten votes per share. The Series B Ordinary Shares
may be converted by the shareholder into Series A Ordinary Shares, at the election of the shareholder at any time. Automatic
conversion will occur if any sale, transfer or other disposal results in the cessation of the ultimate beneficial ownership of the
Series B Ordinary Shares being retained by entities controlied by News Corporation.

The Company also has outstanding 42,000,002 Deferred Shares, par value £1 per share (“Deferred Shares™), all of which are
owned by News Corporation. The Deferred Shares do not entitle the holders thereof to receive notice of, or attend or vote at,
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meetings of shareholders of the Company, or to receive dividends. Upon liquidation of the Company, the Deferred Shares entitle
the holders to repayment of the capital paid up on those shares, but only after each holder of ordinary shares has received (i) the
amount paid up the shares held by such holder and (ii) an additional sum of $1 million per share.

Note 11. Related party transactions

The Company conducts business transactions with News Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates. These entities are
considered 1o be related parties under SFAS No. 57, “Related Party Disclosures.” Agreements covering arrangements between
News Corporation’s subsidiaries or affiliates and the Company are entered into in the context of two entities over which a third
entity exercises significant influence or control. Therefore, there can be no assurance that each of the agreements, the transactions
provided for therein or any amendments thereof will be effected on terms at least as favorable to the Company as could have been
obtained from unaffiliated third parties. Any new contracts with related parties or significant amendments to such contracts are
approved by the Audit Committee (the “Audit Committee™) of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) in accordance with
NASDAQ listing requirements.

These transactions are of three main types: the provision by the Company of technology and services for digital pay-television
systems; the payment by the Company of royalties for the use of certain intellectual property rights; and the receipt by the
Company of some administration and finance services.

a) Provision of technology and services

Technology and services for digital pay-television platform operators are supplied to affiliates and subsidiaries of News
Corporation. The principal related parties to whom the Company supplied such services throughout the period covered by these
consolidated financial statements are BSkyB, FOXTEL, Sky Network Television and Tata Sky (all of which currently are affiliates
of News Corporation), and SKY Italia and STAR TV (both of which are wholly owned subsidiaries of News Corporation). Until
February 2008, News Corporation held a 41% interest in DIRECTV. In February 2008, News Corporation divested of its entire
interest in its affiliate DIRECTV; therefore, the Company no longer considers DIRECTV or its affiliates DIRECTV Latin America,
Sky Brasil and Sky Mexico, to be related parties. In April 2008, News Corporation increased its interest in Premiere AG
(“Premiere”), a customer of the Company, to a level where it is now considered to be a related party.

Revenue recognized from such related parties was as follows:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2008 2007 2006
Revenue from related parties ........ooo..coocvvnreconnrnnessssssssssesssessnnes $ 493375 § 518,238  § 458,042

(” Includes revenue from DIRECTV and its affiliates through February 2008 and revenue from Premiere from April 2008.

Included within the consolidated balance sheet are the following amounts in respect of normal sales transactions with related
parties:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 © 2007 @
ACCOUNLS TECEIVABIE 11vvvviieiiiiee e ceeceeie e caesae s st esstesssss s baesaessnt e R rssraesssnnenbesasnabes $ 50,339 $ 89,711
ACCTUEH INICOMIR. ... . evveeeseaenrmrsasnasasereeereeasesaasaaeamme s bt beesssssstsssastasasasarnrnsnrasessesssnresnsresss 11,299 26,854
NET BSSEES 1oeievvrrerreeeireresarseesssnresasmerasseeamseessssmmessetesesstssassssasbssanrnssassssnarnnsssasensnsasss 27,704 _
Deferred JNCOMIE ........cocoveereiererveereserersrrrsnerseresrassrers s resmaesosbessdsasssuss ssssnssssssnestesassansnn $ (73,099) 3% (200,478)

®  Includes items in respect of Premiere.

@ Includes items in respect of DIRECTYV and its affiliates.
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b} Royalty payments
A royalty is payable to a related party in respect of certain intellectual property rights that the Company has licensed for use in

certain applications supplied to customers. The royalty expense in respect of this related party arrangement, which is included
within cost of goods and services sold, was as follows:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006

Royalties payable (0 related Party .........ooovvevvcommrrsssiessssssssicosminnns 9 3812 § 3036 % 2,138

Included within the consolidated balance sheet are the following amounts in respect of royalties payable to a related party:

As of June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007

ACCTUEH EXPEINSES ...vvvvevereeneeeetesssrasissssssrsssssssssissessssssesesesssssasarssssassssesssssssssssmssnsassssins 3,148 $ 3,553

¢) Administration and finance services

News Corporation provides services under a Master Intercompany Agreement that provides, among other things, for arrangements
governing the relationship between the Company and News Corporation. The consideration for each of the services and other
arrangements set forth in the Master Intercompany Agreement is mutually agreed and based upon allocated costs. All such
consideration and any material arrangements are subject to the approval of the Audit Committee. The services covered by the
Master Intercompany Agreement include cash management and financing, services of News Corporation employees, facility
arrangements and employee matters, including pensions and certain other services.

Administration fees charged to the Company in respect of these services were as follows:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006

Administration fees charged by related parties.....ccocevvivccenvnivvcrnee. § 148 % 284 % 173

As part of these administration and finance services, News Corporation pays certain costs {(principally certain payroll, employee
benefits, legal and property expenses) on behalf of the Company. The Company reimburses News Corporation for such payments,
typically the month following that in which the payment was made by a subsidiary of News Corporation. Included within the
consolidated balance sheets are the following amounts that were owed to News Corporation in respect of administrative services
and other costs paid by News Corporation on behalf of the Company:

As of June 30,

(in thousands} 2008 2007

ACCOUNLS PAYADLE ...t et st ss st stnreees B 4,846 $ 2,165

d) Other

The Company has a short-term loan facility of £30 million (approximately $60 million) from a subsidiary of News Corporation.
The facility has no expiry date and no amounts were drawn down as of June 30, 2008 or June 30, 2007. The facility is considered
to be adequate for the Company’s needs,

The Company has entered into cross-guarantees with HSBC Bank plc (“HSBC”) providing mutual guarantees with other
subsidiaries of News Corporation for amounts owed to HSBC under a collective overdraft facility of £20 million {(approximately
$40 million). News Corporation has indemnified the Company against any liabilities which the Company may be required to pay
under these cross-guarantees. The Company has been informed by News Corporation that no amounts were owed to HSBC as of
June 30, 2008 or June 30, 2007 which would be covered by these guarantees.
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Note 12. Contingencies and commitments

|

' a) Firm commitments

| The Company has commitments under certain firm contractual arrangements (“firm commitments™) to make future payments.

| These firm commitments secure the future rights to various assets and services to be used in the normal course of operations. The
following table summarizes the Company’s material firm commitments at June 30, 2008.

As of June 30, 2008
Payments Due by Period
More
Less than than §
(in thousands) Total 1 year 1-3 years  3-5 years years
Operating lease 0bligations ........c.ccovveeverererecnesenencnennas $ 118,249 $ 25,636 $ 39,091 $ 26,813 $ 26,709
Smart card purchase obligations..........c.ccevreeerrereenrencnns 25,540 25,540 — - -

$ 143,789 $ 51,176  $ 39,091 $ 26,813  § 26,709

b) Litigation

Echostar Litigation

On June 6, 2003, Echostar Communications Corporation, Echostar Satellite Corporation, Echostar Technologies Corporation and
Nagrastar L.L.C. (collectively, “Echostar”) filed an action against us the Company the United States District Court for the Central
District of California. That complaint purported to allege claims for violation of the Digital Millennium Copyright Act (“"DMCA™),
the Communications Act of 1934 (“Communications Act”), the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, the Computer Fraud and
Abuse Act, California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL") and the federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations
(“RICO”) statute. The complaint also purported to allege claims for civil conspiracy, misappropriation of trade secrets and
interference with prospective business advantage. The complaint sought injunctive relief, unspecified compensatory and exemplary
damages and restitution. Extensive motion practice ensued regarding this complaint, regarding subsequent complaints filed by
Echostar, and regarding counterclaims asserted by the Company.

The trial of this case began April 9, 2008. Echostar’s claims under the DMCA, the Communications Act, the California Penal
Code, and RICO were tried to the jury, Echostar’s UCL claim was tried to the court and the Company’s counterclaim under the
California Uniform Trade Secrets Act was tried to the jury. All other claims were either dismissed by the court or abandoned by
the parties.

On May 15, 2008, the jury returned its verdict. The jury found the Company not liable on three counts and awarded minimal
damages on the remaining three counts. On those latter three counts, the jury awarded Echostar actual damages of $45.69 or, in the
alternative, statutory damages of $1,000. The Company believes that these awards relate to a single incident involving a test of a
card during the course of the Company’s anti-piracy efforts. The jury found Echostar not liable on the Company’s counterclaim.

One claim, Echostar’s UCL claim, has not yet been decided. By law, this claim must be decided by the judge rather than the jury.
Any ruling on that claim must be consistent with the jury’s verdict, however, and the court has not yet provided a decision on the
UCL claim. A hearing on the UCL claim has been set for August 19, 2008.

Echostar has expressed publicly an intention to seek an award of attorneys’ fees and costs. The Company believes that any such
claim by Echostar would be without merit and intends to vigorously defend against any such claim.

Sogecable Litigation

On July 25, 2003, Sogecable, S.A. and its subsidiary Canalsatellite Digital, S.L., Spanish satellite broadcasters and customers of
Canal+ Technologies SA (together, “Sogecable™), filed an action against the Company in the United States District Court for the
Central District of California. Sogecable filed an amended complaint on October 9, 2003, which purported to allege claims for
violation of the DMCA and the RICO statute. The amended complaint also purported to allege claims for interference with contract
and prospective business advantage. The complaint sought injunctive relief, unspecified compensatory and exemplary damages and
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restitution. On December 22, 2003, all of the claims were dismissed by the court. Sogecable filed a second amended complaint.
The Company filed a motion to dismiss the second amended complaint on March 31, 2004. On August 4, 2004, the court issued an
order dismissing the second amended complaint in its entirety. Sogecable had until October 4, 2004 to file a third amended
complaint. On October 1, 2004, Sogecable notified the court that it would not be filing a third amended complaint, but would
appeal the court’s eniry of final judgment dismissing the suit to the United States Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. On December 14,
2006, the appellate court issued a memorandum decision reversing the district court’s dismissal. On January 26, 2007, the
Company filed its petition for rehearing by an en banc panel of the United States Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals. On February 21,
2007, the petition was denied. On June 11, 2007, the Company filed a petition for a Writ of Certiorari in the United States Supreme
Court seeking reversal of the Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals’ decision. On August 27, 2007, the Company renewed its motion to
dismiss the second amended complaint on grounds not previously decided. On October 1, 2007, the petition for Writ of Certiorari
was denied. On January 25, 2008, the court issued an order granting-in-part and denying-in-part the Company’s renewed motion to
dismiss Sogecable’s second amended complaint. The court dismissed Sogecable’s claim for tortuous interference with prospective
economic advantage, but allowed Sogecable to proceed on its RICO and DMCA claims, as well as its claim for tortucus
interference with contract. The court has set February 16, 2010 as the trial date. The Company believes that Sogecable’s claims are
without merit and will continue to vigorously defend itself in this matter.

¢) Government grants

The Company has received grants from the government of the State of Israel towards the cost of certain capital expenditure. If the
conditions of these grants are not complied with, the grants may be required to be refunded, in whole or in part, with interest from
the date of receipt. The major conditions relating to a grant concem the maintenance of adequate non-distributable reserves and
retention of the associated assets for a set period of time. The cumulative amount received and receivable as of June 30, 2008 was
approximately $17.1 million. It is not anticipated that any repayment of these grants will be required. Property, plant and
equipment situated in Israel with a net book value of $10.1 million as of June 30, 2008 is the subject of a lien to secure compliance
with the terms of the grants.

d) Guarantees

In the normal course of business, the Company provides, and from time to time makes payments in respect of, indemnification
agreements of varying scopes, including warranties concerning the security of the Company’s smart cards, limited product
warranties and indemnification of customers against claims of intellectual property infringement made by third parties arising from
the use of the Company’s products or services. Also, the Company may be subject to liquidated damages in the event of late
delivery of goods or services. The nature of these commitments has been considered in determining the revenue and costs
recognized in these consolidated financial statements. Costs are accrued for known warranty and indemnification issues if a loss is
probable and can be reasonably estimated. Historically, costs related to these warranties and indemnification agreements have not
been significant, but because potential future costs are highly variable, the Company is unable to estimate the maximum potential
impact of these guarantees on the Company’s future results of operations.

e) Other

The nature of the Company’s business is such that it may be subject to claims by third parties alleging infringements of various
intellectual property rights. The Company intends to vigorously defend against any such claims. Where a liability arising from
these claims is probable, an accrual is made based on management’s best estimate. It is not anticipated that any resulting liability in
excess of amounts recognized in these consolidated financial statements will materially affect the Company’s financial position.

Amounts payable by the Company under certain contracts are subject to audit rights held by third parties and the terms of such
contracts may be open to subjective interpretation. The Company settles its liabilities under such contracts based on its assessment
of the amounts due. However, it may be subject to claims that the amounts paid are incorrect. It is not anticipated that any resulting
liability in excess of amounts recognized in these consolidated financial statements will materially affect the Company’s financial
position.

The Company experiences routine litigation in the normal course of its business. The Company believes that none of its pending
litigation will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition, future results of operations or liquidity.

The Company’s operations are subject to tax in various domestic and international jurisdictions and, as a matter of course, the
Company is regularly audited by U.K. and overseas tax authorities. The Company believes it has appropriately accrued for the
expected outcome of all pending tax matters and does not currently anticipate that the ultimate resolution of pending tax matters
will have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial condition, future results of operations or liquidity.
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Note 13. Equity-based compensation
The following amounts have been recorded in the consolidated financial statements relating to equity-based compensation:

(in thousands, except share numbers}) For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2008 2007 2006
Number of shares issued in respect of stock options exercised........... 469,638 845,652 1,554,716
Number of shares issued in respect of vested conditional awards,
ntet of statutory tax WithhoLdings ..........ccccoeerecerencerenceneeresiscnenans 61,516 - =
Number of shares issued in respect of equity compensation plans..... 531,154 845,652 1,554,716

Equity-based compensation cost included within the statement of
operations:

OPETAting EXPENSES....coiuiiiiriensenraresrmiesissssssserrssesssssrnrsssossssssrnseseseass 9 17,128 % 10,175  § 6,626
Tax benefit within income tax EXPENSE .....cccocvvrrrerreirimecesinrernireneenes (2,730) (1,784) (1,179)
Net OF tX ANOUNE ..vvvrveveverssneressssseerasssenssssssmrsssassmssssessscsssssenees 14398 $ 8391 S 5,447
Net cash received from equity-based awards........cccccovcvvvnccncnienee. 8 8664 $ 13,880 § 21,769
Excess tax benefits derived from equity-based awards....................... $ 1,488 $ 4,665 $ 7,925

As of June 30, 2008, the total compensation cost related to non-vested equity awards not yet recognized was $36.8 million and the
period over which it is expected to be recognized is 3.1 years. The Company’s Board of Directors may grant additional stock
options or other equity-based compensation in the future, which would result in additional operating expenses being recorded in
future periods.

a) NDS 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan

In October 2006, the Company's shareholders approved the NDS 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”), which provides for
awards of stock options to purchase Series A Ordinary Shares, restricted awards, conditional awards, stock appreciation rights or
awards of Series A Ordinary Shares, the terms and conditions of which are described in the Plan. American Depositary Receipts
(“ADRs") representing the Company’s Series A Ordinary Shares are given to recipients in respect of any awards of Series A
Ordinary Shares. The maximum number of Series A Ordinary Shares that may be issued or delivered under the Plan is 10,000,000
shares. There will be no further stock options granted under two of the Company’s existing stock option plans: The NDS 1997
Executive Share Option Scheme or The NDS 1999 Executive Share Option Scheme. However, further grants may be made under
the NDS U.K. Approved Share Option Scheme, which will be treated as a sub-scheme of the Plan. The fair value of equity-based
compensation under the Plan is calculated according to the type of award issued.

During the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and June 30, 2007, fixed conditional awards over an aggregate of 24,500 Series A
Ordinary Shares and 43,500 Series A Ordinary Shares, respectively, were awarded to certain employees and directors. The fiscal
2008 fixed conditional awards vest in four equal annual installments beginning on August 15, 2008 and the fiscal 2007 fixed
conditional awards vest in four equal annual installments beginning on August 15, 2007, each subject to, among other conditions,
the individual’s continued employment with the Company. The grant date fair value of the fiscal 2008 fixed conditional awards
was $55.91 per share, and the grant date fair value of the fiscal 2007 fixed conditional awards was $51.57 per share.

In addition, during the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and Fune 30, 2007, certain employees and executives of the Company had
the opportunity to earn grants of Series A Ordinary Shares under the Plan conditioned upon the attainment of pre-determined
operating income goals for the applicable fiscal year (“Performance-Based Conditional Awards’). To the extent that it was
determined that the Company’s actual operating income for the applicable fiscal year fell within the performance goal range, the
employees or executives received a percentage of his or her annualized base salary, ranging from 0% to 45% for the vast majority
of recipients; however, the range for some recipients was from 0% to up to 187.5% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 and
from 0% to up to 225% for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. The Performance-Based Conditional Awards are paid in time-
vested Series A Ordinary Shares. In August 2008, 436,394 ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares were awarded in
satisfaction of the Fiscal 2008 Performance-Based Conditional Awards. In August 2007, 286,841 ADRs representing Series A
Ordinary Shares were awarded in satisfaction of the Fiscal 2007 Performance-Based Conditional Awards. The Fiscal 2008

Page 63




Performance-Based Conditional Awards vest in four equal annual installments beginning on August 15, 2008 and the Fiscal 2007
Performance-Based Conditional Awards vest in four equal annual installments beginning on August 15, 2007, each subject to,
among other conditions, the individual’s continued employment with the Company. The grant date fair value of the Fiscal 2008
Performance-Based Conditional Awards was $55.91 per share, and the grant date fair value of the Fiscal 2007 Performance-Based
Conditional Awards was $51.57 per share.

The following table summarizes activity with respect to equity-based awards granted under the Pian:

2008 2007 2006
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Grant Grant
Date Fair Date Fair
Value ADRs Value ADRs
Unvested ADRs, beginning of year........cccoovvveevccvceccnrnennireneens $51.57 43,500 - -
B L U 51.95 314,341 $51.57 43,500 -
R USSR UR RO 51.57 (82,493) - -
LAPSEU ....eeorieerrrirrresereriisinsrnssesesresesunstese s sensseres e esesna e sasnes 52.26 {18,906) - -
Unvested ADRs, end of year ... ..o $51.98 256,442 $51.57 43,500 -
Vested but unissued ADRs, beginning of year........ccccoeeovveenen. — — —
VESIE e cverreirireeerierrerersneinesesiresesncstssnssrenneseessassssessesaneressereesnssnsnes 51.57 82,493 - -
ISSURH...eeveiiereretreerens et ecseree et sree e se s see s s e en e e e st e saerne st s sananes 51.57 (61,516)
Statutory tax withholding ..o 51.57 (15,084) — —_
Lapsed ...t e e 51.57 - - -
Vested but unissued ADRs, end of Year ......c..coeeeveeriimeninecininns $51.57 5,893 -_ -

b) Stock Option Plans

The Company has three executive stock option schemes under which stock options have been granted to certain Directors,
Executive Officers and employees: The NDS 1997 Executive Share Option Scheme (the “1997 scheme™), The NDS 1999
Executive Share Option Scheme (the “1999 unapproved scheme™) and The NDS UK Approved Share Option Scheme (the *“1999
approved scheme™). The provisions of each scheme are substantially the same, except that the 1999 approved scheme is approved
by Her Majesty’s Revenue and Customs in the United Kingdom for the purposes of granting U.K. employees stock options over
shares in the Company which are free from income tax in the hands of the employee under certain circumstances. Following the
creation of the 1999 unapproved scheme, no further stock options have been granted under the 1997 scheme. The schemes provide
for the grant of stock options to purchase Series A Ordinary Shares in the Company with a maximum term of ten years. Stock
options granted under the schemes vest in equal portions over a four-year period. The schemes authorize options to be granted
subject to a maximum of 10% of the ordinary shares of the Company in issue at the date of grant. Following the adoption of the
Plan, no further stock options will be awarded under the 1999 scheme. The Company’s obligations under all stock option schemes
have been settled by issuing new Series A Ordinary Shares.
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The following table summarizes information about the Company’s stock option transactions:

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008

Remaining
Weighted Contractual Aggrepate
Average Term Intrinsic Value
Number Exercise Price (in years) (in thousands)
Qutstanding at July I, 2007 ... 2,789,602 $29.05
Granted.........oeveeininiinereriis e sss b - -
EXETCISEA ...ccovvevvericinirreerreieeiecseeeceeceseeeresnesbasssensesianns (469,638) $20.31
Forfeited ......cocoivrmrmenir s (32,191) $37.30
EXPIred ......ccooveiiiircirninisicinessrneser e - —
Quistanding at June 30, 2008 .........oooovvieccniniiinincnnn, 2,287,773 $30.72 58 % 65,160
Vested or expected to vest (after allowing for expected
forfeitures) at June 30, 2008 ... 2,268,937 $30.62 5.7 % 64,857
Vested at June 30, 2008..........ovvvvmninncncnniiniennns 1,807,619 $27.62 53 % 57,086
{in thousands, except per share amounts) For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2008 2007 2006
Weighted average fair value of stock options granted in period
using the assumptions set out below ..., $ — $ — $ 29.42
Total intrinsic value of stock options exercised........cvviinncciiinnes. $ 16413 § 27,299 % 45975

The fair value of each stock option grant was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, using
the following assumptions:

For the fiscal
year ended
June 30, 2006
RUSK-TTEE IMIETESE TALE 1.uvvveeenveeeirtieeeeeeeeeeieaeeeeteeeeent et setesbesabasassssarssaresssassararssessssrnssseenssasnsnss nbsanssnsstossassrssanarnsntess 4.5%
DAVIAENA YIEIA ....coevereirrmreremeee et cesee e cee e e creemba b bbb s b et s bR AP b b e e e RSB b sa b e AL RS SRR e e AR R e s ba R e ce e R s rn e e nis -
EXPECTEd VOLATHLLY. o.ccc ettt e bbb e bbb bR TS 72%
Expected life Of SEOCK OPLONS ....vvveveeererermrecoe s s ccr oo bbb bbb sb s b ea bbb bbb R e s b e bbb e Rsste s n e nsaesnanas 6.3 years

The weighted average risk-free rate was the average interest rates of U.S. government bonds of comparable term to the stock
options on the dates of the stock option grants. The dividend yield was assumed to be nil because the Company has not paid, and
management did not expect to pay, a dividend. Expected volatility was derived from historical volatility of the Company’s
American Depositary Shares as quoted on NASDAQ. The expected life of stock options granted was derived from the historical
activity of the Company’s stock options and represents the period of time that stock options granted were expected to be
outstanding. The stock options were granted at an exercise price equal to the closing market price on the last trading day before the
date of grant.
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Note 14, Income taxes

Significant components of the Company’s provisions for income taxes were as follows:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,
2008 2007 2006

UK CUITENE AKX .eceeeriveereeenes s eesmssseescressssesssnessssssssssesssssssaeseneescenee P 58,805 $ 44,568 $ 39,323
OVErSEAS CUITETE TAX ...evieeeeeieccenreessenecsinresessnssenrrosanssssasasssssessatessses 16,643 12,648 9,816
Double tax relief.........ooeuiiiiiieiiiiiiieeeie et (9,718) (5,248) (3,557
TOAl CUITERE LAX .....cocvenrirvierrrvereirreereesresnnireresesstossnenssssisenossentassevasssns 65,730 51,968 45,582
UK deferred taX.........c.ooveciinininiieccrininen e sesss et besssse s sbesssassns s (2,178} 361 (105)
Overseas defermed 1aX ......veeiiieereeeiei e rese b eas s (3,658) (2,404) (252)
Total deferred (AX ......coveieeee et ee st rne (5,836) (2,043) (357
Total INCOME {AK EXPENSE .....ceeersecrrereriarrrrsreseenssrsrsssesssrsssssssssssans 3 (59984) $ 49925 % 45,225
Tax benefits on stock options, credited to additional paid-in capital . § (1,488) § 4,665y § (7,925) '

Income before income taxes arose in the United Kingdom and overseas as follows:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006
UK income before inCOme taXes........ccceveeerveieeereeeesssrecseeesssissssreesssees B 188,226 $ 150,661 $ 132,176
Overseas income before iNCOME TAXES.......covrevieiiriinrrsserarnresssnreeer e 31,763 34,991 13,999
Total income before INCOME LAXES ......ccvitineeeeeeee it s s sbr e eeeis $ 219989 $ 185652 % 146,175

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U.K. statutory rate to the income tax expense is as follows:

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006
Income tax at U.K. SLAtULOTY Tale........occeeieiiiiiniencicnninsesenci e 29.5% 30.0% 30.0%
Effect of different tax rates ..o (1.0%) (0.5%) (0.4%)
Research and development allowances...........ccoevieeviccniniiinccccninne. {1.5%) (1.9%) (0.7%)
Equity-based cOmpensation............ooeeiiinieeeeeee e 1.1% 0.6% 0.6%
Other permanent differences ......cccocovererevierievccreseniorereeresnsserasesenroses 1.7% 0.6% 0.5%
Change in U.K. statutory tax rate 0.1% - -
Movement in valuation FESEIVE ......icvererrirrrrrersnerrriasssssissnesereerrrsnans (2.0%) (1.4%) 0.9%
Adjustments in respect of previous years’ accruals........oeevirirnene. (0.7%) (0.5%) 0.0%
Effective iNCOME taX TAE ... ..coovoiieeeeeeieee v eeeeeee et e reeanenees 27.2% 26.9% 30.9%
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The following is a summary of the components of the deferred tax accounts:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Deferred tax assets:
Property, plant and qUIPITIENL..........c.cccoriiienisimesniss s sarsssssssnes $ 537 % 774
ACCITUEE BXPENSES 1. reeacmraeireeiccememeas s i ats e b b r e ess se e s s s s sa s e b s e e g smpe s s e nEnseseanas 4,300 4,367
Pension HABIIILY ......ccceerreeenenisisisrsnemenes e srerecre bbb s ssse s s st s a1 10 2,504 1,643
EQUILY AWATAS .cverveiremecere e emceme e tssi st bt s s bt st s s st st s sne e smesn et e 4,344 2,711
Research and development allOWANCES........covicicvminnccssmstiiniansns s e eses e 2,761 1,465
Benefit of operating losses carried forward.........coooiiecvmmnienense e 3,812 5,878
Benefit of capital losses carried forward ... 612 660
Total deferred tAX ASSELS ...viiiivivieinieinreerereearrarnsistrssneeressrnsesssssseesscrenssssssosssersessasessanssns 8 18,870 17,498
Deferred tax liabilities:
Other IMARZIDIES ..voveereerrerceee et s es et e st sr s ns s beas b s ernr e rans (5,524) (4,686)
ACCTUEA EXPENSES ...evirirererrriereeesresmeereie s sevmeat s s b aresbs b s s s rs e sa e Rt b sa et p e v em e s s ene st eba e st bas (63) (92)
Total deferred 1ax HADIHLES .o..ciciiiiiiniiiiiiimiieiissirmsseernessssmssesssssssssessessnsrnsssrsssaseses (5,589) (4,778)
Net deferred tax asset, before valuation rESEIVES ... iieecneriniiererenisessssnssesssnensens 13,281 12,720
W AlUALION TESCIVE .vrvrveiervrreeesseeeiceenee e besrbbeistssseat asabaasssstaresssnannessatesssnnsnessatrssanssnessnne (612) 4,774)
Net deferred tax asset, after valuation TESEIVES ............co o iisssses e rsrneressies 12,669 $ 7,946

As of June 30, 2008 and 2007, the Company had net non-current deferred tax assets of $17.4 million and $11.6 million,
respectively, and had net non-current deferred tax liabilities of $4.7 million and $3.7 million, respectively.

As of June 30, 2008, the Company had approximately $12 million of net operating loss carry-forwards related to overseas
operations available to offset future taxable income. These net operating losses may be carried forward indefinitely. In assessing
the realizability of deferred tax assets, management evaluates a variety of factors in considering whether it is more likely than not
that some portion or all of the deferred tax assets will ultimately be realized. Management considers earnings expectations, the
existence of taxable temporary differences, tax planning strategies and the periods in which estimated losses can be vtilized. Based
upon this analysis, management concluded during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, that it is more likely than not that the
Company will realize all of the benefits of its deferred tax assets related to net operating loss carry-forwards. Accordingly,
valuation allowances of $4.5 million were reversed during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 and no valuation reserve against
operating loss carryforwards remains as of June 30, 2008. Additionally, the Company has approximately $2 million of U.K. capital
losses available to offset future capital gains. These capital losses may be carried forward indefinitely. A valuation reserve of $0.6
million reduces the deferred tax asset in respect of capital losses to nil as of June 30, 2008 and 2007.

The Company has not provided for possible U.K. and other foreign taxes on the undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries that
are considered to be reinvested indefinitely. Calculation of the unrecognized deferred tax liability for temporary differences related
to these earnings is not practicable. Undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries considered to be indefinitely reinvested
amounted to approximately $128 million as of June 30, 2008.

Note 15. Pension and other post-employment benefits

Defined contribution arrangements

Most U.K. employees of the Company are eligible for membership of the News International Pension Plan, a defined contribution
scheme operated for the benefit of certain U.K. employees of News Corporation. The Company also makes contributions to other
defined contribution pension plans. Aggregate Company contributions to defined contribution plans amounted to $12.5 million,
$9.8 million and $7.9 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.
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Multi-employer arrangements

Certain employees are eligible for membership of the News America Incorporated Employees’ Pension and Retirement Plan and
other defined benefit pension schemes which are operated by News Corporation for the benefit of certain of its controlled
subsidiaries. As such, and so far as they relate to the Company, they are multi-employer defined benefit schemes. It is not possible
to determine the assets and liabilities of these schemes relating to the obligations of the Company to current and former employées.
Accordingly, the expense recorded in the consolidated statement of operations equates to the contributions payable in the fiscal
year, as determined by third party actuaries. Company contributions amounted to $1.3 million, $1.1 million and $0.9 million for the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively.

Severance pay arrangements

In certain countries in which the Company has operations, principally Israel, but also in India and Korea, it is obliged to make
severance payments to employees leaving employment in most circumstances. The payment is based on the latest monthly salary
for each year of service. The payment obligations are funded by payments to funds held by third party investment managets under
approved plans. The liability is recorded gross and a separate asset is recorded equal to the market value of the funds held by
investment managers. The costs associated with these arrangements included within the consolidated statement of operations
amounted to $9.4 million, $5.5 million and $5.6 million for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. The
following amounts are included in the consolidated balance sheets in respect of these arrangements are as follows:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Investment funds, included within other RON-CUITENT ASSELS ..c..ceeevvveeciiriren s ernenaens $ 49,357 $ 30,644
Liability, included within non-current accrued eXpenses......c.curecrnnerersiesarsrerniens 9 (58,732) % (37,408}

Defined benefit arrangements

The Company has certain liabilities to a small number of current and former employees who are members of a U.K. defined benefit
pension scheme. The scheme is closed and the age profile of the active membership is rising significantly and, therefore, the
service cost is likely to increase over the coming years. The trustees of the scheme, the actuaries and the Company have agreed to
make additional lump sum payments into the scheme and the contribution rates of employed members have been set individually.
The Company uses a June 30 measurement date for the defined benefit pension scheme.

The elements of net periodic pension expense are as follows:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006
SETVICE COSLeuriiiininneiiisiseiessreins s isssssssssss s issss st sbsssssiesososnsienes B 230 % 209 % 178
LIEEIESE COSE cuvireiirrreeisrereiisssiseseesiresssrereossssesosnsessassssassessaresssseessasssosses 1,328 1,194 978
Expected return O @8SeLS .....ecuriricreesieiiiiireeseceninees s s (1,254) (1,033) (825)
Net amortization Of LOSS.......covveiirieericininieeercrnrersesesrsrssseiinssessassoins 424 604 583
Net periodic Pension eXPEnse ........couuvrveenenieecnsseresserassisisessesrnsnreree 9 728 % 974 % 914

The following assumptions were used in determining the net periodic benefit costs for the plan:

(in thousands) For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006
Assumed diSCOUNL TALE..........coeveecreerrreecener e seereseeee e eeese e sneserenres 5.75% 5.25% 5.00%
Expected long-term rate of return on plan assets.......c..cooeeevevneernneanns 7.00% 7.00% 7.50%
Rate of compensation inCrease ..........cocvvvvnmrsisinmemsisessec s 4.75% 4.50% 4.25%
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Overall asset returns were based upon the target asset allocation and return estimates for equity and debt securities. The expected
rate of return for equities was based upon the long-term equity risk premium over the risk-free rate, which was then adjusted
downward from the historical rate to reflect recent market conditions. The expected return on debt securities was based upon an
analysis of current and historical yields on portfolios of similar quality and duration.

The funding of the Company’s defined benefit pension plan is as follows:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Fair value of Plan A8SEL8 ... st sssssssssss s sensssess $ 18,192 $ 17,789
Projected benefit obligation (“PBO™}......ccccoiiiniiiinissssnsrssssssssssasessessaness (27,173) (23,264)
Funded status, recognized in the consolidated balance sheet $ (8,981) $ (5,475)

The accumulated benefit obligation of the Company’s defined benefit plan was $20.8 million and $16.5 million as of June 30, 2008
and 2007, respectively.

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income consist of:

(in thousands) As of June 30, 2008
ACHUATIAL LOSSES.c..ecvviveecirreeicesrersrersistassressronsesneansessesasasmesntatsesssstssrsssnsassaseensasarosssissssnssanssassrnnsens $ 11,100
TAX DENETIE LRETCOI. ...t evieriiiitreererserrrtnrerersrnrresseasmsesesesassssssesssssssasarnrresasmrmretsssarsssnnssissssnsenensontbass (3,108)
NEL AMOUNE TECOZMIZEM ... eveecerererecarerrsnssernrereseesescssceeem st s b b st sas s s s an e s st er s e sa s n s e e saenraTrenes $ 7.992

Actuarial losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income and expected to be recognized as a component of net
periodic pension costs in fiscal 2009, are not material.

Additional information:

(in thousands) As of June 30,
2008 2007 2006

Decrease (increase} in liability reflected in other comprehensive

IMCOIIE .-.ovvviiiiiiisreisseererrsnsassesaresssssessarsrnessasassasasessrnnesansssneasmasnseeasn $ 4,100) $ 3,174  § 1,200
Tax (expense) benefit thereon ... 1,008 (936) (361)
Net decrease (increase) in liability reflected in other comprehensive

INCOMIE ....vieeeeveirnssesassserereressssaese s e se s s s bnbs st sesms st nesesevareseasaerensaces $ (3,092) § 2,238 § 839
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit

obligations:
DISCOUNE FALE «..veeeerereierienrererererasrrssnsseresnssnrrronsressssrseenrestitsssbsabsbassases 6.00% 5.75% 5.25%
Rate of increase in future compensation..........ccceeeeciisnneennisninnenns 5.25% 4.75% 4.50%
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The following table is a reconciliation of PBO:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
PBO, beginning 0f YEAr .. .ocee e sttt s s $ 23264 % 21,585
SEIVICE COST coiiecee ettt ete s st s sttt ebe s eemeseesnsesensrtrsrentenseressesseon st s srsreratseneaes 230 209
INEETEST ON PBO ... oottt reeeee et r s es e s s s ss et s atesss s bt e e emenmne e resssnannessene 1,328 1,194
Actuanial ZAIN (JO8S) ...cuiiiieecieieeeee e v e e et ee et ner b e st e et aresasns 2,522 (1,545)
Benefits Paid......co e et e ba st st e ee e (278) (257)
Employee CONIDULIONS ........cccvvveiuiiiieicis et csssaesessit s se e st enees 274 249
Foreign exchange MOVEMENLS ..........cccovimnieciiniiniiiincsiictesssreceeseessrersseressessssrssesseeneas (167) 1,829
PBO, €A Of YEAN ...t et b s aa st b st st st eneenn 3 27.173 $ 23,264
The following table is a reconciliation of the fair value of plan assets:

As of June 30,
(in thousands) 2008 2007
Plan assets at fair value, beginning of year..........cccccvcviiiniiviinciiicciicceeeeeeeeee. . 9 17,789 $ 13,670
Employer CONTDULIONS ...c.eveveivrereiiisreersereressiesaseserssssesaesessesssssesessesasssesesssansasnseses 1,334 1,261
Employee cOntributions...........ccciiiieisiiiessii e 274 249
Benefits Paid........oociirieiec et b e e s e e ane e er v enen (278) (257
RETUTTL 0N B858L8...uveitiiiecievenrceesiressesrat s ernsssbs e stbetabe s b8 s04e s emmeemme i teseemmeemeesaeneemrenreeaanen (811) 1,591
Foreign eXchange MOVEMENLS ..........ccevrriirerreererreniesssssrmeeseresrssesessssssssssssnseseseeanes (116) 1,275
Plan assets at fair value, end of year...........ccoeevieiiiininisiee e D 18,192 S 17,789

The following table sets forth the estimated benefit payments for the next five fiscal years and in aggregate for the five fiscal vears
thereafter. The expected benefits are estimated based on the same assumptions used to measure the Company’s benefit obligation
at the end of the fiscal year and include benefits attributable to estimated future employee service:

(in thousands) Expected pension payments
Fiscal 2009 $ 285
FISCAl 2010 ..ottt et e te e taenc e b e s sressaen e sresans s bt st asnesmssbs s et baresrrssasesseannereesn 301
FISCAl 2012 . rsesara b e e s b et s b s e e s e st et e e smassbeem b amnnsa e s barasssaneares 331
Fiscal 2004 10 2018 ... e rrecee s rs s vsnese s se e st et rresanesba st asnevassbssssnaresssssasesmasnssbenan 3421

The Company’s investment strategy for its pension plans is to maximize the long-term rate of return on plan assets within an
acceptable level of risk in order to minimize the cost of providing pension benefits while maintaining adequate funding levels, The
Company’s practice is to conduct a strategic review of its asset allocation strategy every year. The Company’s current broad
strategic targets are to have a pension asset portfolio comprising of 60% equity securities and 40% fixed income securities. The
Company’s equity portfolios are managed in such a way as to achieve optimal diversity. The Company’s fixed income portfolio is
investment grade in the aggregate. The Company does not manage any assets internally, does not have any passive investments in
index funds and does not utilize hedging, futures or derivative instruments. No investments are held in stock of the Company or of
News Corporation.
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The Company's benefit plan weighted-average asset allocations as of June 30, 2008 and 2007, by asset category, are as follows:

As of June 30,
2008 2007
Domestic / General equity 35.60% 60.00%
International equity 23.10% -
International debt SECUMLES. ........ccvvrrvree e s 30.30% 40.00%
07 1o FO O OO SOOI TTUT U TSUTO IR 0.50% -
OHhEL. ..ottt st rrre e e e s b d e sat b shbacas s b e e e b s bR R bR e ey s ansatnees 10.50% -
Fair value of Plan @S51S ......cvuverriesrermimisrmesctessscinniitesssnnt s s st st enesner e sesacsins 100.00% 100.00%

The Company's committed minimum contributions in fiscal 2009 are expected to be $0.4 million.

In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 158, “Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other
Postretirement Plans — an amendment of FASB Statements No. 87, 88, 106 and 132(R)” (“SFAS No. 158”). SFAS No. 158
requires an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status of a defined benefit postretirement plan (other than a
multiemployer plan) as an asset or liability in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in that funded status in
the year in which the changes occur through comprehensive income. SFAS No. 158 became effective for the Company as of the
fiscal year ended June 30, 2007. The adoption of SFAS No. 158 had no impact on the Company’s consolidated results of
operations. Other comprehensive income for fiscal 2007 and stockholders’ equity as of June 30, 2007 was reduced by
approximately $4.9 million (net of tax of approximately $2.1 million) as a result of adopting SFAS No. 158.

The following table illustrates the effect of the application of SFAS No. 158 in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007:

Before

application of SFAS No. 158  After application
(in thousands) SFAS No. 158 adjustment of SFAS No. 158
OhEr NON-CUITENE ASSELS c.voveeerrirrrerresiseerssssmsasnsssssrsseresssrssressesmmmmseess 9 56330 § 575  $ 56,905
TOLAL ASSEES ..uveivirerereeerreieeeseemreeeetessbesssesresneesnessessessesnssasnsrsrasanerrns sre 1,144,278 575 1,144,853
Other non-current Habilities........cceovrivrrrecreceer i sesssresssnes 41,062 5,475 46,537
Total HabilitIes .....coieveverireireierrrnrrsnsersreesmeeeeesieasassssssnsssesssssnsssnssseses 401,105 5,475 406,580
Total shareholders’ EqUILY .......cccevvieeriiiicciiies e 743,173 (4,900) 738,213
Total Liabilities and shareholders’ equity............cccniiinncnininn 1,144,278 575 1,144,853
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Note 16. Segment information

The Company aggregates its operations into a single reportable segment in accordance with SFAS No. 131, “Disclosures about
Segments of an Enterprise and Related Information,” being the supply of open end-to-end digital technology and services to digital
pay-television platform operators and content providers.

Revenue analyzed by geographical destination (i.e., the country of operations of the customer) was as follows:

(in thousands) As of June 30,

2008 2067 2006
United Kingdom ... resesaresssssss s secrsnenens $ 214,478 $ 201,121 $ 163,804
Europe and the Middle East ...........ccvieveieriniceeecrererereesssssssssssennes 203,699 158,280 126,157
NOTth AIMETICA ...ccieereteirrr sttt tenams e e rasanss bbb ess b eeee 248,494 213,001 215,856
LAtin AMECA ....ciirieeaeerrrrsrrnsr st sstsiesisesemrarsvrrraessasessessessssenasencan 76,592 49,055 37,395
AS1A PACITIC oottt sttt ass s st sas e e srnnan 106,885 88,035 56,911

$ 850,148 $ 709,492 $ 600,123

Revenues from North America inclede $248.3 million, $212.7 million and $215.7 million from customers in the United States in
the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006, respectively. Revenues from Europe and the Middle East include $99.6
million, $72.0 million and $72.1 million from customers in Italy in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008, 2007 and 2006,
respectively. No other country accounted for more than 5% of revenues in any of the three fiscal years in the period ended June 30,
2008.

The following major customers coniributed directly and indirectly to more than 10% of the Company’s revenues in any of the three
fiscal years in the period ended June 30, 2008:

(in thousands) As of June 30,

2008 2007 2006
DIRECTY (U8 ciicecetiieeteeresessrensntessssnensesssssessassensrassssensssens $ 225538 § 194495 § 202,630
BSKYB ...ttt s st s se b mataes 177,493 173,426 140,364
SKY TAlifl.....cociiiiieiiiitiiiiee e eectessse s saseeessein s esbseebaestssvs e s resasnarnresn 92,081 70,223 68,251

The Company’s operations are sitvated in the United Kingdom, Europe, Israel, the United States and the Asia-Pacific region. Most
of the Company’s contracts with customers are entered into with the principal operating company, a U.K. entity. Many of the costs
of the overseas operations are recharged to the Company’s U.K. subsidiaries.

The contribution of each region to the long-lived assets (other than deferred tax assets) of the Company is as follows:

As of June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007

United KiDZAOM c...ciiiiicecrireri v ssne st ss e sn s $ 137,271 $ 121,495
BUIOPE c.covevt sttt e see b st b s e b nm s s aeneasE SRS S s 4 sR R b Ra bbb a bbb b 36,206 26,167
ISEABL. ...eeeeesiteeec e ee e seeeteresmesmsessshabasaba b s s aesnamemresresesanener e bEs b et sabasbobsbat st emmeresaterevasess 152,456 122,528
UURIEEA SEALES cvveneeeericeceeeerrieeeeers e ssaetests st eesesassae e sesseeseetessstasesasesnasnsaseeasrasesasennen 5,742 7,889
ASIA PACIFIC .ovvviviiiiiiiistiii i eeastetsvsrnrse s esbsestab s bessesssa s e e e rees s smsesasssverasessastesrnrnssares 10,267 9,721
Total long-lived assets (other than deferred tax assets).......coivsrnrrisncviscsiscsines 9 341,942 $ 287,800
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Note 17. Valuation and qualifying accounts

a) Accounts receivable reserves

(in thousands) As of June 30,

2008 2007 2006
Beginming of YEAT .......ccvvrvreeerererernereasenncsisceemssssmsssssissnssssssssniniess 9 172§ 1124 § 1,427
Additions (TEVETSAIS) ....oiveeiirreiisiersvre e s eeeeser s ssessea s nsne s es 1,825 (50) 172
TISEA oot cssesbs e e ere e et e e b eme e e e e e a e n (507) (902) (475)
ENd OF YEAT 1.vvevrerceeeeeenecee st ssiscosssssasstissssrssassrsssessnnesssins 9 1,490 § 172§ 1,124

b) Inventory reserves

(in thousands) As of June 30,

2008 2007 2006
Beginning of YEar.........ecoverevereccmeinemesisermsiseinsssssssssrenns 9 2434 §% 2511 % 3,398
Additions (FEVETSALS) ....vveeieieee et ees e bess e s s 2,228 41 (887)
USBA 1ottt et s e s b ns e e e e s nn e s ba b (293) (118) -
ENA OF YA c.c.vvvvevereionsrereremene e sreccssasais st reasass s naes $ 4369 $ 2434 % 2,511

¢) Deferred tax valuation reserve

(in thousands) As of June 30,

2008 2007 2006
Beginning of YEar ..........ccvvemrerirerenereeresnisersesensessmsesccrerssssscnecmmmisians 9 47714 % 8115 § 3,455
Additions (TEVETSAIS) c.eiieiveeeecneeerieseinese e ree s e bbb (4,508) (3,694) 4216
Foreign exchange MOVEMENLS ..........ccoiieerainiammmsimrsress s scecesseassns 346 353 444
ENQ Of YEAT ...ttt ssesesesesenncscsnisis B 612 § 47714 % 8,115

Note 18, Other expense

Other expenses in the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 comprised legal and professional fees incurred in connection with a proposal
received from News Corporation and two subsidiaries (the “Permira Newcos™) of funds advised by Permira Advisers LLP for a
transaction that, if consummated, would result in NDS ceasing to be a public company and the Permira Newcos and News
Corporation owning approximately 51% and 49% of NDS’s outstanding equity, respectively. The Board appointed a committee of
independent directors (the “Independent Committee™) to review the proposed transaction and the Independent Committee
appointed its own legal and financial advisers.

On August 5, 2008, the Company announced that the Independent Committee reached an agreement in principle with News
Corporation and the Permira Newcos on a price at which they would acquire all of the Company’s issued and outstanding Series A
Ordinary Shares, including those represented by American Depositary Shares traded on NASDAQ. The price announced was $63
per share in cash. The transaction is subject to negotiation and execution of final legal documentation. The consummation of the
transaction is also conditioned upon the approval of the transaction by holders of the Series A Ordinary Shares, the approval of the
High Court of Justice of England and Wales, the receipt of certain regulatory approvals and certain other customary closing
conditions. There can be no assurance that the parties will enter into final legal documentation or that any transaction will be
consummated.
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Note 19. Supplementary cash flow disclosures

(in thousands) As of June 30,
2008 2007 2006
Cash receipts and payments:
Cash payments for capital expenditure ... . USRS 1 (17,081) $ (25,520) % (30,018)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and eqmpment 258 371 602
Interest received in cash... e ete i reeerteiaaaeeeaenteiarrteaatearnrennres 27,865 26,338 13,226
Interest paid in cash - (263) (188)
Cash payments fOr iNCOME LAXES ......cvivirrirreceseseesieeeeee e rresarsessasens (55,580) (49,525) (27,955)
Cash payments in respect of abandoned property leases................. — - (1,572)
Gross purchases of short-term INVestMEntS .. o oo rvvrvrrerneisisrsenenas - (203,387) {184 401
Gross sales of short-term iNVeStMents..........ccocoeveeerneensrsvnnrinsscnseans - 387,788 —
Supplemental information on businesses acquired:
Fair value of assets acquired..........cccocovvvvnieerninin e, $ 13,763 $ 104,917 $ 4,405
Less: cash acqQUIred ......civevceimercnnnrnenereccinsi e raesnasas (24) (13,577) (67)
Less: liabilities asstumed.........cocvviviiiiiiiiiineessee e ssssssss s sssens (2,490) (10,592) {1,220)
Deferred consideration payable ..........c.ocoievimennieesnnnsnnrecsnininans (899) - -
10,350 80,748 3,118
Cash paid in respect of deferred consideration for acquisitions...... 116 2,467 -
Net cash paid for business aCqUISIIONS.........ccrvvreveeriieiiieceeeeeennns b 10,466 § 83,215 % 3,118
Note 20. Quarterly data (unaudited)
For the three months ended
{in thousands, except per share amounts) September 30 December 31 March 31 June 30
Fiscal 2008:
REVENUE ...t essernenee B 204876 $ 214948 % 213301 % 217,023
GIOSS MATEIN. . .eceereeninrainiais et aeeaneneneen 136,420 133,462 126,484 135,242
Operating inCome........ooceeeeiersinencisercreneeceane 58,286 49,510 43,304 44,284
Net INCOME.......ocrvceeecrrrieeeeetiseseeee e 46,294 40,369 36,293 37,139
Basic earnings per share .............cococoececerernine $ 0.80 5 0.70 $ 0.62 $ 0.64
Diluted earnings per share ............cccccccevnnnn. $ 0.79 $ 0.68 $ 0.62 $ 0.63
Fiscal 2007:
REVENUE ..o vrsneaersesssnssss s seersens 3 164,162 § 165,062 § 178,391 % 201,877
GIOSS MATZIN....oviseevencnireesisinisina e sensnanens 101,927 103,944 107,818 127,319
Operating iNCOME. .....ovvivernecenrireerieccniisieseenieens 44,590 37,400 35,782 45,584
NELINCOME........cooureirrrnerensisss st seensensren 35,088 30,291 29,224 41,124
Basic earnings per share .........ccoveecvcrininens 8 0.62 $ 0.53 $ 0.51 $ 0.7
Diluted earnings per share .........coccceeivniiaree. 8 0.61 3 0.52 3 0.50 $ 0.70
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls

The Company’s management, with the participation of the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is
defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period covered by this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. Based on such evaluation, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer have concluded that, as of the end of such period, the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective in
recording, processing, summarizing and reporting on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company in
the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act and were effective in ensuring that information required to be
disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or submits under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated
to the Company’s management, including the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial
Officer, as appropriate to allow timely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Contrel over Financial Reporting

The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:

e«  pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the Company;

*  provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States;

*  provide reasonable assurance that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance with
authorization of management and Directors of the Company; and -

 provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of
assets that could have a material effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring and internal auditing practices and
actions taken to correct deficiencies as identified.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
Management conducted an assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of
June 30, 2007 based on criteria for effective internal control over financial reporting described in “Internal Control —
Integrated Framework” issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Management's
assessment included an evaluation of the design of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting and testing of the
operational effectiveness of its internal control over financial reporting. Management reviewed the results of its assessment
with the Audit Committee of our Board of Directors.

Based on this assessment, management determined that, as of June 30, 2008, the Company maintained effective internal
centrol over financial reporting.

Ernst & Young LLP, the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm that audited and reported on the
Company’s consolidated financial statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, has audited the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting. Their report is reproduced below.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of NDS Group plc

We have audited NDS Group plc’s internal control over financial reporting as of June 30, 2008, based on criteria established
in Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (the COSO criteria). NDS Group ple’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control
over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the
accompanying Management's Assessment on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Qur responsibility is to express an
opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit 1o obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective
internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an
understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other
procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and l
procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and

that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized
acquisition, nse, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, NDS Group plc maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
June 30, 2008, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United
States), the consolidated balance sheets of NDS Group plc as of June 30, 2008 and 2007, and the related consolidated
statements of operations, shareholders’ equity and other comprehensive income, and cash flows for each of the three fiscal
years in the period ended June 30, 2008 of NDS Group plc and our report dated August 8, 2008 expressed an unqualified
opinion thereon.

Ernst & Young LLP

London, England
August 8, 2008
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Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-
15(¢f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) during the Company’s fourth quarter of fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 that
has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

None,
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PART 111

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Our Directors

The following table provides information regarding the Directors of the Company in office as of June 30, 2008. The
information with respect to each of the Director’s principal occupation or employment, other affiliations and business
experience were furnished to the Company by the respective Director. The ages shown are as of August 6, 2008,

Director Year Term
Name and Age Business Experience and Directorships Since Expires

David F. DeVoe (61} ........... David F. DeVoe has been a Director since 1996. Mr. 1996 *
DeVoe has been a Director of News Corporation and its
Chief Financial Officer since 1990, and has served as a
Senijor Executive Vice President of News Corporation
since 1996, Mr, DeVoe has been a Director of British
Sky Broadcasting Group plc (“BSkyB”) since 1994,

Roger W. Einiger (60) ......... Roger W. Einiger has been a Director since 2004 and is 2004 2008
a member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Einiger has been
a private investor since 2001. Mr. Einiger has been a
Director of Avatar Holdings Inc. since 2006 and a
Director of BPW Acquisition Corp. since 2008.

Nathan Gantcher (68)........... Nathan Gantcher has been a Director since 2004 and is a 2004 2009
member of the Audit Committee. Mr. Gantcher has been
a managing member of EXOP Capital LLC, a private
investment firm, since 2003, He has been a Director of
Mack-Cali Realty Corporation since 1999, a Trustee of
Centerline Capital Group since 2007, a Director of
Liberty Acquisition Holdings Corp. since 2007 and a
Director of Liquidnet Holdings since 2000. Mr.
Gantcher was the Chief Executive Officer and Co-
Chairman of Alpha Investment Management LLC from
2002 to 2004.

Lawrence A, Jacobs (53) ... Lawrence A, Jacobs has been a Director since 2005, Mr. 2005 *
Jacobs has been Senior Executive Vice President and
Group General Counsel of News Corporation since
2005. Mr. Jacobs served as News Corporation Deputy
General Counsel] from 1996 to 2004, as Executive Vice
President from 2001 to 2004 and as Senior Vice
President from 1996 to 2001. Mr. Jacobs has been a
member of the Bar of the State of New York since 1982.

Abe Peled (62).....................  Abe Peled is our Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. 1995 **
Dr. Peled has been a Director and our Chief Executive
Officer since 1995. In 2006, Dr. Peled was appointed as
Chairman of the Board. In addition, Dr. Peled advises
News Corporation with respect to various technology
matters,
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Director Year Term
Name and Age Business Experience and Directorships Since Expires

Peter J. Powers (63).....c....... Peter J. Powers has been a Director since 2000 and is 2000 2010
Chairman of the Audit Committee. Mr. Powers founded
Powers Global Strategies, LLC in 1998 and currently
serves as its Chairman and Chief Executive Officer. Mr.
Powers was the First Deputy Mayor of the City of New
York from 1994 to 1996. Mr. Powers has been a
Director of Mutual of America Life Insurance Company
since 2006.

Arthur M. Siskind (§9)......... Arthur M. Siskind has been a Director since 1996. Mr. 1996 *
Siskind has served as a Director of News Corporation
since 1991 and as Senior Advisor 1o the Chairman of
News Corporation since 2005. At News Corporation,
Mr. Siskind also served as Group General Counsel from
1991 to 2005 and as Senior Executive Vice President
from 1996 to 2005. Mr. Siskind has served as a Director
of BSkyB since 1992. Mr. Siskind has been an Adjunct
Professor of Law at the Comell Law School since
August 2007 and was an Adjunct Professor of Law at
Georgetown University Law Center from 2005 to 2007.
Mr. Siskind has been a Member of the Bar of the State
of New York since 1962.

* Denotes Director appointed by News Corporation. Such Director’s term is not subject to expiration.
**  Denotes Director also serving as Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Such Director’s term is not subject to
expiration.

Our Executive Officers

The executive officers of the Company at June 30, 2008, are set out in the table below. Each holds the offices indicated until
his successor is chosen and qualified the regular meeting of the Board of Directors to be held following an annual general
meeting of sharcholders or at other meetings of the Board of Directors, as appropriate. The ages shown are as of August 15,
2008.

Name Age Position with the Company
Abe Peled 62 Director, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Alexander Gersh 44 Chief Financial Officer and Company Secretary
Raffi Kesten 55 Chief Operating Officer

None of the executive officers of the Company is related to any other executive officer or Director by blood, marriage or
adoption.

Information concerning Dr. Peled can be found under the heading “Our Directors.”

Alexander Gersh joined us in 2005 as Chief Financial Officer. Mr. Gersh was Chief Financial Officer at FLAG telecom, a
global network service provider, from 2003 to 2003 and was Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Officer at
NextiraOne North America from 2002 to 2003. Mr. Gersh has also held senior international finance roles at British
Telecommunications and Motorola in the United Kingdom and Russia. Mr. Gersh has been the Chairman of the Audit
Commission of Vimpel Com Inc. since 2003.

Raffi Kesten has been our Chief Operating Officer since 2006. Mr. Kesten joined us in 1996 as Vice President and General
Manager of NDS Technologies Israel Limited, an indirect subsidiary of ours and subsequently assumed responsibilities for
our smart card procurement and production. Prior to joining us, Mr. Kesten held senior operating positions at various
companies in Israel, including Indigo, Intel and Tadiran.
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Committee of the Board of Directors

Under the applicable NASDAQ listing standards, the Company is deemed to be a “controlled company” because News
Corporation holds more than 50% of the voting power of the Company. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to certain
NASDAQ corporate governance requirements, including the requirement that the Board consist of a majority of
independent Directors or the requirement that it maintain independent compensation {or remuneration) and nominating
committees.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee consists of Mr. Powers, who serves as its Chairman, and Messrs. Einiger and Gantcher. The Audit
Committee assists the Board in its oversight of (i) the integrity of the Company’s financial reporting processes and systems
of internal control, (ii) the qualifications, independence and performance of the Company’s independent registered public
accounting firm and the performance of the Company’s corporate auditors and corporate audit function, (iii) the Company’s
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements involving financial, accounting and internal control matters, {iv)
investigations into complaints concerning financial matters and (v) risks that may have a significant impact on the
Company’s financial statements. The Audit Committee provides an avenue of communication among management, the
independent registered public accounting firm, the corporate auditors and the Board.

The Audit Committee Charter provides that its members shall consist entirely of Directors who the Board determines are
“independent” in accordance with the NASDAQ listing standards and who meet the additional “independence”
requirements imposed by the NASDAQ listing standards for Audit Committee membership. The Board has determined that
each of the members of the Audit Committee meets the NASDAQ independence requirements and that each member of the
Audit Committee is an “audit committee financial expert,” as such term is defined by the SEC.

Standards of Business Conduct and Code of Ethics

The Board has adopted a Standards of Business Conduct (the “Standards™), which confirms the Company’s policy to
conduct its affairs in compliance with all applicable laws and regulations and observe the highest standards of business
ethics. The Standards have been adopted by the Company, its subsidiaries and divisions in all locations, unless the
Standards conflict with local law.

To further promote ethical and responsible decision making, the Board has established a Code of Ethics for its Chief
Executive Officer and senior financial officers that is included in the Standards.

The full text of the Standards and the Code of Ethics may be found on the Investor Relations section of the Company's
website at hitp://www.nds.com/pdfs/standards_of_business_conduct.pdf and are available in print to any shareholder
requesting a paper copy of these documents by contacting the Company Secretary.

Section 16(a) Beneficial OQwnership Reporting Compliance

Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires that a Company’s Directors and executive officers, and persons who own more
than 10% of a registered class of the ordinary shares, file reports of ownership and changes in ownership with the SEC and
NASDAQ. Directors, officers and beneficial owners of more than 10% of the ordinary shares are required by the SEC to
furnish the Company with copies of the reports they file.

The Company believes that all of the Company’s current and former Directors and executive officers reported on a timely
basis all transactions required to be reported by Section 16(a} during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

Compensation Discussion and Analysis

Overview of Our Compensation Program Philosophy and Objectives

The goal of creating long-term growth and value for our shareholders drives our philosophy of how we design our executive
compensation program. Our executives are central to the value that the Company creates for our shareholders, It is their
leadership, talent and ability to identify and execute on business opportunities that spur the Company’s future growth and
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success. To that end, we must attract, motivate and retain the highest quality talent to lead the Company, and our
compensation program is a key tool in achieving these goals.

The Board is responsible for establishing and overseeing the Company’s executive compensation program, including
making executive compensation decisions for the executive officers listed on the summary Compensation Table below, who
we collectively refer to as the “Named Executive Officers.”” Under applicable NASDAQ listing standards, the Company is
deemed to be a “controlled company” because its controlling shareholder, News Corporation, holds more than 50% of the
voting power of the Company. Accordingly, the Company is not subject to certain NASDAQ listing requirements, including
the requirement that it maintain a compensation committee comprising independent directors. In addition, because the
Board is controlled by directors appointed by News Corporation, News Corporation is able to control compensation
decisions made by the Board with respect to the Named Executive Officers.

The Board believes that compensation for its executives, including the Named Executive Officers, should fulfill the
following objectives: (i} attracting the highest quality talent to the Company; (ii) motivating executives in the short- and
long-term by rewarding them for meeting or exceeding individual or Company performance goals; (iii) aligning our
executives’ interests with the long-term interests of our shareholders; and (iv) encouraging and providing incentives for
executives to remain with the Company for long and productive careers.

In order to attract and retain the best talent, our executives’ compensation packages must remain competitive. The Board
analyzes the compensation practices of a group of our peer companies, which consist of similarly-sized U.S.-based
technology companies and U.K.-based general industry companies. Although the Board considers the compensation
practices of our peer companies, it does not use peer group data to base, justify or provide a framework for compensation
decisions. The Board also does not target compensation to a specific range within the group of peer companies. Rather, it
uses peer company data to obtain a general understanding of current compensation practices. The Board’s goal is to provide
total compensation packages that are competitive with prevailing practices in our industry and in the geographic markets in
which we conduct business; however, the Board retains flexibility within our compensation program in order to respond to
and adjust for specific circumstances and our evolving business environment.

The Company retains Deloitte to provide advice on a variety of compensation matters as requested by the Company’s senior
management, including providing peer company compensation data and perspectives on market trends that may impact
decisions regarding the Company’s executive compensation program and practices. Management takes into account
information provided by Deloitte to help make recommendations to the Board regarding the appropriate level and mix of
compensation for each of the Named Executive Officers in light of our compensation objectives. In addition, members of
our senior management team keep abreast of developments in compensation and benefits matters, participate in the
gathering and presentation of facts related to these matters and formulate and make recommendations, in consultation with
News Corporation management, to the Board in these areas. Our Chief Executive Officer, Dr. Abe Peled, is a Named
Executive Officer, as well as Chairman of the Board. Dr. Peled provides recommendations to the Board regarding the other
Named Executive Officers’ compensation packages; however, he does not make recommendations about, or participate in,
decisions regarding his own compensation.

Elements of Our Named Executives Officers’ Compensation Packages

The key elements of our executive compensation program for the Named Executive Officers are: base salary, merit-based
and performance-based bonuses and retirement benefits. The Named Executive Officers also receive certain perquisites, but
those perquisites are not a key element of compensation. The table below illustrates how each element of compensation
fulfills our four compensation objectives discussed above:

Alignment
with
Shareholder
Element of Compensation Attraction Motivation Interests Retention
Base 5alary ........ccoceeiviinnceennciinneans X X
Merit-based bonus .............. X X X
Performance-based bonus ...........cccc.... X X X X
Retirement benefits ........coocvveveeereninnns X X

When making individual executive compensation decisions, our Board considers such characteristics as the Named
Executive Officer’s leadership and management expertise, performance history, the complexity of the position and
responsibilities, growth potential, term of service with the Company and reporting structure. The Board also takes into
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account certain other market factors, such as the significance that our industry and geographic markets play in the
Company’s ability to attract and retain talent, among others. In determining the amount of total compensation, the Board
considers both currently paid compensation and the opportunity for future compensation, as well as the mix of cash and
equity-based compensation.

The Board annually reviews and analyzes the nature and amounts of all elements of each Named Executive Officer’s total
compensation package, both separately and in the aggregate, to ensure that total compensation is competitive within the
marketplace, that a significant portion of each Named Executive Officer's compensation is performance based, and that an
appropriate balance is maintained in focusing different elements of compensation on both the short-term and long-term
performance of the Company. Any future compensation decisions by the Board for the Named Executive Officers are made
in the context of this review.

Qur fiscal 2008 Named Executive Officers are Dr. Abe Peled and Messrs. Alexander Gersh and Raffi Kesten. Each of our
Named Executive Officers is party to a pre-existing negotiated employment agreement. See “Employment Agreements” for
a more detailed description of each of the Named Executive Officer’s employment agreements. The compensation package
of each of the Named Executive Officers does not necessarily contain each of the elements of compensation mentioned
above. Instead, the Board creates a compensation package for each of the Named Executive Officers that contains a mix of
compensation elements that it believes best addresses his particular responsibilities and that will best achieve our
compensation objectives.

Base Salary. The basic element of compensation needed to attract and retain an employee in any organization is base salary.
Base salary is the fixed element of a Named Executive Officer’s annual cash compensation, and serves as a baseline
measure of the Named Executive Officer’s value to the Company and the foundation upon which the types and amounts of
other elements of compensation for the Named Executive Officer is based.

As discussed above, each of the Named Executive Officers is party to a pre-existing negotiated employment agreement,
which provides for a minimum base salary. At the time each of these employment agreements was entered into, the then
Remuneration Committee established each Named Executive Officer’s base salary in the context of the nature of the Named
Executive Officer’s particular position, the responsibilities associated with that position, their experience, expertise,
knowledge and qualifications, market factors, retention factors, our Chief Executive Officer’s recommendation (with the
exception of his own base salary) and the Company's overall compensation philosophy.

The Board reviews annually the base salary of each of the Named Executive Officers, subject to the terms of any applicable
employment agreement. Base salary may be adjusted if the Board determines that an adjustment is warranted or that a
different mix of compensation elements may more appropriately compensate the individual Named Executive Officer in
light of the Company’s compensation objectives.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, base salaries for Dr. Peled and Messrs. Gersh and Kesten were £660,000
(approximately $1,315,789), £270,000 (approximately 538,278) and NIS 2,150,000 (approximately $637,623), respectively.

Merit-Based Bonus. Merit-based bonuses are used to motivate performance and to provide a variable element to annual,
short-term cash compensation. In determining merit-based bonuses for the Named Executive Officers, the Board uses its
discretion to evaluate several factors, including the performance of the Company, the individual Named Executive Officer's
overall performance during the fiscal year covered by the bonus, the individual’s position and responsibilities within the
Company and the recommendation of the Chief Executive Officer (except with respect to his own merit-based bonus). None
of these factors are assigned a specific weight and merit-based bonuses are not based on pre-established performance or
similar criteria. Instead, the Board recognizes that the relative importance of each of these factors may change from time to
time in order to adapt to specific business challenges and to reflect changing economic and marketplace conditions.

In determining the fiscal 2008 merit-based bonuses for the Named Executive Officers, the Board considered the Company’s
achievements as a whole in fiscal 2008, including the Company’s overall strong growth, attainment of budgeted earnings
and profit margins, key customer wins and deliveries of new products to existing customers. The Board also considered
each of the Named Executive Officer’s individual contributions to those achievements, as well as their accomplishments in
their specific roles within the Company. In determining the amount of each of the Named Executive Officers’ fiscal 2008
merit-based bonuses, the Board also took into consideration its determination not to increase any of the base salaries for the
Named Executive Officers for fiscal 2009, consistent with the Board’s belief that a significant portion of each of the Named
Executive Officers’ compensation should be tied to their performance. With respect to Dr. Peled, the Board considered Dr.
Peled’s continued strong leadership of the Company in achieving the accomplishments noted above, his strategic planning
for the Company's long-term goals and his position as a leader in the industry, For Mr. Gersh, the Board noted his success
in managing the Company’s financial operations and delivering performance that achieved or exceeded financial objectives,
which was evidenced by the strong financial position of the Company and the operating profit growth results of the
Company for the fiscal year. The Board also considered Mr. Gersh’s effective representation of the Company to investors
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and the financial community. With respect to Mr. Kesten, the Board noted Mr. Kesten’s continued leadership and success
in implementing the Company’s strategic initiatives and executing its operational objectives. In light of these
considerations, the Board determined to award merit-based bonuses for fiscal 2008 in the amount of £850,000
(approximately $1,694,577), £210,000 (approximately $418,660) and NIS 1,600,000 (approximately $474,510), to Dr.
Peled and Messrs. Gersh and Kesten, respectively. Pursuant to the terms of his employment agreement, Dr. Peled is entitled
to receive a minimum annual merit-based bonus of £200,000.

Performance-Based Bonus. The Named Executive Officers have a direct influence on the Company’s operations and
strategy. Consequently, the Board believes that a larger portion of a the Named Executive Officer’s total compensation
should be variable based on the Company’s performance. As an incentive for the Named Executive Officers to strive
continuously for better performance, a portion of the named executive officer’s total compensation is “‘at risk” based upon
the Company’s short-term and long-term performance. The performance-based bonuses awarded to our Named Executive
Officers are designed to foster a performance-driven, pay-for-performance culture that also aligns our Named Executive
Officers’ interests with those of our shareholders.

In determining the performance criteria for performance-based bonuses, the Board uses performance measures that are tied
to objective operation results of the Company because it believes that the performance measures should be based on results
that are within the control of the Named Executive Officers, rather than a share price that is also influenced by external
market forces and that could potentially lead to an undesirable focus on short-term factors outside the Named Executive
Officers’ control. The Board chooses performance-based measures that it believes will provide an incentive for an executive
to drive operating results in the short-term, as well as drive sustainable and profitable growth in order to create long-term
value for our shareholders.

In fiscal 2008, each of the Named Executive Officers participated in a Company-wide grant of conditional awards (the
“Performance-Based Conditional Awards”) under the NDS Group plc 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP™). These
awards were conditioned upon the attainment of particular pre-determined operating income goals for fiscal 2008. Under the
terms of these Performance-Based Conditional Awards, if the Company’s actual fiscal 2008 operating income as compared
to its pre-determined fiscal 2008 target operating income was within a certain performance goal range that was approved by
the Board, the Named Executive Officer was entitled to receive time-vested ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares.
Following the end of the 2008 fiscal year, the Company determined the degree to which the Company’s operating income
goal was obtained. Based on the Company’s actual fiscal 2008 operating income, which fell within the performance goal
range, the Named Executive Officer received a percentage of his annualized base salary in time-vested ADRs representing
Series A Ordinary Shares. The pre-deterrnined fiscal 2008 operating income goals for each of Dr. Peled and Messrs. Gersh
and Kesten are set forth in Footnote 1 to the Grants of Plan-Based Awards Table below. The number of ADRs representing
Series A Ordinary Shares awarded to each Named Executive Officer in satisfaction of a fiscal 2008 Performance-Based
Conditional Award was determined by dividing the value of the award by the average closing price of the ADRs
representing Series A Ordinary Shares on NASDAQ for the 20-day trading period ended on August 5, 2008.

Based on the Company’s actual fiscal 2008 operating income and pursuant to each of their fiscal 2008 Performance-Based
Conditional Awards, Dr. Peled and Messrs. Gersh and Kesten received time-vested ADRs representing 28,584, 11,693 and
12,244 Series A Ordinary Shares, respectively. Twenty-five percent of these ADRs will vest on August 15, 2008, with the
remaining balance vesting in three equal annual installments over the next three years. The fiscal 2008 Performance-Based
Conditional Awards best serve the Company’s compensation objectives because the performance feature focuses on
business priorities by clearly communicating to the Named Executive Officers what the Board believes is most important in
driving business performance and ultimately creating value for our shareholders, while the time-vested ADRs foster share
ownership that encourages a longer-term view of the Company’s performance and promotes retention.

Retirement Benefits

Our pension plans serve as an important executive retention tool. Mr. Gersh participates in the News International Pension
Plan, which is a broad-based, tax-qualified defined contribution plan in which all U.K. employees of NDS are eligible to
participate and Mr. Kesten participates in a broad-based, tax-qualified defined contribution, disability and severance plan in
which all Israeli employees of NDS are eligible to participate,

Dr. Peled participates in the News [nternational Pension & Life Assurance Plan for Senior Executives and the News
International Unapproved Pension & Life Assurance Plan (the “News Pension Plans”). The News Pension Plans provide Dr.
Peled a benefit at retirement that is based on Dr. Peled’s number of years of benefit service from the date of joining the
plans and final pensionable salary. In addition, these plans provide Dr. Peled death-in-service benefits and provide pension
benefits to his surviving spouse. For more information on the News Pension Plans, see the “Pension Plan Benefits” table
below.
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Perquisites

We provide our Named Executive Officers with limited types of perquisites and other personal benefits that the Board feels
are reasonable and consistent with the Company’s overall compensation philosophy. The perquisites constitute a very small
percentage of each of the Named Executive Officer’s total compensation package.

For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, Dr. Peled received a Company-provided automobile and reimbursement for
housing and relocation expenses; Mr. Gersh received a car allowance and financial planning and tax assistance; and Mr.
Kesten received a Company-provided automobile. A further description of the perquisites received by each of the Named
Executive Officers in fiscal 2008, as well as their incremental cost to the Company, is reported in the Summary
Compensation Table and its accompanying footnotes.

Severance Arrangements

The employment agreements of Dr. Peled and Messrs. Gersh and Kesten contain negotiated severance provisions that
provide benefits to each Named Executive Officer upon his separation from the Company, which are more fully described
under “Employment Agreements,” below. In addition, in line with customary practice in Istael, the Company contributes to
a severance fund on behalf of Mr. Kesten. For more information on these severance arrangements, see “Potential Payments
upon Termination,” below. None of the Named Executive Officer’s employment agreements contains provisions relating to
a change in control of the Company.

Our Equity Grant Practices

We use equity awards to recognize performance and to provide a strong retention incentive to certain employees who drive
the development and/or execution of our business strategies. Equity awards also foster share ownership by our employees,
which promotes a focus on long-term growth and further links their interests with those of our shareholders.

Generally, the Board approves and makes awards of equity grants under our equity compensation plans after the grantees’
attainment of certain performance criteria. Occasionally, the Board may approve one-time grants for particular
circumstances, such as upon a hiring, promotion or contract renewal. More generally, awards under the LTIP are primarily
made once a year through a broad-based program. In each fiscal year, the Board approves performance targets and the
range of equity awards payable upon the achievement of those targets. In structuring our equity incentive program and
determining the type and amounts of each grant, we consider the impact the equity awards will have on our operating
results, and we strive to achieve an appropriate balance between the impact on our financial operating results and our
compensation objectives.

The Board currently intends to continue to grant performance-based equity awards under the LTIP to certain of its
executives, including the Named Executive Officers, on an annual basis. Such awards may be discretionary or based on pre-
determined performance goals, including, but not limited to, operating income, gross margin or net income per share.

Board of Director’s Compensation Report

The Board has reviewed the Compensation Discussion and Analysis required by Item 402(b) of Regulation S-K and
discussed it with the Company’s management. Based on the Board’s review and discussions with management, the Board
has authorized the Compensation Discussion and Analysis be included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 and in this proxy statement.

The Board of Directors
David F. DeVoe Lawrence A. Jacobs
Roger W, Einiger Abe Peled
Nathan Gantcher Peter J. Powers
Arthur M. Siskind

Compensation Interlocks and Insider Participation in Board Discussions Regarding Compensation

As a *controlled company,” the Company does not maintain, and did not maintain in fiscal 2008, a compensation committee
that met the NASDAQ independence requirements. Instead, the full Board assumes the responsibilities that would normally
fall into the ambit of a compensation committee or a committee performing a similar function,
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The members of the Board whose names appear above were members during all of fiscal 2008. Dr. Abe Peled, a Named
Executive Officer, is the Company’s Chief Executive Officer in addition to being Chairman of the Board. Although Dr.
Peled is a member of the Board, he did not participate in discussions or voting regarding his own compensation. Other than
Dr. Peled, no member of the Board is or has been a former or current executive officer of the Company or had any
relationships requiring disclosure by the Company under the SEC’s rules requiring disclosure of certain relationships and
related-party transactions. None of the Company’s executive officers served as a director or a member of a compensation
committee (or other committee serving an equivalent function) of any other entity, the named executive officers of which
served as a Director of the Company during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.

Executive Compensation

Summary Compensation Table for the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

The following table sets forth information with respect to total compensation for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and
2007 for the Named Executive Officers who served in such capacity on June 30, 2008.

Change in
Pension Value
and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Name and Principal  Fiscal Stock Option Campensation All other
Position Year Salary Bonus Awards'? Awards® Earnings Compensation Total
Abe Peled?............ 2008 $1,315,789  $1,694,577 $820,428 $578,599  $252,978%  $605,327%  $5,267,698
Director, Chairman 2007 1,324.238 1,504,815 182,908 754,684 113,100 620,231 4,499,976
and Chief
Executive Officer
Alexander Gersh™ .. 2008 538,278 418,660 410,602 791,864 - 76,064 2,235,468
Chief Financial 2007 501,605 381,220 103,925 1,097,902 - 75,217 2,159,869
Officer and
Company
Secretary
Raffi Kesten™......... 2008 637,623 474,510 339,217 148,204 - 173,324® 1,772,878
Chief Operating 2007 466,532 352,850 75,118 228,480 - 101,162 1,224,142
Officer

M The amounts in the Stock Awards column represent the value of stock awards recognized for financial statement

reporting purposes, as computed in accordance with Staternent of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 (Revised
2004), “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”), disregarding estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting
conditions.

@ The amounts in the Option Awards column represent the value recognized for financial statement reporting purposes

for the applicable fiscal year as computed in accordance with SFAS 123R using the Black-Scholes option pricing
model, disregarding estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. For additional information
abut the assumptions used in these calculations, see , see Note 13, “Equity Based Compensation” to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

& Amounts paid to Dr. Peled and Mr. Gersh, with the exception of amounts in the “Share Awards” and “Option
Awards” columns, are denominated in pounds sterling. For purposes of this tabulation, such amounts have been
converted from pounds sterling into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of £0.5016 to $1.00 for fiscal 2008 amounts and
£0.4984 to $1.00 for fiscal 2007 amounts.

@ The values reported with respect to Dr. Peled are theoretical as those amounts are calculated pursuant to SEC

requirements and are based on a retirement assumption of age 55 or current age, if later, and other assumptions used
in preparing the Company’s consolidated financial statements for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2007 and 2008. The
change in pension value from year to year as reported in the Summary Compensation Table is subject to market
volatility and may not represent the value that Dr. Peled will actually accrue under the News Pension Plans during
any given fiscal year. The change in pension present value is attributable to the following:
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Description Amount

Change in assUMPLONS .......cocovvinveverisisisersserieseseesnrarens $(39,998)
Additional one year of pension accrual ....................ee.. 292,976
Total ..ot $252,978

This amount consists of (i) the aggregate incremental costs of Company perquisites provided to Dr. Peled of
$341,384, which includes reimbursement of housing expenses of $204,481, reimbursement of continued relocation
expenses of §79,745, company car expenses of $41,334, a medical examination, meals and spousal business travel
and (ii) the incremental cost to the Company of other compensation of $263,943, which includes life insurance
premiums paid of $262,053.

This amount consists of (i) the aggregate incremental costs of Company perquisites provided to Mr. Gersh of
$23,086, all of which relates to a car allowance, and (ii) the incremental cost to the Company of other compensation
of $52,978, which includes contributions to a defined contribution pension plan of $41,547.

Amounts paid to Mr. Kesten, with the exception of amounts in the “Share Awards” and “Option Awards” columns,
are denominated in Israeli shekels. For purposes of this tabulation, such amounts have been converted from Israeli
shekels into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of NIS 3.3719 to $1.00 for fiscal 2008 amounts and NIS 4.2517 to $1.00
for fiscal 2007 amounts,

This amount consists of (i) the aggregate incremental costs of Company perquisites provided to Mr. Kesten of
$68,709, including pay in lieu of vacation time of $40,171, a car allowance of $28,452 and meals and (ii) the
incremental cost to the Company of other compensation of $104,615, which includes contributions to a severance
plan of $47,189 and contributions to, and paymenis in lieu of contributions to, a defined contribution pension plan of
$38,804.
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Grants of Plan-Based Awards during the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

The following table sets forth information with respect to grants of plan-based awards under the Company’s compensation
plans to the Named Executive Officers during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008:

Estimated Future Payouts under All
Non-Equity Incentive Plan Estimated Future Payouts under other
Awards Equity Incentive Plan Awards Stock All Other

Awards: Option
Number Awards: Exercise

of Number of or Base
Shares Securities  Price of
Grant of Stock Underlying  Option

Date™  Threshold Target Maximum Threshold  Target  Maximum or Units  Options  Awards

Grant
Date
Fair

Value

of

Stock

Option
Awards

r. Peled.... 12/03/2007 - -

$661,058 $1,652,644 $2,478,966 - - -

Ar. Gersh... 12/03/2007 - - - 270,433 676,082 1,014,123 - - -

'r[r.Kesten .. 12/03/2007 - - - 283,178 707,945 1,061,917 - - -

t During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, the Named Executive Officers received a fiscal 2008 Performance-Based
Conditional Award granting the right to receive a number of time-vested ADRs representing Series A Ordinary
Shares based on the Company’s achievement of certain operating income targets. To the extent that the Company’s
actual fiscal 2008 operating income fell within a certain range, the Named Executive Officer received a percentage of
his annualized base salary in time-vested ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares as summarized below:

Threshold Maximum
(87.817% of Target (> 112.183% of
Name Below Threshold Target) Target)
Dr. Peled 0% 50.0% 125.0% 187.5%
Mr. Gersh 0% 50.0% 125.0% 187.5%
Mr. Kesten 0% 50.0% 125.0% 187.5%

Because the number of ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares had not been determined on the grant date of the
fiscal 2008 Performance-Based Conditional Awards, the dollar amounts in the table above reflect the dollar value of
such ADRs. The average annual exchange rates for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 (£0.4992 to $1.00 in the case of
Dr. Peled and Mr. Gersh; NIS 3.7962 to $1.00 in the case of Mr. Kesten) were used to convert the Named Executive
Officers’ salaries to U.S. dollars, as this is the exchange rate to be used in calculating the actual awards. For further
information on the fiscal 2008 Performance-Based Conditional Awards, including the number of ADRs representing
Series A Ordinary Shares each Named Executive Officer received when the awards were determined on August 6,
2008, see “Compensation Discussion and Analysis — Elements of our Named Executive Officers’ Compensation
Packages — Performance-Based Bonus.”

Employment Agreements

Summary of Employment Agreemeni with Abe Peled

On December 1, 1999, the Company entered into an employment agreement with Dr. Abe Peled, pursuant to which Dr.
Peled serves as Chief Executive Officer, a member of the Board and a member of the board of directors of each subsidiary
of the Company as required by the Board. The employment agreement initially provided for a three-year term effective as of
December 1, 1999. Subject to the terms of the employment agreement, on the expiry of the initial term of the employment
agreement, the term was to continue to be extended for successive one-year periods unless either party provides the other
party with at least 12 months' prior written notice of such party’s decision not to extend the term.

Under the terms of the employment agreement, Dr. Peled will receive a base salary of at least £400,000 (approximately
$797,448) per annum. Dr. Peled will also receive a minimum annual bonus of £200,000 (approximately $398,724) during
each year of service rendered under the employment agreement. Any increase in the base salary, or any additional bonuses
to be paid to Dr. Peled, shall be at the sole discretion of the Board. Dr. Peled’s employment agreement also provides that he
is entitled to participate in any profit-sharing, pension, group medical, dental, disability and life insurance and other similar

Page 87




benefit plans in effect at the time the agreement was entered into or subsequently adopted by the Company during the term
of the employment agreement, applicable to senior executives of the Company. Dr. Peled shall be entitled to participate in
any stock option or share purchase scheme presently in effect or subsequently adopted by the Company and applicable to
senior executives of the Company.

Pursuant to the empioyment agreement, the Company also provides Dr. Peled with the use of an automobile in England,
reimbursement of housing expenses and an annual allowance of £40,000 (approximately $79,745) for continued relocation
expenses, to be paid semi-annually. The Company shall reimburse all travel and other expenses properly and reasonably
incurred by Dr. Peled in the discharge of his duties.

Dr. Peled’s employment agreement contains customary confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation, and cooperation
provisions.

Summary of Employment Agreement with Alex Gersh

On November 11, 2004, a subsidiary of the Company, NDS Limited, entered into an employment agreement with Alex
Gersh, pursuant to which Mr. Gersh serves as Chief Financial Officer of the Company for a continnous period effective as
of January 4, 2005 unless terminated pursuant the provisions of the agreement. Mr. Gersh will receive an annual base salary
of at least £220,000 (approximately $438,596). His salary is reviewed annually and is subject to increase at the discretion of
the Company. Mr. Gersh will be eligible for an annual bonus of up to 75% of his annual base salary.

The amount of bonus payable is dependent on his personal performance and attendance, assessed over the previous fiscal
year. Upon commencement of employment, Mr. Gersh received a one-time bonus payment of £85,000 (approximately
$169,458).

Pursuant to the employment agreement, Mr. Gersh was granted stock options to purchase 80,000 Series A Ordinary Shares,
priced at the closing share price on NASDAQ on January 4, 2005. These stock options will vest over four years in equal
annual installments in accordance with the terms and conditions of the NDS 1999 Executive Share Option Scheme and the
NDS U.K. Approved Share Option Scheme, and he is eligible for future grants as they are made.

The Company is required to reimburse Mr. Gersh for reasonable costs for tax advice in connection with the completion of
Mr. Gersh’s U.S. and U.K. tax returns, as well as apply and pay for any of Mr. Gersh’s necessary U.K. visas and work
permits. Subject to the terms of the employment agreement, Mr. Gersh is entitled to a car allowance of £965 {approximately
$1,924) per month. The Company is required to provide Mr. Gersh with a fax machine and mobile phone to be returned
upon the termination of his employment.

Mr. Gersh is eligible to join the News International Pension Plan. This is a defined contribution pension and life assurance
plan contracted out of the State Earnings Related Pension Scheme. Additionally, Mr. Gersh is eligible for family medical
coverage.

Mr. Gersh’s employment agreement contains customary confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation, and cooperation
pravisions.

Summary of Employment Agreement with Raffi Kesten

The terms of Mr. Kesten’s employment are set out in a letter agreement between NDS Technologies Israel Limited, a
subsidiary of the Company, and Mr. Kesten, dated as of October 20, 2002, as amended by a letter agreement between the
Company and Mr. Kesten, dated as of June 22, 2004 (collectively the “Letter Agreements™).

Mr. Kesten's annual salary was increased to $450,000 effective as of July 1, 2006. In October 2006, the Company began
paying all employees based in Israel, including Mr. Kesten, in Israeli shekels instead of U.S. dollars. At that time, his annual
base salary was determined to be NIS 1,983,275 (approximately $466,532 using a June 30, 2007 exchange rate). Mr,
Kesten's salary may be adjusted at any time by the Board. Mr. Kesten may receive bonus payments at the discretion of the
Board. Under the Letter Agreements, Mr. Kesten is entitled to a company car, 26 days paid vacation per year and the
customary social benefits provided in Israel. The notice period for termination, other than for good cause, is specified as one
year. Mr. Kesten is eligible to participate in the Company’s employee stock option plans and to receive discretionary bonus

payments.
The Letter Agreements contain customary confidentiality, non-competition, non-solicitation, and cooperation provisions.
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Outstanding Equity Awards at June 30, 2008

The following table provides information with respect to each of the Named Executive Officer’s outstanding equity awards
at June 30, 2008, which included vested and unexercised stock options, unvested and unexercised stock options and
unvested conditional awards. The stock option exercise prices shown below are rounded with respect to prices prior to fiscal
2000, which extended to four decimal places.

Option Awards Share Awards
Equity
Incentive
Equity Plan

Incentive  Awards:
Plan Market

Equity Awards:  or Payout
Incentive Number Number  Value of
Plan of of Unearned
Awards: Shares Market Unearned  Shares,
Number of Number of Number of or Units Valueof Sharesor  Unitsor
Option/ Securities Securities Securities of Stock  Shares or Other - Other
Share Underlying Underlying Underlying that Units of Rights Rights
Award  Unexercised Unexercised Unexercised Option Option Have Stock that  that Have that Have
Name of Grant Options Options Unearned  Exercise Expiration Not Have not Not Not
Executive Date Exercisable Unexercisable Opticns Price Date Vested Vested Vested Vested
Dr. Peled....  10/04/01 56,000 - - $21.90 10/04/11
11/05/03 60,000 - - $17.12 11/05/13
12/22/04a 37,500 12,500 - $32.96 12/22/14
02/01/06 30,000 30,000 - $43.13 02/01/16
04/30/07 21,049 $1,246,101 - -
12/03/07" 28,584 1,692,173 - -
Mr. Gersh.. 01/04/05 40,425 20,001 - $33.54 01/04/15
02/01/06 40,000 40,000 - $43.13 02/01/16
04/30/07 11,841 700,987 - -
12/03/07 11,693 692,226 - -
Mr.
Kesten........ 11/05/03 2,000 - - $17.12 11/05/13
12/22/04b 5,000 - - $32.96 12/22/14
0201106 10,000 10,000 - $43.13 02/01/16
04/30/07 8,559 506,693 - -
12/03/07" 12,244 724,845 — -

' Represents the number of ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares that had not vested as of June 30, 2008 with

respect to the fiscal 2008 Performance-Based Conditional Awards described in footnote 1 to the Grants of Plan-
Based Awards table above.

Option Awards Vesting Schedule

Grant Date Vesting Schedule
10/04/01 Stock options vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning one year after the date of grant.
11/05/03 Stock options vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning one year after the date of grant.
12/22/04a Stock options vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning one year after the date of grant.
12/22/04b Stock options were originally set to vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning one year after the

date of grant. However, on June 24, 2005, the Remuneration Committee accelerated the vesting
of these stock options and 100% of them vested on that date with respect to all stock option
holders except for directors and executive officers. Mr. Kesten was not an executive officer at
the time and vesting of his stock options was accelerated.
01/04/05 Stock options vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning one year after the date of grant.
02/01/06 Stock options vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning one year after the date of grant.
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Share Awards Vesting Schedule

Grant Date Vesting Schedule
04/30/07 ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning on
August 15, 2007.
12/03/07 ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares vest at a rate of 25% per year, beginning on

August 15, 2008.

Stock Option Exercises and Shares Vested During the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

The following table sets forth information with respect to the exercise of stock options and the vesting of ADRs
representing Series A Ordinary Shares granted pursuant to performance-based conditional awards for each of the Named
Executive Officers during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008:

Option Awards Share Awards
Number of Number of
Shares Acquired  Value Realized  Shares Acquired  Value Realized
Name of Executive on Exercise on Exercise on Vesting on Vesting
Dr. Peled..................... - - 7,016 $345,748
Mr. Gersh......oveeeenene - - 3,947 194,508
Mr. Kesten ....ocoevvvnene. 5,000 $215,150 2,853 140,596

Pension Benefits in the Fiscal Year Ended June 30, 2008

The table below sets forth information on the pension benefits for Dr. Peled, the only Named Executive Officer
participating in a defined-benefit pension plan. The remaining Named Executive Officers participate in defined-contribution
plans, and any contributions paid by the Company during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 are included in the “All Other
Compensation” column of the Summary Compensation Table above.

Under the terms of the News Pension Plans, an eligible employee will receive a benefit at retirement that is based upon (a)
the employee’s number of years of benefit service from the date of joining the plan and (b) final pensionable salary.
Compensation, for benefit purposes, is currently limited to £294,000 (approximately $586,124) per year. This level of
benefit applies to Dr. Peled.

The News Penston Plans consist of two separate plans: the News International Pension & Life Assurance Plan for Senior
Executives and the News International Pension Unapproved Life Assurance Plan. The former plan is a U.K. H.M. Revenue
and Customs approved plan and relates primarily to Dr. Peled’s pension. The latter plan is an unapproved plan for UK. tax
purposes and relates primarily to Dr. Peled’s life assurance plan. Unapproved plans are not subject to H.M. Revenue and
Customs requirements as to their size or how they are structured, but do not offer all of the tax advantages offered by
approved plans.
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Service before April 1, 2000 accrued at a rate of one-sixtieth of his compensation salary for each year and month of service.
Service after April 1, 2000 accrues at a rate of one-forty-fifth of his compensation salary for each year and month of service.

Payments
Number Present During
of Years Value of Last
Credited Accumulated Fiscal
Name of Executive Plan Name Service”  Benefit? Year
Dr. Peled......ccccovveeenn News International Pension & Life
Assurance Plan for Senior Executives 11.5 $1,436,742 -_
News International Pension Unapproved
Life Assurance Plan 11.5 1,317,337 -

) Number of years credited service equal to Dr. Peled’s actual years of service with the Company. The number of years

of credit service was computed as of the same pension plan measurement date used for financial statement reporting
purposes with respect to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008.
The Company does not have any policies with respect to granting extra years of credit service under the News
Pension Plans.

@ The amounts reported in this column equal the present value of the accumulated benefit pursuant to each plan as of

June 30, 2008, assuming a discount rate of 3.75% per annum, inflation at a rate of 6.0% per annum and using the
PA92 base mortality table with a calendar year projection to 2015. The present value of the accumulated benefit
pursuant to each plan was computed as of the same pension plan measurement date used for financial statement
reporting purposes with respect to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June
30, 2008. Amounts were converted from pounds sterling at the June 30, 2008 exchange rate, which was $£0.5016 to
$1.00.

Potential Payments upon Termination

As discussed under “Employment Agreements” above, the employment agreements of each of Dr. Peled and Messrs. Gersh
and Kesten provide for certain payments and benefits upon the respective Named Executive Officer’s separation from the
Company. These provisions are summarized below:

Dr. Peled

Should Dr. Peled become incapacitated or disabled, as defined in the employment agreement, the Company shall continue
to pay his full base salary and to provide the benefits or payments on account of the benefits, less the amount of any
proceeds from disability policies paid for by the Company, until he returns to his duties or his appointment is terminated.

Should Dr. Peled be terminated for cause, the Company shall pay his full base salary and provide the benefits or payments
for benefits up to the date of termination, subject to the Company’s right to offset amounts owed to it by Dr. Peled.

If Dr. Peled is terminated for reasons other than mental illness or death, or if he terminates the employment agreement as a
result of the Company’s breach, he shall become entitled to a lump sum severance payment equal to his annual base salary
as of the date of termination. The aforementioned payments shall discharge the Company’s financial obligations to Dr.
Peled.

On the termination of Dr. Peled’s employment with the Company for any reason, whether lawfully or otherwise, Dr. Peled
shall immediately resign from any and all positions he holds in the Company’s subsidiaries. If he does not resign from such
positions, the Board may appoint someone to act on his behalf.

Mr. Gersh

Termination of employment by Mr. Gersh or the Company is subject to 12 months’ notice, except for material breach or
similar just cause. If Mr. Gersh is terminated by the Company without cause, he will remain entitled to receive his full
salary for a period of 18 months following notice of termination. The Company may choose to maintain contractual benefits
to which Mr. Gersh would have been entitled for the notification peried or the Company may make a payment to Mr. Gersh
in lieu of such benefits. The Company may terminate Mr. Gersh for cause without a notification period and without making
a payment to Mr. Gersh in lieu of notification. Upon termination for whatever reason, Mr. Gersh shall resign all
directorships and offices in the Company and any of its subsidiaries.
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Mr. Kesten

Upon termination, Mr. Kesten will receive one month’s salary for every year of his emptoyment by NDS Technologies
Israel Limited, under severance arrangements that are customary in Israel. In addition, pursuant to the Letter Agreements,
he will be entitled to receive his full salary for a period of 12 months following notice of termination.

Quantification of Payments

The table below sets forth quantitative information with respect to potential payments to be made to each of the Named
Executive Officers or their beneficiaries upon termination in various circumstances as described above, assuming
termination on June 30, 2008. The amounts included in the table below do not include amounts otherwise due and owing to
each applicable Named Executive Officer, such salary earned to date, or payments or benefits generally available to all
salaried employees of the Company.

The amounts presented in the below table with respect to Dr. Peled are in addition to Dr. Peled’s vested pension benefits as
of June 30, 2008 noted in the Pension Benefits Table above.

Termination
without Cause Death
Dr. Peted:"
Salary entitlement............ccoevvrieeveerirereseenerersserees s sesssnssasens $1,315,789 —
2 |
News Pension PIANS «.....cocveeeeeeee e seeeeeeeeeeseeesneeesesensassens — $5,263,156%
Mr. Gersh:"
Salary entitlement.........cooireerirniniiicr e s $807.417 p
News International Pension Plan. ..........cooeeoueeoveoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeene - $2,153,112%
Mr. Kesten:*
Salary entitlement. ... ....ccvvvrimverreririnvsersisirinssrrssessesesesassens $637.623 -
Severance fund.............cooviiveeeeeeeerv e et 640,167 $640,167
Managers’ Insurance Fund..............cciiivnininnnnienn - 1,524,844
Total for Mr. KESEN ..o eteseeseseseseesensesanae $1,277,790 $2,165,011

“’ Amounts payable have been converted from pounds sterling into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of £0.5016 to $1.00.

@ In addition to the life insurance benefits payable, Dr. Peled’s spouse is entitled to a pension of £200,000

(approximately $398,724) per annum.

3 In addition to the life insurance benefits payable, Mr. Gersh’s spouse is entitled to a pension of one-third his

annualized base salary per year.

@ Amounts payable have been converted from Israeli shekels into U.S. dollars at an exchange rate of NIS 3.3719 to

$1.00.

In the event of a voluntary termination or termination with cause, each of Dr. Peled and Messrs. Gersh and Kesten would be
eligible to receive their normal retirement pensions. In addition, Mr. Kesten would receive the proceeds of his severance
fund described in the table above.

Non-Executive Director Compensation

Directors’ fees are not paid to Directors who are executives or employees of the Company (the “Executive Directors™)
because the responsibilities of Board membership are considered in determining compensation paid as part of the
executives’ normal employment conditions.

In addition, as appointees to the Board by News Corporation, Messrs. DeVoe, Jacobs and Siskind receive no compensation
for their services as Directors of the Company.
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The basic fees payable to the Directors who are not executives of the Company (i.e., Messrs. Einiger, Gantcher and Powers
(the “Non-Executive Directors™)), were determined by the Board. In determining Non-Executive Director compensation, the
Board reviewed data provided by the Company’s independent compensation consultant concerning compensation paid to
directors by the Company’s peer group of companies, considered the appropriateness of the form and amount of Non-
Executive Director compensation and considered Director compensation with a view toward attracting and retaining
qualified Non-Executive Directors. The Board believes that compensation for Non-Executive Directors should be
competitive and fairly pay such Directors for work required for a company of NDS’s size and complexity. In addition, the
Board believes that Non-Executive Director compensation should include equity-based compensation in addition to cash
compensation in order to align those Directors’ interests with the long-term interests of shareholders.

Directors are not compensated per meeting attended. The annual retainers for the Non-Executive Directors’ service on the
Board and its committees during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 was as follows:

Description Amount
ARNUAD CaSh REAINET ......coovieitivcereeeitiereree i seessasss et sasssesstesesemsacasesessnss st stsbsasssnsasas $77,500
Audit Committee Chair Annual Retainer ..........ccveeiviinimninniniesssnisiessesesrsessssssssessnes 11,000
Audit Committee Member Annual RELAINET ...........oovvveivviiinesssesireerescsssssnsesssssvenaes 15,000

Pursuant to the Company's Articles of Association, the aggregate amount that the Company may expend for compensation
of Non-Executive Directors cannot exceed $1,000,000 per annum.
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The table below shows the total compensation earned during the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 by the Company to each
Non-Executive Director:

Change in
Pension Value
and Non-
Fees Qualified
Earned Non-Equity Deferred
Name of or Paid Stock Option  Incentive Plan Compensation All Other
Director in Cash Awards” Awards® Compensation Earnings  Compensation  Total
Roger W. Einiger.. $92,500  $71,406  $48915 - - — $212,821
Nathan Gantcher... 92,500 71,406 48,915 - - — 212,821
Peter J. Powers...... 103,500 71,406 50,240 - - — 225,146

1)

2

The amounts in the Stock Awards column represent the value of stock awards recognized for financial statement
reporting purposes, as computed in accordance with SFAS 123R for fizxed conditional awards granted under the NDS
Group ple 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, disregarding estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting
conditions. On December 3, 2007, each of Messrs. Einiger, Gantcher and Powers were granted a time-vested fixed
conditional award over 2,500 ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares, which vest in four equal installments on
August 15, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 201 1. In accordance with this vesting schedule, each of Messrs. Einiger, Gantcher
and Powers received 625 ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares in respect of their respective fixed conditional
awards on August 15, 2008. In addition, on August 15, 2008, each of Messrs. Einiger, Gantcher and Powers received
an additional 625 ADRs representing Series A Ordinary Shares in respect of fixed conditional awards granted during
the fiscal year ended June 30, 2007, which vest in four equal installments beginning August 15, 2007.

No stock options were granted in fiscal 2008. The amounts in the Option Awards column reflect the value recognized
for financial statement reporting purposes as computed in accordance with FAS 123R using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, disregarding estimates of forfeitures related to service-based vesting conditions. For additional
information about the assumptions used in these calculations, see Note 13, “Equity Based Compensation” to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, included in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K. As of June 30, 2008, the following stock options were outstanding for each of the Directors
listed above:

Stock Options Stock Options Stock Options

Name of Director Qutstanding Exercisable Unexercisable
Mr. Biniger.....oococoeirecenrsraeenes 10,000 6,250 3,750
Mr. Gantcher.......coceeeinvennen 10,000 6,250 3,750
Mr. POWETS ..coviveiniierecriisinen 8,750 5,000 3,750

All Directors of the Company are reimbursed for their reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with
attendance at meetings of, and other activities relating to service on, the Board and any committee of the Board.
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ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required by this item with respect to securities authorized for issuance under the equity compensation plans
is contained in Item 5 to this Annual Report on Form 10-K under the heading “Equity Compensation Plan Information™ and
is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Security Ownership of the Company

The following table sets out the beneficial ownership of both Series A Ordinary Shares and Series B Ordinary Shares as of
August 6, 2008 for the following: (i} each person who is known by the Company to own beneficially more than 5% of the
outstanding ordinary shares; (ii) each member of the Board of Directors; (iii) each executive officer; and (iv) all directors
and executive officers of the Company as a group, None of the shares reported in this table for directors and executive
officers has been pledged as security for any obligation,

Number of Shares
Beneficially Owned” Percent of Class" Option/LTIP

Name Series A Series B Series A Series B Shares®
News Corporation™ ..........cooueeeeerveoisinsiiosieroens — 42,001,000 - 100% —
Janus Capital Management LLC™.............cccce...... 1,775,180 - 10.9% - -
AKO Capital LLP¥ ... oo 1,560,671 - 9.6% - —
Egerton Capltal Limited Parmershlp(6) e 1,456,708 - 9.0% - - \
FMR Corp - s 1,494 834 - 9.2% - -
Renaissance Technologxes Corp ........................ 1,280,949 - 7.9% - -
Morgan Stanley™............ccccomvminevecieiniiien. 1,024,115 - 6.3% — —
David F. DeVoe ...t cteveiss s -_ - - - —
Roger W.EIRIZer......coovvvevniivicriecrnreresecreccninne 9,625 - * — 7,500
Nathan GaniCher ......ccvveerieirin e e eessnsesens 625 - * - 7,500
Alexander Gersh.....ococoveveeviceiivcreeer e 2,329 - * - 87,295
Lawrence A. JACODS ...cccvvvisieereenie s rencnrrevsesien s - - - - -
Raffi Kesten .......covvveeeeii v snenee 2,853 - * - 22914
Abe Peled........cocoovirr e 4,140 - 1.2% - 197,662
Peter J. POWErS. oot 625 - * - 6,250
Arthur M, SisKind .....ccooovviimeeeieceeeceeer e - - - - -
All current directors and executive officers as a

group (9 members) ........c.covieinncieieeeee e, 20,197 - 2.1% - 329,121
* Represents beneficial ownership of less than one percent of the issued and outstanding Series A Ordinary Shares on

August 6, 2008.

v Applicable percentage of ownership is based on 16,263,570 Series A Ordinary Shares and 42,001,000 Series B
Ordinary Shares outstanding as of August 6, 2008. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with SEC rules.
In computing the number of ordinary shares beneficially owned by a person and the percentage ownership of that
person, ordinary shares subject to stock options held by that persen that are currently exercisable or that become
exercisable within 60 days following August 6, 2008 and shares scheduled to vest on August 15, 2008 under the NDS
2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan are deemed outstanding for that particular person. However, such ordinary shares are
not deemed outstanding for purposes of computing the percentage ownership of any other person. Unless otherwise
indicated, the shareholder(s) named in this table has sole voting and dispositive power with respect to the ordinary
shares shown as beneficially owned by such shareholder. The address for all Directors and executive officers of the
Company is c/fo NDS Group plc, One Heathrow Boulevard, 286 Bath Road, West Drayton, Middlesex, UB7 0DQ,
England.

@ The number of option/L.TIP shares reported reflects (i) the number of Series A Ordinary Shares subject to stock
options currently exercisable or that become exercisable within 60 days following August 6, 2008 and (ii) the number
of shares scheduled to vest on August 15, 2008 under the NDS 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan.

®  According to a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on November 12, 2004, 42,001,000 Series B Ordinary Shares are
owned of record by News UK Nominees Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of News Corporation. Accordingly,
News Corporation may be deemed to be the indirect beneficiat owner of such Series B Ordinary Shares. The
principal executive office of News UK Nominees Limited is One Virginia Street, London E98 1XY, United
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Kingdom. News Corporation filed jointly with News UK Nominees Limited the Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC
on November 12, 2004,

According to a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008, 1,775,180 Series A Ordinary Shares are
owned by Janus Capital Management LLC, 965,304 shares of which are beneficially owned by Janus Overseas Fund.
The principal executive office of each of the reporting persons is 151 Detroit Street, Denver, Colorado 80206.

According to a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on July 9, 2008, 1,560,571 Series A Ordinary Shares are owned by
AKO Capital LLP, AKO Master Fund Limited and Nicolai Tangen, each of whom may be deemed to be the
beneficial owner of 1,560,571 Series A Ordinary Shares. The principal executive office of AKO Capital LLP and
Nicolai Tangen is 61 Conduit Street, London, W1S 2GB, United Kingdom. The principal executive office of AKO
Master Fund Limited is P.Q. Box 309, George Town, Cayman Islands.

According to a Schedule 13D filed with the SEC on July 16, 2008, 1,456,708 Series A Ordinary Shares are owned by
Egerton Capital Limited Partnership, Egerton Capital Limited and John Armitage, each of whom may be deemed to
be the beneficial owner of the 1,456,708 Series A Ordinary Shares. The principal executive office of the reporting
persons is 2 George Yard, Lombard Street, London, EC3V 9DH, United Kingdom.

According to a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008, 1,494,834 Series A Ordinary Shares are
owned by FMR Corp., of which FMR Corp. has sole power to vote or to direct the vote of 1,109,734 Series A
Ordinary Shares. The principal executive office of FMR Corp. is 82 Devonshire Street, Boston, Massachusetts,
02109.

According to a Schedule 13G/A filed with the SEC on February 13, 2008, 1,280,949 Series A Ordinary Shares are
owned by Renaissance Technologies Corp. and James H. Simons, each of whom may be deemed to be the beneficial
owner of the 1,280,949 Series A Ordinary Shares. The principal executive office of the reporting persons is 800
Third Avenue, New York, New York 10022.

According to a Schedule 13G filed with the SEC on February 14, 2008, 1,024,115 Series A Ordinary Shares are
owned by Morgan Stanley, 1,021,315 of which are beneficially owned by Morgan Stanley & Co. Incorporated The
principal executive office of the reporting persons is 1585 Broadway, New York, New York 10036.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR

INDEPENDENCE

The information required by this item with respect to director independence is contained in Item 10 of this Annual Report
on Form 10-K under the heading “Corporate Governance — Other Corporate Governance Matters — Board Independence”
and is incorporated by reference in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Certain Relationships and Related-Party Transactions

Relationship with News Corporation

Because News Corporation, through its subsidiary News UK Nominees Limited, beneficially owns 100% of the Series B
Ordinary Shares, which have ten votes per share (as opposed to the Series A Ordinary Shares which have one vote per
share), News Corporation controls approximately 96% of the Company’s voting power. By reason of such ownership, News
Corporation is able to control the composition of the Company’s Board and to control the votes on all other matters
submitted to a vote of the Company’s shareholders.

Three of the Company’s seven current Directors are Directors or executive officers of News Corporation. In addition, Dr.
Peled, the Company’s Chairman and Chief Executive Officer, advises News Corporation’s management from time to time
in matters pertaining to News Corporation’s wider business interests, for which Dr. Peled does not receive any additional

compensation.

The Company conducts business transactions with News Corporation and its subsidiaries and affiliates. Agreements
covering arrangements between News Corporation and its subsidiaries or affiliates and the Company are entered into in the
context of two entities over which a third entity exercises significant influence or control. There can be no assurance,
therefore, that each of the agreements, or the transactions provided for therein or any amendments thereto, will be effected
on terms at least as favorable to the Company as could have been obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

The business transactions described above are of three main types: the provision by the Company of technology and
services for digital pay television systems; the payment by the Company of royalties for the use of certain intellectual
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property rights; and the receipt by the Company of administrative services. Information about such related-party
transactions is given in Note 11 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Review and Approval of Related-Party Transactions

Our Audit Committee has not adopted any written policies or procedures governing the review, approval or ratification of
related-party transactions. As a matter of practice, however, our Audit Committee reviews, approves or ratifies transactions
with related parties when required by applicable law, regulation or NASDAQ rule or when the Audit Committee considers it
appropriate. When conducting a review of a potential related-party transaction, the Audit Committee’s practice is to
evaluate whether a related party (including a director, executive officer, employee, or other significant shareholder) will
have a direct or indirect interest in a transaction in which the Company may be a party. Where the Audit Committee
determines that such proposed transaction involves a related party, the Audit Committee reviews any and all information it
deems necessary and appropriate to evaluate the fairness of the transaction to the Company and its shareholders (other than
the interested related party to such transaction}, and may consider, among other things, the following factors: the related
party’s relationship to the Company and direct or indirect interest in the transaction, both objective (for example, the dollar
amount of the related party’s interest) and subjective (for example, any personal benefit not capable of quantification);
whether the interested transaction is on terms no less favorable than terms generally available to an unaffiliated third-party
under the same or similar circumstances; if applicable, the availability of other sources of comparable products or services;
the benefits to the Company of the proposed interested transaction; and the impact on a director’s independence in the event
the related party is a director, an immediate family member of a director or a member of a director’s houschold or an entity
in which a director is a partner, member, shareholder or officer.

During the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, all of the transactions required to be reviewed, approved or ratified pursuant to
applicable law, regulation or NASDAQ rule were reviewed, approved or ratified pursuant to the Audit Committee’s
procedures described above.

Director Independence

The Board undertook its annual review of Director independence during the first quarter of fiscal year 2009. During this
review, the Board considered transactions and relationships between each Director or any member of his immediate family
and the Company and its subsidiaries and affiliates. The Board also examined transactions and relationships between each
of the Directors or their affiliates and members of the Company’s senior management or their affiliates. The purpose of this
review was to determine whether any such relationships or transactions were inconsistent with a determination that each
such Director is independent of the Company.

As a result of this review, the Board determined that Messrs. Einiger, Gantcher and Powers are independent of the Company
and its management under the NASDAQ listing standards.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES
Audit Committee Pre-approval Policies and Procedures

The Audit Committee has established policies and procedures under which all audit and non-audit services performed by the
Company’s independent registered public accounting firm must be approved in advance by the Audit Committee. The Audit
Committee’s policy provides for pre-approval of audit, audit-related and certain other services specifically described by the
Audit Committee on an annual basis. In addition, individual engagements anticipated to exceed pre-established thresholds,
as well as certain other services, must be separately approved. The policy also requires specific approval by the Audit
Committee if total remuneration for tax services would exceed total remuneration for audit and audit-related services in any
given fiscal year. The policy also provides that the Audit Committee can delegate pre-approval authority to any member of
the Audit Committee provided that the decision to pre-approve is communicated to the full Audit Committee at its next
meeting. The Audit Committee has delegated this responsibility to the Chairman of the Audit Committee. Management has
also implemented internal procedures to ensure compliance with this policy. The Audit Committee's Charter provides for
the approval of the remuneration of the auditors, As required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, all audit and non-audit services
provided in the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 were pre-approved by the Audit Committee in accordance with
these policies and procedures. The Audit Committee also reviewed the non-audit services provided by E&Y during the
fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and 2007, and determined that the provision of such non-audit services was compatible
with maintaining the auditor’s independence.
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Remuneration Paid to Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Audit Committee is responsible for the selection, compensation, retention and oversight of the work of the independent
registered public accounting firm. Accordingly, the Audit Committee has setected E&Y to perform audit and other
permissible non-audit services for the Company and its subsidiaries. The Company has formal procedures in place for the
pre-approval by the Audit Committee of all services provided by E&Y. These pre-approval procedures are described below
under “Audit Committee Pre-approval Policies and Procedures.”

The description of the fees for professional services rendered to the Company and its subsidiaries by E&Y for the fiscal
years ended June 30, 2008 and 2007 are set forth below.

For the Fiscal Year Ended June 30,

(in thousands) 2008 2007

AUGIEFEES Mo re et eser e e e teee s eseseseasase s e e s eseseneansesemsasemeasenesosnens $1,198 $1,203
AUGI-TELALEA TEES @ ... tee st seress e te st eanes s e atss s snsetotee 55 45
TAX EES ..ottt st s Rt R R s 45 39
AL OhEer fEES . .oiiiiiiiiiiiiiii s s e s s ar s es s sreesss s sresse s s e nersassbatensasaterresass — —
TOUAL FEES ....eceerevecersrreeseeessseesesmsesseesssesesseeress s s ssess s ssare e sesessssasarasssrsnsansseran $ 1,298 $ 1,287

M Audit fees include: fees rendered in connection with the annual audit of the Company’s consolidated financial

statements as of and for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and June 30, 2007, the audit of the Company’s annual
management assessment of the effectiveness of intemal contrel over financial reporting as of June 30, 2008 and

June 30, 2007 (as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes Oxley Act of 2002, as amended (the “Sarbanes-Oxley
Act”™)); statutory audits required internationally; reviews of the Company’s unaudited condensed consolidated interim
financial statements included in the Company’s statutory and regulatory filings; and other services normally provided
by the independent registered public accounting firm in connection with statutory and regulatory filings.

@ Audit-related fees for the fiscal years ended June 30, 2008 and June 30, 2007 include employee benefit plan audits,

accounting consultations and other services related to the performance of the audit or review of the Company’s
consolidated financial statements.

& Tax fees include fees for tax compliance for domestic and international operating units,
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The following documents are filed as part of this report:

1.

The Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements required to be filed as part of this Annual Report and the Reperts of
Independent Registered Public Accounting Firms are included in Part II, Item 8: “Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

All financial statement schedules are omitted because the required information is not applicable, or because the
information called for is included in the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Exhibits — The exhibits listed on the accompanying Exhibit Index filed or incorporated by references as part of this
Annual Report and such Exhibit Index is incorporated herein by reference. On the Exhibit Index, a “*” identifies each
management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this Annual Report, and
such listing is incorporated herein by reference.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

NDS Group plc
(Registrant)

By: {s/ Alexander Gersh
Alexander Gersh
Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary
(Principal Financial and Accounting
Officer)

August 8, 2008

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act 1934, this report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ Abraham Peled Chairman and Chief Executive Officer August 8. 2008
Abraham Peled (Principal Executive Officer) £ i

/s! David F. DeVoe

David F. DeVoe Director August 8, 2008
Roger W{Séi}:i);:: W Elniger Director August 8, 2008
Nathan éﬁiﬁﬁﬂ}“ Cantcher Director _ August 8, 2008
Lamencésgl.d?:::;: =A. Jacobs Director August 8, 2008
Peter J. ];'szf:;:‘vl’ 1. Powers Director August 8, 2008

fs/ Arthur M. Siskind Director August 8, 2008

Arthur M. Siskind
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Exhibit

3

4.1

42

4.3

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

Index to Exhibits

Description

Memorandum and Articles of Association

Specimen Series A Ordinary Share certificate

Form of American Depositary Receipt

Deposit Agreement

Master Intercompany Agreement

Agreement between the Company and Abraham
Peled, dated December 1, 1999*

Agreement between NDS Limited and Alexander
Gersh, dated November 11, 2004*

Letter Agreement dated October 20, 2002 between
Raffi Kesten and NDS Technologies Israel Limited*

Letter Agreement dated June 22, 2004 between Raffi
Kesten and NDS Group plc*

Non-Executive Director Compensation Summary
Sheet*
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Location

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3 to the
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by NDS Group
plc with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 7, 2005

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed by NDS
Group plc with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (File No. 333-11086) on November 19,
1999

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed by NDS
Group plc with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (File No. 333-11086) on November 19,
1999

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed by NDS
Group plc with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (File No. 333-11086) on November 19,
1999

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registration Statement on Form F-1 filed by NDS
Group plc with the Securities and Exchange
Commission (File No. 333-11086) on November 19,
1999

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Annual
Report on Form 20-F filed by NDS Group plc with
the Securities and Exchange Commission (File No.
333- 11086) on October 22, 2004

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10 to the Current
Report on Form 8-K filed by NDS Group plc with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on January 5,
2005

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by NDS Group plc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 10, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by NDS Group plc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
April 10, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the
Annual Report on Form 10-K filed by NDS Group plc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
August 29, 2007.




Exhibit

10.7

10.8

10.9

12
21
23

311

31.2

321

Description

NDS 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan*

Form of Performance-Based Conditional Award
Agreement*

Form of Fixed Conditional Award Agreement*

Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
Subsidiaries
Consent of Emst & Young LLP

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer pursuant
to SEC Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a), as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer pursuant
to SEC Rule 13a-14(a) / 15d-14(a}, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer pursuant to U.S.C Section 1350, as
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002

Location
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by NDS Group plc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
November 1, 2006.
Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by NDS Group plc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 4, 2007.

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the
Current Report on Form 8-K filed by NDS Group plc
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
May 4, 2007.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Filed herewith.

Furnished herewith.

* Management contract or compensatory plan required to be filed as an exhibit to the Annual Report on Form 10-K
pursuant to Item 15(b).
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EXHIBIT 12

RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES

(in thousands, except ratio)

For the fiscal years ended June 30,

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004
Consolidated pre-tax income from
continuing operations...........cc...... $219,989 $ 185,652 $ 146,175 $ 101,351 $ 55,273
Interest portion of rental expense..... 7,552 6,167 5,373 5,089 4,375
Minority interest ......oovvccrnveisrnesenns = — — - 843
Eamings ..ccoovrvevvcemnsmmmnssnssnnsisnns $227,541 $ 191,819 $ 151,548 $ 106,440 $ 60,491
Fixed charges, being interest portion
of rental EXPense .............cccceeevucens $7,552 $6,167 $5,373 $ 5,089 $4,375
Ratio of earnings to fixed charges.... 30.1 311 28.2 20.9 13.8




EXHIBIT 21
SUBSIDIARIES

Listed below are the subsidiaries of NDS Group plc, all of which do business under their legal name and are wholly owned,
direcdy or indirectly, by NDS Group plc:

Legal Name Jurisdiction of Incorporation

NDS Limited... Ve et s st ne e as b nesenen e e e sc st sasseesteneaneeen e (OTEAE Britain
News Datacom Llrmled e st eeee e nenennes | TEAE Britain
NDS Technologies Israel Lumted dtrermere e e ssst st seesee s resenssrsreneess 1STAE]

NDS Americas, Inc... ettt et st s bt ems et e sre et e e et eanatatasansrnsneseasenenrrresserere LEIAWATE
NDS Asia Pacific Limited ............................................................................................. Hong Kong
Orbis Technology Limited........co.oicicimrininiceseeriririses e eesens e e s s Great Britain
NT Media LIMited ......oiveeiiiiniiiiieiees st ssssssissssss s s sese e s ssssnasasmssssasas s Great Britain
Digi-Media Vision LIMited...........cccoveiiiinennricere ettt ie s s Great Britain
NDS Finance Limited .. et r s s e e saesta e ssensesessmeemnenne OTEAT Britain
NDS Asia Pacific Pty L1m1ted ceteteseeeteennrterr e rresaen e sasssastssiassnsnsesseenerneerereeees | aUStTALIR
NDS Marketing Israel L1m1ted ..................................................................................... Isracl

NDS Beijing Information Technology Company..........ccoviicineincecennnsrnressnsesees China

NDS Denmark Holdings ASS ..o e rrrnsveininessses et e e s eeesee s nrssssssness Denmark
NDS Denmark APS.....oo ittt s es o e sescs e s s asssscais Denmark
NDS Technologies FTANCE SAS ... e France

NDS Services Pay—TV Technology Private Limited..........cccomiiiinaninicrrnninresscian India

NDS Holdings BV .. e PO F U PV OROOPOPPPOPOPRTR (<14 T3y F: 1 s £
NDS Sweden AB .. OO PR PTRUPPTUTVUPPRRU.. 1" s |-
Jungo Limited ......ocoveeeeiiiee it e as s esennes 1STAE]

JUngo SORWATE, INC. cuiiiiiiiiiii e e e sttt e s e e e ema e en e sar e e e sastan Delaware
CastUp, INC. ...t reres st e emare b Delaware
CastUp Israel Limited......cccoiiiiiinmnninecniirnneresesisisssesisisissersssessesesssssssessesssnsnssess 15T€1

NDS GMDBH ... seesecreresseaesnsssensssssnessemsnssssssssssnssnnesss (GEIANY
SVPLA LLC ... nnesesccsssissse et it seme s ressasenerssnssssessnninssssssasassesereenes LIGIAWAIE
INDS AMeETisub, LLC ..ottt veves e stsesesseb i ests b te s aem e sesmseeererresnenesatssnss Delaware

Page E-2




EXHIBIT 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-138396) pertaining to the
NDS 2006 Long-Term Incentive Plan, the NDS UK Approved Share Option Scheme and the NDS Group plc Sharesave
Scheme of our reports dated August 8, 2008, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of NDS Group ple and the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of NDS Group ple, included in the Annual Report (Form 10-K) for
the year ended June 30, 2008,

Ernst & Young LLP

London, England
August 8, 2008

Page B-3



EXHIBIT 31.1
CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER CERTIFICATION

Required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
I, Abraham Peled, Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of NDS Group plc (“NDS” or the “Company™), certify that:

(1) Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NDS;

(2)  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

(3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as
of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

(4)  The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and t5d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a)

(b}

©

(d)

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this annual report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this annual report any change in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the Company’s fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting; and

(5)  The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm and the Audit
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors:

(a)

(b)

August 8, 2008

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

By: /s/ Abraham Peled
Abraham Peled
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.2
CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER CERTIFICATION
Required by Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
I, Alexander Gersh, Chief Financial Officer of NDS Group plc (“NDS” or the “Company”), certify that:
(1) I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of NDS;

(2)  Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were
made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

(3)  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this annual report,
fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the Company as
of, and for, the periods presented in this annual report;

(4)  The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls
and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the Company and have:

(a)  Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to
be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the Company, including
its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability
of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles;

(¢c)  Evaluated the effectiveness of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this
annual report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the
end of the period covered by this annual report based on such evaluation; and

(d)  Disclosed in this annual report any change in the Company's internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the Company's fourth quarter of the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial
reporting; and

(5)  The Company’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal
control over financial reporting, to the Company’s independent registered public accounting firm and the Audit
Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors:

(a)  All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the Company’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

August 8, 2008

By: /sf Alexander Gersh
Alexander Gersh
Chief Financial Officer

Page E-5




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C, SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF
THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of NDS Group plc on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report™), we, the undersigned officers of NDS
Group plc, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that, to the
best of our knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15{d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of NDS Group plc.

/s/ Abraham Peled
Abraham Peled
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

August 8, 2008

fsi Alexander Gersh
Alexander Gersh
Chief Financial Officer
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Stock Performance Graph

The following graph compares our total return to shareholders of a $100 investment for the five-year period
from June 30, 2003 through June 30, 2008 with a similar investment in the NASDAQ Composite Index and
the market-value weighted returns of a peer group index consisting of four companies that represent our
competitors in the industry:

CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN
Based upon an inltlal Investment of $100 on June 30, 20603
with dividends reinvested
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) The Custom Composite Index consists of Scientific-Atlanta Inc. (through the fourth quarter of
2005), TiVo, Inc., Gemstar-TV Guide International, Inc. (through the first quarter of 2008) and Open
TV Corp.
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NDS Group plc Notice of Annual General Meeting of Shareholders

A separate Notice of Meeting and Proxy Statement for NDS Group pi¢'s 2008 Annual General Meeting of Shareholders accompanies this Annual Report,

Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-looking Statements

This document cantains certain “forward-looking statements™” within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. These
statements are based on management’s views and assumptions regarding future events and business performance as of the time the statements are
made. Actual results may differ materially from these expectations due to changes in global economic, business, competitive market and requlatory
factors. More detailed information about these and other factors that could affect future results is contained in our filings with the US Securities
and Exchange Commission. The “forward-looking statements™ included in this document are made only as of the date of this document and we do not
undertake any obligation to update any "forward-looking statements” to reflect subsequent events or circumstances.

Annual Report on Form 10-K

The Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2008 was filed with the SEC on August 8, 2008. It can also be found on
the Company’s website, www.nds.com, and downloaded free of charge. Paper copies of the Annual Report on Form 10-K may be obtained without charge
from the Company, and paper copies of the exhibits to the Annual Report on Form 10-K are available, but a reasonable fee per page may be charged to
the requesting shareholder. Shareheolders may make requests for paper ¢opies in writing to the Company Secretary by mail at One Heathrow Boulevard,
286 Bath Road, West Drayton, Middlesex, UB7 0DQ, United Kingdom, by telephone at +44 (0} 20 8476 8000 or by email at investor-relations®nds.com.




NDS Headquarters

One Heathrow Boulevard

286 Bath Road

West Drayton, Middlesex UB7 0DQ
United Kingdom

Tel: +44 (0) 20 8476 8000
Fax: +44 (0) 20 8476 8100
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